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. Act 312 & 2012 PA 436

a. City of Detroit-and-Police Officers Association of Michigan (Emergency
Medical Technician Unit), Detroit Police Command Officers Association, and
Detroit Police Lieutenants and Sergeants Association, Case Nos. D09 F-0703,
D11 J-1169, & D13 A-0005, issued June 14, 2013

Topics: Act 312; Commission Jurisdiction; Duty to Bargain; 2012 PA 436; Mandatory Subjects of
Bargaining

Employer’s Motion to Dismiss Pending Act 312 Arbitrations Granted; Commission has Power to
Determine Who is Covered by Act 312 and to Determine Impact of Act 436 on Act 312 Arbitrator’s
Authority in Pending Arbitration; Commission has no Jurisdiction to Resolve Constitutionality of
Leqgislative Enactments; Act 436 was not Intended to Impose the Restrictions of Act 312 on an
Emergency Manager; Act 436 Suspended the Duty of an Employer in Receivership to Bargain; Act
312 Arbitration is Dependent upon the Duty to Bargain; Employer in Receivership Under Act 436
Therefore has no Obligation to Participate in Act 312 Arbitration.

In each of the three cases involved in this decision, Petitions for Act 312 Arbitration were filed and
arbitrators were appointed prior to March 28, 2013, the effective date of 2012 PA 436.

On April 18, 2013, the employer filed a motion with the Commission and argued that, in each of the
three arbitration proceedings, the arbitrator lacked jurisdiction to proceed because of the suspension
of the employer's duty to bargain set forth in §27(3) of the Local Financial Stability and Choice Act,
2012 PA 436 (Act 436), MCL 141.1541 — 141.1575. On this basis, the employer claimed that the
Commission should dismiss each of the three Act 312 arbitration cases.

The unions involved in the three arbitrations, Police Officers Association of Michigan (POAM),
Detroit Police Command Officers Association (DPCOA), and Detroit Police Lieutenants &
Sergeants Association (DPLSA), each filed responses to the employer’s motion to the Commission.
On May 14, 2013, the Commission heard oral argument from the employer, POAM, DPCOA, and
DPLSA and allowed the Detroit Fire Fighters Association to file an amicus curiae brief.

The unions and the amicus curiae maintained that there was no basis for the dismissal of the Act 312
arbitrations because the Commission did not have jurisdiction to dismiss a pending Act 312
arbitration. The three involved unions also argued that the suspension of the employer’s duty to
bargain under Act 436 did not affect the parties’ rights and obligations to proceed with Act 312
arbitrations for which the petitions were filed prior to the effective date of Act 436.

With respect to the jurisdictional issue, a majority of the Commission noted that the responsibility
for implementing Act 312 necessarily includes the power to determine who is covered by the Act.
Therefore, the authority to decide whether the suspension of the duty to bargain pursuant to § 27(3)
of Public Act 436 also suspends the authority of an Act 312 arbitrator in a pending arbitration.

Although the DPCOA argued that the Legislature's failure to amend 815(8) of PERA created a
conflict that violated the Michigan Constitution, the Commission held that it has no jurisdiction to
resolve questions regarding the constitutionality of legislative enactments.



With respect to the impact of Act 436 on the parties’ rights and obligations under Act 312, the
Commission majority held that an employer in receivership has no duty to bargain under Act 436
and therefore no obligation to participate in Act 312 arbitration.

Initially, after reviewing the language and intent of both Act 312 and Act 436, the Commission noted
that Act 436 does not exclude bargaining units eligible for Act 312 arbitration from its coverage.
Further, given the language of 8 12(1)(j) of Act 436 and 815(8) of PERA, the Legislature could not
have intended to impose the restrictions of Act 312 on an emergency manager. On the contrary, the
Commission pointed out that the language of §12(1)(j) expressly allows an Emergency Manager to
reject, modify, or terminate the terms of any collective bargaining agreement, including one resulting
from an Act 312 award. Under such circumstances, the Commission found that the Legislature
could not have intended an employer in receivership, with no duty to bargain and with an emergency
manager in place, to be involuntarily subject to Act 312 arbitration proceedings.

In examining the dependency of Act 312 arbitration on the presence of a duty to bargain, the
Commission reviewed Metropolitan Council 23, AFSCME v Center Line, 414 Mich 642 (1982). In
that case, the Court held that the distinction drawn between mandatory and permissive subjects of
bargaining determines the scope of an Act 312 arbitration panel's authority and that an Act 312 panel
has no authority over matters for which there is no duty to bargain. The Commission further noted
that the mediation process is a condition precedent to initiation of Act 312 arbitration and a public
employer that has no duty to bargain has no duty to participate in mediation. Thus, the Commission
concluded that only a public employer that is not in receivership under Act 436 or a labor
organization can be required to participate in Act 312 arbitration.

The employer argued that when the duty to bargain under PERA is suspended, there are no longer
any mandatory subjects of bargaining. The Commission rejected this argument and held that the
suspension of the duty to bargain under Act 436 does not convert mandatory subjects of bargaining
into non-mandatory subjects. The underlying nature of subjects of bargaining, whether they are
mandatory or permissive, does not change upon the suspension of an employer's duty to bargain.
The Commission noted that where an employer’s duty to bargain has been suspended, the employer
may still choose to bargain, and may voluntarily choose to participate in Act 312 arbitration. Where,
however, an employer in receivership has not voluntarily consented to Act 312 arbitration, the
arbitration panel has no authority to issue an award binding that employer.

In view of the foregoing, the Commission majority held that the employer in this dispute had no
obligation to participate in Act 312 arbitration, was not willing to do so, and therefore, was not
required to do so. On this basis, the arbitrations were dismissed.

Although Commissioner Green agreed with the Majority’s rejection of the employer’s argument that
the suspension of the duty to bargain converts mandatory subjects of bargaining into permissive
subjects, Commissioner Green disagreed with the Majority’s conclusion that the three Act 312
arbitration cases should be dismissed. The Commissioner noted that the requirements for initiating
Act 312 proceedings under 8§ 3 were met in the three cases, that nothing in PERA or Act 312
authorizes the Commission to dismiss an Act 312 petition when the conditions in § 3 of Act 312
have been met and that Act 436 contains no explicit prohibition barring Act 312 arbitration.



I1. Unfair Labor Practice Charges Regarding the Duty to Bargain
A. Maintenance of Status Quo after Contract Expiration — 2011 PA 54
1. Appellate Decisions

a. Waverly Community Schools -and- Ingham County Education
Association/Waverly Education Association, Court of Appeals No. 314173,
issued August 26, 2014

MERC Case No. C11 K-206; issued December 14, 2012, 26 MPER 34

In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed MERC’s dismissal of the union’s unfair
labor practice charge alleging that the employer violated PERA when it failed to provide lane change
salary increases to nine teachers upon expiration of the parties’ collective bargaining agreement.

The union filed an unfair labor practice charge alleging that the employer violated the parties’
collective bargaining agreement by failing to provide lane change salary increases to nine teachers,
all of whom provided adequate documentation of their educational attainment. The union also
questioned the constitutionality of MCL 423.215b. In her Decision and Recommended Order, the
ALJ recommended dismissal of the union’s claim and stated that MERC had no jurisdiction over a
constitutional challenge. The ALJ further concluded that with the enactment of MCL 423.215b, it
was the Legislature’s intention to ban both step and lane change salary increases upon expiration of
the parties’ collective bargaining agreement. MERC affirmed the ALJ’s Decision and
Recommended Order.

Before the Court of Appeals, the union argued that MERC erred in determining that the Legislature
intended to include lane changes in MCL 423.215b as part of the statute’s prohibition against wage
increases after the expiration of the parties’ collective bargaining agreement and before a new
agreement is reached. The Court of Appeals disagreed. Relying on established precedent in Bedford
Public Sch v Bedford Ed Ass’n, MEA/NEA, the Court of Appeals agreed that the limitation on wage
increases, pursuant to MCL 423.215b, includes lane changes. The Court reasoned that lane changes
constitute wage increases, which are expressly prohibited by statute between the date the parties’
collective bargaining agreement expires and the date a new agreement is reached. The Court of
Appeals also rejected the constitutional arguments presented on appeal by the union.

b. Bedford Public Schools —and- Bedford Education Association, MEA/NEA,
Court of Appeals No. 314153, issued June 10, 2014

MERC Case No. C11-L211; issued June 6, 2012, 26 MPER 35

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed MERC’s decision finding that 2011 PA 54
prohibited a public school employer from increasing public school employees’ salaries based on
additional educational achievement, between the expiration date of a collective bargaining
agreement and the date a successor agreement is in place.

The Bedford Education Association (union) filed a charge against the Bedford Public Schools
(employer) regarding a collective bargaining agreement effective July 1, 2007 that expired on June
30, 2010. The union charged that the school district violated PERA by failing to increase the wages
of teachers who had acquired additional education before the school year began.
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During the period in question, the collective bargaining agreement had expired, and the parties had
not yet reached agreement on a new contract. According to the expired collective bargaining
agreement, a teacher’s salary could be raised by a “step increase” based on years of seniority, or by a
“lane change” based on how much graduate education the teacher had completed. Under previous
Michigan law, when a collective bargaining agreement expired, public school employers were
obligated to continue to pay employees in accordance with the terms of the expired collective
bargaining agreement until a new agreement or an impasse was reached. 2011 PA 54 amended
PERA to prohibit any pay or benefit increases beyond what was being paid under the expired
collective bargaining agreement at the point it expired. The union argued that while Act 54
prohibited the payment of step increases that came due after the contract expired, it did not apply to
lane changes, which were based on educational advancement achieved at considerable effort and
expense by the employee. The employer argued that the amended statute prohibits all wage
increases between the expiration of the collective bargaining agreement and the effective date of a
successor agreement.

The administrative law judge (ALJ) found that MCL 423.215b(1) does not prohibit lane changes
(wage increases based on educational advancement) because the statute specifically references step
increases and, consequently, lane changes were not within the statute’s scope. The ALJ also
reasoned that the statute’s purpose was to pressure public employees to reach a new collective
bargaining agreement without undue delay and that prohibiting lane changes would not pressure all
public employees because such changes are relatively few. The employer filed exceptions with
MERC; the Commission determined that the statute was unambiguous. It ruled that lane changes
were prohibited under the statute because previous decisions treated lane changes the same as step
increases, and the Legislature must be presumed to be aware of these prior rulings. Based on this
reasoning, MERC dismissed the union’s charge in its entirety.

On appeal, the union argued that the Legislature’s explicit reference to “step increases” but not “lane
changes” means that the Legislature intentionally allowed for lane changes during negotiations. The
Court of Appeals rejected this argument, finding that MCL 423.215b plainly addresses all public
employees, not just public school teachers. Therefore, the Legislature would have no apparent
reason to use technical terms specific only to public school teachers when drafting the statute. The
Court concluded that the plain language of the statute unambiguously prohibits a public employer
from paying any wage increase in the absence of an effective collective bargaining agreement.

The union also argued that the word “includes” in the sentence “the prohibition in this subsection
includes increases that would result from wage step increases” may be used as a term of limitation.
The Court noted that the word “includes” can be used as either a term of limitation or a term of
enlargement. The Court agreed with the employer’s argument that, if the word “includes” was used
to limit the statute, it would conflict with the statute’s plain language that prohibits all wage and
benefit increases in the absence of a new collective bargaining agreement.

Agreeing with the employer’s argument, the Court stated that “if MCL 423.215b(1) is construed as
allowing lane changes before a new collective bargaining agreement is reached, it would conflict
with the statute’s command that ‘a public employer shall pay and provide wages and benefits at
levels and amounts that are no greater than those in effect on the expiration date of the collective
bargaining agreement.”” Finally, the Court rejected the union’s argument that MCL 423.215b is
unconstitutional because the statute does not deprive the teachers of any vested right. The statute
was not applied retroactively, and it only applied to wages and benefits in effect as of June 8, 2011
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(the amendment’s effective date). The teachers possessed no vested right because there was no
collective bargaining agreement at the time the statute went into effect. To have a vested right, the
teachers must have had a property interest in the increase and the union and employer must have
reached impasse. Although previously obligated under PERA to continue to pay wage increases
based on an expired collective bargaining agreement, the amendment to PERA now prohibits public
employers from increasing wages under the terms of an expired collective bargaining agreement.
After the expiration of the collective bargaining agreement, the teachers had no vested rights to lane
changes, they merely had an expectation that the prior law would continue. The Legislature has the
right to extinguish statutory rights that are not vested. Therefore, MCL 423.215b was not
unconstitutionally applied.

Application for leave to appeal was filed with the Michigan Supreme Court on July 21, 2014

2. Significant MERC Cases

a. Schoolcraft County and the Schoolcraft County Sheriff —and- Schoolcraft
County Deputy Sheriff’s Association, Case No. C12 L-234, issued November
24,2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 54; Unilateral Change

Unfair Labor Practice Found: Respondent Violated Duty to Bargain by Unilaterally Deducting the
Full Increase in the Cost of Pension Benefits from Charging Party’s Members Paychecks After
Contract Expiration; 2011 PA 54 Requires Public Employers to Pass on to Employees Increases in
Insurance Costs that Occur After Contract Expiration, Not Increases in the Costs of Maintaining
Other Benefits.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s decision finding that the respondent violated its duty to bargain
in good faith by unilaterally deducting the entire amount of the increase in the cost of maintaining
pension benefits from the paychecks of bargaining unit members after the parties’ collective
bargaining agreement expired.

The respondents and the charging party were covered under a collective bargaining agreement that
provided for a defined benefit pension plan in which the respondents paid the full cost of the pension
contributions, unless the cost exceeded 23% of payroll. If the amount of the contribution exceeded
23% of payroll, the employers and employees would equally share the amount in excess of 23%, up
to an employee contribution of 2%.

Prior to the expiration of the parties’ collective bargaining agreement, the respondents’ contribution
totaled 22.66% of payroll. Since the amount was less than 23%, employees were not required to
contribute to the plan. Upon notification from the provider of the pension plan that the cost of the
plan would increase to 24.69% of payroll, the respondents notified the charging party’s bargaining
unit members that the full increase in the cost of the pension benefits would be deducted from their
paychecks. The charging party filed a grievance over the pension plan deductions. The respondent
Schoolcraft County denied the grievance at the third step on the grounds that, pursuant to Act 54,
public employers were precluded from paying any increases in the cost of benefits that occurred after
the expiration of the collective bargaining agreement.
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Subsequently, the charging party filed an unfair labor practice charge alleging that the respondents
violated their duty to bargain by requiring bargaining unit members to pay for the full increase in the
cost of pension benefits after the collective bargaining agreement had expired. On summary
disposition, the ALJ held that Act 54 did not permit the respondents to pass on the full increase in
the cost of pension benefits to employees and that by passing on that increase to the employees, the
respondents violated their duty to bargain.

On exceptions, the respondents contended that the ALJ erred in concluding that Act 54 did not
permit the employers to pass on the full amount of the pension benefit cost increases to their
employees after contract expiration. The respondents argued that language in Act 54 prohibiting
public employers from increasing wages and benefits during the period between contract expiration
and the commencement of a successor agreement also prohibits public employers from paying
increases in the cost of maintaining the same fringe benefits after the expiration of a collective
bargaining agreement.

The Commission rejected the respondents' interpretation of Act 54, as it prohibits public employers
from paying wages and benefits at levels and amounts greater than those in effect on the expiration
date of the parties’ collective bargaining agreement, and further, explicitly provides that public
employers are to pass on to employees increases in insurance costs that occur after contract
expiration. The Commission found that the respondents’ contention that Act 54 required the
employers to pass on the full increase in pension costs was without merit, as the language in Act 54
requiring employers to pass on cost increases to employees applies only to increases in insurance
costs that occur after the expiration of the collective bargaining agreement; that language does not
apply to increases in the cost of maintaining other benefits. Therefore, in affirming the ALJ, the
Commission held that pursuant to the terms of the parties’ collective bargaining agreement, the
1.69% increase in the cost of pension benefits over the 23% for which the employers were
responsible should have been equally shared between the employers and the employees.

b. Michigan State University-and-Capitol City Lodge #141, Fraternal Order
of Police, Case No. C11 H-126, issued September 17, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 54

Unfair Labor Practice not found-Employer did not violate § 10(1)(e) when it ceased paying step
increases after the main contract’s expiration; although the Employer and the union were also party
to a MOU that had not expired, the MOU did not govern step increases and did not make 2011 PA
54 inapplicable.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s decision finding that the employer had not breached its duty to
bargain. The Commission agreed with the ALJ’s conclusion that the employer did not violate
810(1)(e) of PERA when it ceased paying step increases upon expiration of its main 2007-2011
agreement with the charging party.

The charging party and the respondent were parties to a July 1, 2007 collective-bargaining
agreement that expired on June 30, 2011. Article 33 of this agreement provided for salary step
adjustments linked to an employee’s length of service, on the basis of which an employee
automatically moved from a lower to a higher step on the wage scale after each year of employment.
The charging party and the respondent were also parties to a January 1, 2010 Memorandum of
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Understanding (MOU) that addressed health insurance and provided for across-the-board wage
increases. The MOU did not expire until December 31, 2013.

When the main agreement expired on June 30, 2011, the respondent notified the charging party that,
in order to comply with Public Act 54 of 2011, it was suspending all step increases until a new
collective bargaining agreement was in place. As a result, the charging party filed the unfair labor
practice charge involved in this dispute.

In recommending that the unfair labor practice charge be dismissed, the ALJ found that the
unexpired MOU did not cover step rate increases and that Public Act 54 of 2011 therefore prohibited
the employer from providing step increases after the July 1, 2007 contract’s expiration until a new
collective bargaining agreement was in place.

On exceptions, the charging party argued that the ALJ erred in finding that the expiration of the 2007
collective bargaining agreement prohibited payment of automatic step increases, given that the
January 1, 2010 Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) had not yet expired.

The Commission rejected the charging party’s exceptions. Initially, the Commission noted that Act
54 eliminated an employer’s duty to make any increase in wage levels or amounts, including step
increases, that previously would have been required by operation of law after the expiration date of a
collective bargaining agreement. Although the MOU addressed health care coverage and provided
for across-the-board wage adjustments, the MOU did not address step increases. On the contrary,
step increases were governed by Article 33 of the collective bargaining agreement that expired on
June 30, 2011.

Given that the MOU had no bearing on when an employee would advance from one step to another,
the fact that the unexpired MOU provided for across-the-board wage increases did not make Act 54
inapplicable. The respondent therefore acted properly when it suspended step increases upon
contract expiration.

B. The Publicly Funded Health Insurance Contribution Act - 2011 PA 152
1. Appellate Decision

a. Decatur Public Schools-and-Van Buren County Education Association-
and-Decatur Educational Support Personnel Association, Court of Appeals No.
320272; issued March 17, 2015

MERC Case Nos. C12 F-123 & 124, issued January 21, 2014; 27 MPER 41

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed MERC’s dismissal of both unfair labor
practice charges. The Court agreed with MERC’s finding that the respondent did not violate its duty
to bargain by implementing the hard cap cost sharing option under Act 152 before bargaining to
agreement or impasse.

The collective bargaining agreements between Decatur Public Schools (respondent) and each of the
charging parties was set to expire in June of 2012. In May 2012, the respondent sent a memorandum
to members of the support unit, represented by Decatur Educational Support Personnel Association
(DESPA) and to the teachers’ unit members, represented by Van Buren County Education
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Association (VBCEA), informing them that it would implement the hard caps set forth in § 3 of
2011 PA 152 (Act 152) on July 1, 2012.

DESPA did not demand bargaining over the issue and the respondent implemented the hard caps on
the support unit members' share of insurance costs. VBCEA requested to bargain with the
respondent on cost sharing. However after bargaining, the parties did not reach agreement. The
respondent implemented the hard caps on health care costs effective July 1, 2012. Subsequently,
both unions filed unfair labor practice charges alleging that the respondent violated its duty to
bargain in good faith. The charging parties contended that health insurance benefits are mandatory
subjects of bargaining and that the respondent had a duty to maintain the terms and conditions of the
expired collective bargaining agreement until the parties reached either agreement or impasse

The ALJ found that there is a duty to bargain over the choice between the hard caps and the 80%
employer share option under Act 152. However, the ALJ concluded that the responded had no duty
to bargain with DESPA because that union failed to make a bargaining demand. The ALJ further
held that there was no merit to the charge filed by VBCEA based on his finding that expiration of the
parties’ collective bargaining agreement amounted to a "statutorily imposed impasse" under Act 152.

The Commission agreed with the ALJ's rationale for the dismissal of the charge filed by DESPA.
However, the Commission concluded that the choice between cost sharing options under Act 152 is
not a mandatory subject of bargaining. The Commission reasoned that while public employers may
bargain over the choice of cost sharing options, they are not required to do so. The Commission
noted that the ALJ’s finding that the parties were at a statutorily imposed impasse was unnecessary
because the choice between the hard caps and 80% employer share is not a mandatory subject of
bargaining. However the Commission agreed with the ALJ that since VBCEA and the respondent
failed to reach agreement on the choice of cost sharing options before the collective bargaining
agreement expired, the respondent was permitted to take unilateral action in implementing the hard
caps and did not violate its duty to bargain.

On appeal, the charging parties challenged MERC’s finding that the respondent did not violate its
duty to bargain. The Court of Appeals agreed with the Commission's finding that there is no conflict
between PERA and Act 152. The Court found that the plain language of Act 152 does not give rise
to an obligation to bargain with regard to the choice of cost sharing options. The Court stated that
the limits imposed by Act 152 apply to the “total amounts” of contributions for all of the employer’s
employees and all bargaining groups. The Court concluded that this supports MERC’s interpretation
of Act 152 that it is the duty of the public employer to select one cost sharing option for all of its
employees.

Once the respondent made its selection of the hard cap option, nothing prohibited collective
bargaining on the issue of health insurance contributions. The Court explained that Act 152 does not
remove health insurance benefits from the realm of mandatory bargaining. The Court agreed with
MERC that Act 152 sets limits on the amount of health insurance benefits that an employer can pay
for, but does not prevent bargaining up to the statutorily imposed limits. The Court noted that Act
152 expressly recognizes the right of collective bargaining in that it provides that the limits on
employer payments for health insurance benefits do not take effect until after the expiration of a
collective bargaining agreement that contains terms inconsistent with Act 152. Thus, employees
may bargain up to the limits imposed by the employer whether the limit is in the form of the hard
caps or the 80% employer share. Moreover, different bargaining units can bargain for different
amounts that the employer will pay up to the amount of the hard cap, or the 80% employer share
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option that the employer has elected. The Court further emphasized that the fact that the public
employer's governing body has the discretion to select the cost sharing option that sets the
parameters of bargaining does not conflict with the public employer’s duty to bargain under PERA

The charging parties also challenged MERC’s finding that the respondent was not required to delay
implementation of its choice of hard caps until the parties bargained to agreement. The Court agreed
with MERC that the respondent’s implementation of the hard caps immediately upon expiration of
the parties’ collective bargaining agreement was not a violation of the duty to bargain. The Court
explained that Act 152 clearly mandates that upon expiration of the collective bargaining agreement,
the public employer is to comply with the statute. The Court stated that because the respondent had
no duty to bargain over its choice between the hard caps and 80% employer share options, it was not
precluded from unilaterally implementing the plan on the date that the existing collective bargaining
agreement expired. Moreover, the Court noted that § 15b of PERA, MCL 423.215b(1) makes it
clear that it is the responsibility of the employees to bear any increase in the cost of health insurance
after the contract has expired.

Accordingly, the Court found the issue of whether Act 152 created a “statutorily imposed impasse”
to be moot because Respondent had no duty to bargain. The Court of Appeals affirmed MERC’s
decision to dismiss both charges.

2. Significant MERC Cases

a. Garden City Public Schools —and- Garden City Education Association,
MEA/NEA, Case No. C13 K-180, issued on reconsideration February 11, 2015

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 152; 80% employer share option; Repudiation; Good faith
dispute; Unilateral Change; Permissive Subjects of Bargaining; Summary Disposition

Unfair Labor Practice Found: Respondent Repudiated Collective Bargaining Agreement by
Unilaterally Changing Health Insurance Plan; Interpretation of Contract Language was Not
Disputed; Respondent’s Change of Cost Sharing Options under 2011 PA 152 from Choice Indicated
in the Parties’ Collective Bargaining Agreement Violated its Duty to Bargain; Respondent Failed to
Assert Any Disputed Material Facts that Supported its Defense to the Charge, Therefore Summary
Disposition is Warranted

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s finding that the respondent violated its duty to bargain by
making unilateral changes to employee health care coverage during the term of the parties’ collective
bargaining agreement.

The charging party and the respondent were parties to a collective bargaining agreement that covered
September 1, 2011 to August 31, 2014 and was ratified by the parties in 2012. The collective
bargaining agreement provided that all bargaining unit employees would have health insurance
coverage under the Blue Cross/Blue Shield PPO 1 plan and would pay 20% of the premium costs.
2011 PA 152 placed limitations on the amounts a public employer can pay for health care for its
employees for medical benefit plan coverage years beginning on or after January 1, 2012, and
provides public school employers with two options for compliance: the “hard cap” under § 3 or the
80% employer share under §4. Consistent with the collective bargaining agreement, the
respondent’s board voted to implement the 80% employer share option under 2011 PA 152 in both
2011 and 2012 for each of the following calendar years.
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In September 2013, the parties met to discuss possible methods to save on health insurance costs.
The parties were offered proposals from both Blue Cross/Blue Shield and MESSA. The Blue Cross
proposal included the choice of three plans which offered benefits, copays, and employee premium
costs that differed from the plan specified in the collective bargaining agreement. .the respondent
concluded that the Blue Cross proposal was less expensive and thereafter, notified employees that it
was changing to the Blue Cross proposal. The charging party wrote to the respondent asserting that
a change in health care coverage during the term of the parties’ collective bargaining agreement
would violate the collective bargaining agreement and PERA and cautioned the respondent that if its
board took the proposed action, the charging party would file a grievance and an unfair labor
practice charge. In December 2013, the respondent’s board voted to adopt the hard cap option for
health care cost sharing for 2014. As a result, the charging party filed a grievance and an unfair
labor practice charge.

The ALJ concluded that the respondent violated 8 10(1)(e) of PERA by unilaterally changing
employee health insurance coverage during the term of its collective bargaining agreement with the
charging party. The ALJ found that the parties’ collective bargaining agreement contained
unambiguous language with regard to specific health insurance coverage and there was no bona fide
dispute over contract language.

In its exceptions, the respondent contended that the parties have a bona fide dispute over contract
interpretation and claimed, therefore, that the ALJ erred by finding that it repudiated the parties’
collective bargaining agreement. The Commission agreed with the ALJ’s conclusion that the
contract language was unambiguous and could not support the respondent’s contention of a good
faith dispute over contract interpretation. The Commission noted that to show a good faith dispute
over contract interpretation, the respondent must be able to identify language in the parties’
collective bargaining agreement on which it could rely for the action it took, but the respondent was
unable to point to any contract language which permits the midterm change of insurance plans.

The Commission explained that the respondent was required to obtain the charging party’s consent
before making changes in the employee’s health insurance plans during the term of the contract and
by making unilateral changes to mandatory subjects of bargaining, the respondent breached its duty
to bargain.

The respondent further claimed that the ALJ erred by finding that compliance with 2011 PA 152 was
a permissive subject of bargaining, and argued instead that it was a prohibited subject. The
Commission explained that it previously determined the choice of health care options under 2011 PA
152 to be permissive subjects of bargaining, and therefore, the respondent was not required to
bargain over the issue. However, by choosing to bargain over permissive subjects, and by agreeing
to apply the 80% employer share option, the respondent repudiated the collective bargaining
agreement when it later decided that it would no longer comply with the 80% employer share option
under 2011 PA 152.

The respondent also argued that the ALJ erred by not conducting an evidentiary hearing or
permitting oral argument. The Commission explained that to justify an evidentiary hearing, the
respondent was required to allege issues of material fact that supported its defense to the charge, and
it failed to do so. Additionally, the respondent waived its right to oral argument by failing to make a
request for oral argument.
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b. Traverse Bay Intermediate School District-and-Traverse Bay Area
Intermediate School District Educational Support Personnel Association,
MEA/NEA, Case No. C12 G-130, issued December 18, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 152; Past Practice; Mootness

Unfair Labor Practice not Found-Employer did not Violate 8§ 10(1)(e) When it Unilaterally
Implemented Hard Cap Option Upon Expiration of the Collective Bargaining Agreement; Parties
Subsequently Negotiated a Collective Bargaining Agreement that Retroactively Allocated Insurance
Premium Contributions in the Manner Respondent Unilaterally Implemented Previously; Case Does
Not Involve Questions of Public Policy that are Likely to Recur but Evade Judicial Review;
Charging Party did not Establish that Past Practice Modified Clear Agreement Language

The collective bargaining agreement relevant to this dispute was scheduled to expire on June 30,
2012. Under Article 28.2 of the expired agreement, employees paid a ten percent share of the
premium for their health insurance coverage.

OnJune 11, 2012, after Public Act 152 was passed in September 2011, the respondent informed the
charging party and the employees it represented that the employer was implementing the hard cap
option under § 3 of Act 152, effective July 1, 2012.

The union responded by filing the instant unfair labor practice charge alleging that the employer
breached its duty to maintain the status quo after the expiration of the collective bargaining
agreement by unilaterally implementing the hard cap option. The union further alleged that,
notwithstanding this, the employer violated its duty to bargain by implementing the premium share
increases before September 1, 2012. According to the union, Article 28.2 of the collective bargaining
agreement, and the established past practice of the parties, gave employees a vested right to continue
to pay only ten percent of the premium until September 1, 2012.

Subsequently, however, the parties negotiated a collective bargaining agreement that specifically
allocated insurance premium contributions in the manner the employer unilaterally implemented
previously and made this agreed upon allocation retroactive to July 1, 2012.

The ALJ found that the charge was moot and that further proceedings on the charge were not
warranted.

On exceptions, the union argued that the ALJ erred in concluding that there were no circumstances
requiring further proceedings, where the parties in reaching a new collective bargaining agreement
did not agree to dismiss the unfair labor practice charge, and in concluding that the instant case did
not involve questions of public policy that are likely to reoccur but evade judicial review.

The Commission found no merit to the union’s exceptions. Initially, the Commission noted that it
may dismiss an unfair labor practice charge when there is no longer a live controversy and the
purposes of the Public Employment Relations Act have been effectuated in that a collective
bargaining agreement has been reached between the parties. An otherwise moot issue may be
reviewed, however, if it is deemed to be of public significance and is expected to recur while
simultaneously likely to evade judicial review. Given that the parties, in this case, negotiated an
agreement that retroactively allocated insurance premium contributions in the manner the employer
unilaterally implemented previously, and given that the case did not involve a question of public
policy that is likely to reoccur but evade judicial review, the Commission found that charge was
moot.
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Although the union argued that the parties had a consistent practice of collecting the premium share
from employees during the school year and of providing health insurance benefits through August 31
of each year, the Commission found that the union failed to establish that past practice modified
clear agreement language. Consequently, the Commission affirmed the ALJ's Decision and
Recommended Order.

c. West Iron County Public Schools —and- West Iron County Educational
Support Personnel Association, Case No. C12 F-115, issued November 21, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 152; Permissive Subjects of Bargaining; Fact Finding

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found: Respondent Did Not Violate Duty to Bargain by Increasing
Health Care Premiums and Implementing the Hard Cap Option Under 8§ 3 of Act 152; Respondent’s
Choice of Cost Sharing Options Under Act 152 is a Permissive Subject of Bargaining, and therefore,
Respondent is Not Required to Bargain with Charging Party Over its Choice of Health Care
Options; The Parties’ Participation in Fact Finding Does Not Require Respondent to Delay Timely
Compliance with Act 152.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s Decision and Recommended Order finding that the respondent
did not violate its duty to bargain.

The parties’ collective bargaining agreement expired, June 30, 2010. The parties engaged in
negotiations for a successor agreement but were unable to reach agreement. The charging party filed
a petition for fact finding in September 2011, and a fact finder was appointed in February 2012.

In September 2011, the Legislature passed the Publicly Funded Health Insurance Contribution Act,
2011 PA 152 (Act 152), MCL 15.561 et seq. This law placed limitations on the amounts a public
employer can pay for health care for its employees and elected officials for medical benefit plan
coverage years beginning on or after January 1, 2012. Act 152 provides public school employers,
like the respondent, with two options for compliance: the “hard cap” under 8 3 and the 80%
employer share under§ 4.

In July 2012, while the parties” were engaged in fact finding, the respondent implemented the hard
cap option in § 3 of Act 152. Subsequently, the charging party filed a charge alleging that the
respondent violated its duty to bargain by implementing the hard cap option under Act 152, which
increased the health insurance premiums paid by employees, while the parties’ were engaged in fact
finding.

The ALJ found the respondent had not committed an unfair labor practice and recommended that the
charge be dismissed. In its exceptions, the charging party contended that the ALJ erred in finding
that the respondent did not violate its duty to bargain by implementing its selection of the hard cap
option under § 3 of Act 152 while the parties’ were engaged in fact finding.

The Commission disagreed with the charging party. The Commission noted that it is well
established that, even in the presence of impasse, parties are precluded from unilaterally imposing
changes in mandatory subjects of bargaining once fact finding has been initiated. However, the
Commission is required to determine the respondent’s duty to bargain under PERA, in the light of
the legislative intent behind Act 152.

17



The Commission explained that Act 152 does not govern the bargaining relationships between public
employers and their employees; it merely sets limits on what public employers may pay for health
care and allows public school employers to choose between two kinds of limits. In previous cases,
the Commission determined that a public employer’s choice between the hard cap under § 3 and the
80% employer share under 8 4 is a permissive subject of bargaining. Therefore, the respondent
could have decided to bargain with the charging party over its selection of health care cost sharing
options, but it was not obligated to do so. The Commission’s prior decisions prohibiting unilateral
changes during fact finding only prohibited changes in mandatory subjects of bargaining. Since the
selection of health care cost options under Act 152 is not a mandatory subject of bargaining, the
parties’ participation in fact finding did not require the respondent to delay its choice of options
under Act 152.

Moreover, Act 152 required the respondent to determine whether it would implement the hard caps
under 8 3 or the 80% employer share under § 4 before the beginning of its next medical benefit plan
year, which was July 1, 2012. The respondent had the right to select its choice of health care cost
sharing options and had to do so by the statutory deadline. While the choice of cost sharing options
under Act 152 is not a mandatory subject of bargaining, public employers continue to have a duty to
bargain over health care costs. However, the Commission also noted the financial penalty that could
be imposed for a public employer’s failure to timely comply with Act 152. The Commission held
that it could not conclude that delay in the implementation of the hard caps for the duration of the
fact finding proceeding would not be viewed by the State Treasurer as a basis for imposition of the
penalty. Therefore, the Commission held that the timeliness requirement of Act 152 requires an
exception to the rule prohibiting unilateral changes in mandatory subjects of bargaining while the
parties are in fact finding.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.

d. City of Southfield-and-Southfield Police Officers Association, et al., Case
Nos. C11 L-220, 223, 224 and 225, issued November 18, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 152; Mandatory Subjects of Bargaining; Permissive Subjects of
Bargaining

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found-Employer did not violate 8§ 10(1)(e) when it unilaterally
implemented increased health insurance premium rates on January 1, 2012 in compliance with 2011
PA 152; Public Employer’s choice between the Hard Caps and the 80% Employer share under Act
152 is a policy decision to be made by the Public Employer and not a Mandatory Subject of
Bargaining; Employer had a reasonable basis for believing that January 1, 2012, was the beginning
of the benefit plan coverage year and, therefore, did not breach its duty to bargain by implementing
cost sharing on that date.

The Police Officers Association of Michigan (POAM) represents four separate bargaining units of
the respondent’s employees: the Southfield Police Officers Association, the Southfield Command
Officers Association, the Public Safety Technician Supervisors and the Public Safety Technicians.
Each collective bargaining agreement contained a health insurance provision on the basis of which
benefit plan coverage was provided on a calendar year basis. The four collective bargaining
agreements all expired in June 2009 and the parties were negotiating successor agreements.

18



On November 3, 2011, after the passage of Act 152, the respondent informed the four POAM unions
that it would implement the hard caps set forth in § 3 of Act 152 on January 1, 2012. The unions did
not dispute the respondent’s right to unilaterally select the hard cap option.

On December 7, 2011, however, POAM General Counsel Frank Guido wrote the respondent and
asserted that the provisions of Act 152 should not be applied until October 1, 2012, the date on
which the City’s contracts for medical benefit coverage renewed. The respondent disagreed and
informed Guido that January 1, 2012 was the proper date for implementation of Act 152’s
requirements because coverage for purposes of Act 152 was provided on a calendar year basis.

The four POAM unions then filed the four unfair labor practice charges involved in this matter
alleging that the City of Southfield acted improperly by unilaterally imposing increased health
insurance premium rates prior to the beginning of the “medical benefit plan coverage year” as
described in Sections 4 and 5 of the Publicly Funded Health Insurance Contribution Act, 2011 Act
152.

The ALJ found that the phrase “medical benefit plan coverage year” in Act 152 was undefined and
concluded that the Commission had no independent authority to interpret the language itself.
Therefore, the ALJ held that the respondent only had to act reasonably in complying with it. Since
the respondent fulfilled this criterion, the ALJ found that the respondent did not breach its duty to
bargain in good faith under PERA and recommended that the charges be dismissed.

On exceptions, Charging Parties argued that the ALJ erred in concluding that that the Commission
had no independent authority to interpret Act 152 and also argued that the ALJ erred by concluding
that the respondent reasonably interpreted the language of Act 152 to correspond to a calendar year.

The Commission found no merit to Charging Parties’ exceptions. The Commission noted that
although a public employer may bargain with a labor organization over the choice between the hard
caps and the eighty percent employer share, it is not required to do so. Therefore, the respondent did
not breach its duty to bargain by unilaterally selecting the hard cap option.

The Commission also found that the respondent had a reasonable basis for believing that January 1,
2012 was the beginning of the benefit plan coverage year. Consequently, the Commission held that
the respondent did not breach its duty to bargain by implementing health care benefit cost sharing on
January 1, 2012, to the extent required by Act 152.

e. Watersmeet Township School District-and-Watersmeet Educational
Support Personnel Association, MEA/NEA, Case No. C13 B-020, issued
October 8, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 152; Mandatory Subjects of Bargaining; Direct Dealing

Unfair Labor Practice not Found-Employer did not Violate 8§ 10(1)(e) When it Unilaterally Imposed
Increased Health Care Deductions on its Members Prior to the Expiration of the Collective
Bargaining Agreement; the Timing of Deductions is not Considered a Mandatory Subject of
Bargaining; Employer’s Determination of the Appropriate Date on Which to Begin Implementation
of Act 152’°s Requirements was Reasonable and a Good Faith Attempt to Meet Act 152°s Mandates;
Employer did not Engage in Direct Dealing with Employees Regarding Deductions; Employer may
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Communicate with its Employees for the Purpose of Providing Information Relating to Planned or
Actual Changes in Operations or Procedures

The collective bargaining agreement relevant to this dispute was scheduled to expire on December
31, 2012. In November 2012, the parties’ negotiated a change in health care contributions in
compliance with the Publicly Funded Health Insurance Contribution Act, 2011 PA 152, and agreed
that the respondent would implement the “hard cap” option set forth in § 3 of the Act.

On December 12, 2012, the respondent informed employees that “the increase in employee
insurance premiums will be reflected on your December payroll,” as the insurance carrier billed
premiums one month in advance. Several days later, the charging party’s UniServ Director
responded and stated that, while he understands that “the MESSA billing cycle is one month
early...the District is committing an Unfair Labor Practice by withholding additional funds prior to
the expiration of the contract.”

On December 18, 2012, the respondent again wrote employees and gave each employee the option
of having two months of contributions deducted at once, both in January, after the collective
bargaining agreement expired.

The union then filed the unfair labor practice charge involved in the instant dispute alleging that the
School District acted improperly when it deducted increased health insurance premiums from
bargaining unit members’ paychecks approximately one month before the scheduled expiration of
the parties’ collective bargaining agreement and when it engaged in direct dealing with employees.

The ALJ found that the December 2012 deductions by the employer were to cover post-expiration
premiums and that the employer’s conduct was in compliance with and mandated by Act 152. With
respect to the direct dealing allegation, the ALJ found that the employer’s communications with
employees were made for the purpose of providing information relating to planned or actual changes
in operations or procedures and not for the purpose of making an agreement. The ALJ concluded
that the respondent did not breach its duty to bargain in good faith under PERA and recommended
that the charge be dismissed.

On exceptions, the charging party argued that the ALJ erred in concluding that the respondent did
not violate its duty to bargain when it deducted increased health care premiums from employees’ pay
prior to the expiration of the parties’ collective bargaining agreement. The charging party also
argued that the ALJ incorrectly held that the record did not support its allegation of direct dealing.

The Commission found no merit to the charging party’s exceptions. Initially, the Commission noted
that the timing of deductions is not considered a mandatory subject of bargaining. The Commission
further noted that, to the extent the December 2012 deductions by the respondent applied to post-
contract benefits, the alleged conduct appeared to be in compliance with and, in fact, mandated by
Act 152. Given that the employer’s determination of the appropriate date on which to begin
implementation of Act 152’s requirements was reasonable and a good faith attempt to meet Act
152’s mandates, the Commission found that the respondent did not breach its duty to bargain.

With respect to the direct dealing allegation, the Commission agreed with the ALJ that the
employer’s communications with employees were made for the purpose of providing information
relating to planned or actual changes in operations or procedures and not for the purpose of making
an agreement. Consequently, the Commission held that the respondent did not violate PERA by
dealing directly with bargaining unit members.
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f. Shelby Township-and-Command Officers Association of Michigan, Case
No. C12 D-067, issued August 18, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 80% employer share option under 2011 PA 152; 2011 PA 54; Mandatory
Subjects of Bargaining

Unfair Labor Practice Found — Respondent had a duty to bargain with Charging Party over the
calculation method and the total amount of the employees’ health care contribution; Respondent
violated its duty to bargain with Charging Party by unilaterally requiring employees’ to pay a larger
share of health insurance costs than required by 8§ 4 of Act 152; Respondent breached its duty to
bargain by unilaterally requiring employees to pay for health care based on a rate that included
health care costs for both employees and retirees. The calculation of the employee share of health
care costs under Act 152 cannot lawfully include retiree health care costs. Pursuant to Act 54
Respondent was authorized to increase employees’ share of health care costs by the amount of the
increase in the cost of the employees' benefits. Respondent breached its duty to bargain by requiring
employees to pay an amount based on health care costs for both employees and retirees.

The Commission agreed with the ALJ that the employer breached its duty to bargain by requiring
employees to pay a larger share of medical benefit plan costs than authorized by § 4 of Act 152 and
by Act 54. The Commission found there was insufficient evidence in the record to support the ALJ's
finding that the employer refused to bargain over the calculation method and total amount of the
employee contributions after receiving the union’s bargaining demand.

The parties’ collective bargaining agreement expired in December of 2010. After Act 152 was
passed in September 2011, the parties began discussing ways to minimize employees' premium
share. However, during these discussions, the union did not demand bargaining over which of the
three options provided under Act 152 — the hard caps under § 3, the 80% employer share option
under 8 4, or the opt out under § 8— would be used to determine the amount of the health insurance
premium paid by the employer and by bargaining unit employees. The respondent chose to elect the
80% employer share option under Act 152. The respondent’s payments for employee health
insurance plans are based on illustrative rates determined both by the employer’s cost experience and
the level of benefits provided by the particular plan. In November 2011, respondent received
illustrative rates based on its combined costs for active employee and retiree health coverage. These
combined rates are referred to as "bundled rates." A “bundled” rate contains an inherent subsidy of
retirees by active employees because true health care costs for retirees are, on average, greater than
active employees’ health care costs. The respondent was not informed of the amount of the
unbundled rate, based on the cost of active employees only, until January 13, 2012.

Based on its belief that the medical benefit plan coverage year began on January 1, 2012, the
employer implemented the 80% employer share option on that date. It increased the premium share
it deducted from employee paychecks to 20% of the bundled illustrative rate. On January 6, 2012,
without knowing that the employer had already implemented the increase in the employees' share of
health care costs, the union demanded to bargain over the calculation method and the total amount of
the employee contributions. The Commission found that there was no evidence to suggest that
respondent informed charging party of its contention that the medical benefit plan coverage year
began in January 2012, and therefore charging party’s January 6, 2012 demand to bargain was
timely. The parties continued to bargain and met for mediation after that date. On February 1, 2012,

21



when new health insurance rates took effect, respondent increased the amount it deducted from
employee paychecks by the increase in the bundled illustrative rate.

The union contended that the medical benefit plan coverage year began February 1, 2012 and that
the employer breached its duty to bargain by implementing the 80% employer share option prior to
that date. The union also contended that the employer breached its duty to bargain by requiring
employees to pay more than 20% of the unbundled illustrative rate.

Citing its decision in Decatur Pub Sch, 27 MPER 41 (2014), the Commission explained that the
choice of cost sharing options under Act 152 are permissive subjects of bargaining. A public
employer may, but is not required to bargain over whether it will apply the hard caps under § 3, the
80% employer share under § 4, or exempt itself under 8 8. Where the employer chooses to
implement the 80% employer share under 8 4 of Act 152, the employer has a duty to bargain over
the amount of the employees’ share of health care costs subject to the parameters of Act 152. The
employer may implement its choice of options under Act 152 as of the beginning of the medical
benefit plan coverage year. However, if the parties have not bargained to impasse or agreement, the
employer may not set the employee share at more than 20% of the total annual costs of all of the
medical benefit plans provided by the employer for employees and elected officials. The cost of
retiree health care benefits cannot be included in calculating the total annual cost of medical benefit
plans under Act 152. The respondent’s unilateral implementation of the employees’ share of health
care costs on January 1, 2012 based on a bundled illustrative rate that included retiree medical
benefits costs was unlawful because the amount of the employee share exceeded the amount allowed
by Act 152.

Pursuant to Act 54, respondent was authorized to increase the employees' share of health care costs
when the cost of the medical benefit plan increased on February 1, 2012. However, the appropriate
increase was the increase in the unbundled illustrative rate that became effective on February 1,
2012. Therefore, respondent breached its duty to bargain when it unilaterally implemented an
increase in the employee share of health care costs on February 1, 2012 based on the increase in the
bundled illustrative rate, which included costs attributable to retirees. Accordingly, respondent must
recalculate the employee share for the period of January 1, 2012 through January 31, 2012 based on
the unbundled illustrative rate applicable at that time and must compensate employees in the amount
of their overpayment. Moreover, respondent must recalculate the employee share for the period
beginning February 1, 2012 and thereafter until the point the parties reached agreement, or became
subject to a binding arbitration award pursuant to Act 312 and compensate the employees for their
overpayment. The rate for that period should be based on 20% of the total annual cost of the
medical benefit plans based on an illustrative rate for active employees as of January 1, 2012, plus
the amount of the increase in the unbundled illustrative rate as of February 1, 2012.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.

g. Decatur Public Schools-and-Van Buren County Education Association-
and-Decatur Educational Support Personnel Association, Case Nos. C12 F-123
and 124, issued January 21, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 152; Mandatory Subjects of Bargaining; Permissive Subjects;
managerial prerogative

22



Unfair Labor Practice not found-Employer did not violate 8 10(1)(a) or (¢) or 815b when it imposed
“Hard Caps’ on the amount it would pay for Health Insurance upon expiration of Collective
Bargaining Agreements; Employer's Duty to Bargain under PERA is conditioned upon there being a
demand for bargaining by the Union; Where there is no demand to bargain, there is no duty to
bargain; Even if demand for bargaining is made, Public Employer’s choice between the Hard Caps
and the 80% Employer share under Act 152 is a policy decision to be made by the Public Employer
and not a Mandatory Subject of Bargaining; Employer's decision not to delay implementation of the
Hard Caps on Health Care costs was also a policy choice within its managerial prerogative and not
a breach of its duty to bargain

The collective bargaining agreements between the respondent and each of the charging parties
expired in June of 2012. On or about May 9, 2012, the respondent sent a memorandum to members
of the support unit, which is represented by Decatur Educational Support Personnel Association
(DESPA), informing them that the respondent would implement the hard caps set forth in § 3 of Act
152 on July 1, 2012. DESPA did not demand bargaining over this issue and the respondent
implemented the hard caps on the support unit members' share of insurance costs.

On May 14, 2012, the respondent sent a memorandum to the teachers’ unit members, who are
represented by Van Buren County Education Association (VBCEA), informing them that it would
implement the hard caps set forth in 8 3 of Act 152 effective July 1, 2012. On May 18, 2012,
VBCEA requested bargaining over cost sharing with respect to health care costs and over the
respondent's decision to use either the hard caps or the 80% employer share option under § 4 of Act
152. Subsequently, the parties met and bargained over these issues, but did not reach agreement.
The respondent then implemented the hard caps on health care costs.

OnJune 26, 2012, DESPA and VBCEA each filed charges asserting that the respondent violated its
duty to bargain in good faith under PERA by imposing the "hard caps” on health care cost sharing
set forth in 2011 PA 152. The ALJ held that there is a duty to bargain over an employer’s
discretionary choice between hard caps and the 80% employer share option under 2011 PA 152 but
that the employer has no obligation to secure agreement with the unions before imposing the “hard
caps” on the implementation deadline set by 2011 PA 152. Finding that the union representing the
support personnel bargaining unit did not make a timely demand for bargaining on this issue, the
ALJ determined that the charge filed by DESPA was without merit. Additionally, finding that the
respondent and VBCEA did meet and bargain over cost sharing with respect to health care costs and
the respondent’s decision to use hard caps or the 80% employer share option, the ALJ determined
that the charge filed by VBCEA was without merit as they failed to reach agreement before the
statutorily imposed deadline. The ALJ concluded that the respondent had not violated its duty to
bargain in good faith under PERA and recommended that the charges be dismissed.

On exceptions, charging parties argued that the ALJ erred in concluding that 2011 PA 152 prevails
over PERA, that Act 152 created a statutorily imposed impasse. Charging parties also asserted error
in the ALJ’s finding that the employer was not obligated to accept the union’s argument that the
employer could have delayed implementation of the hard caps under Act 152 and yet could have
avoided the penalties imposed by 8§ 9 of that Act. Charging parties further argued that the ALJ erred
in concluding that the support unit did not timely seek to bargain over the implementation of hard
caps. Inits cross exceptions, the respondent argued that the ALJ erred in concluding that the choice
between the hard caps and the 80% employer share option under 2011 PA 152 was a mandatory
subject of bargaining under PERA.
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The Commission found no merit to charging parties’ exceptions. Initially, the Commission noted
that the employer's duty to bargain under PERA is conditioned upon there being a demand for
bargaining by the union. In the present case, the respondent notified both unions of its plan to use
the hard cap formula for insurance cost sharing. VBCEA demanded bargaining; DESPA did not.
Therefore, the respondent had no duty to bargain with DESPA over its choice between the hard caps
and the 80% employer share option for sharing health insurance costs.

With respect to the charge filed by VBCEA, the Commission agreed with the respondent's argument
that the ALJ erred by finding that the choice between the hard caps and 80% employer share is a
mandatory subject of bargaining. The Commission noted that public employers may bargain with
the labor organizations representing their employees over the choice between the hard caps and the
80% employer share, but are not required to do so.

The Commission also found that the employer's decision on whether to accept the risk that would
result from delaying compliance with Act 152 is a policy choice within the respondent's managerial
prerogative. Contrary to the unions’ contention, the Commission held that it was up to the employer
to determine the steps it was required to take to ensure compliance with Act 152. Consequently, the
employer's decision not to delay implementation of the hard caps on health care costs was not a
breach of its duty to bargain.

On March 17, 2015, the Michigan Court of Appeals issued a decision for publication affirming the
Commission.

C. Past practice

1. Appellate Decisions

a. Macomb County, Macomb County Road Commission, and 16™ Judicial
Circuit Court —and- AFSCME Council 25, Locals 411 and 893,
International Union UAW Locals 412 and 889, and Michigan Nurses
Association Supreme Court No. 144303, issued June 12, 2013

Court of Appeals No. 296416, issued September 20, 2011

MERC Case Nos. C07 D-083, C07 D-086, C07 D-087, C07 D-086 and C07
E-115, issued November 24, 2009; 22 MPER 102

The Supreme Court reversed the decision of the Court of Appeals and remanded to MERC for
dismissal of unfair labor practice charges alleging that the respondents violated their duty to bargain
when, without bargaining, they changed the method used to calculate joint and survivor benefits
under the parties’ collective bargaining agreements.

AFSCME Council 25 Locals 411 and 893, the International Union UAW Locals 412 and 889, and
the Michigan Nurses Association filed unfair labor practice charges against Macomb County, the
Macomb County Road Commission, and the 16th Judicial Circuit Court. Their charges asserted that
by changing the method for calculating pension benefits, the respondents had lowered pension
benefits without bargaining on the issue as required by the Public Employment Relations Act
(PERA). The parties’ collective-bargaining agreements provided employees with various pension-
plan options, including one in which payments terminated at the death of the employee (straight-life
pension) and another in which pension benefits continued until the death of both the employee and
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his or her beneficiary (joint-and-survivor pension). A Macomb County Retirement Ordinance
mandated that the optional joint-and-survivor benefit be the actuarial equivalent of the standard
straight-life benefit. All of the collective-bargaining agreements involved in this dispute expressly
or implicitly incorporated the Ordinance.

In 1982, the respondents switched from using gender-based actuarial tables to calculate the joint-
and-survivor benefit to using a 100% female actuarial table for all retirees. In 2006, the respondents
determined that use of the 100% female mortality table resulted in higher pension benefits for those
employees who chose the joint-and-survivor option. On this basis, the respondents adopted a
different mortality table for calculating those benefits.

The Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) recommended that MERC dismiss the unfair labor practice
charge. She determined that a retirement plan’s actuarial assumptions were mandatory subjects of
bargaining under PERA, but concluded that the duty to bargain had been satisfied because the
collective-bargaining agreements covered the issue of retirement benefit calculations and the parties
had agreed to have those benefits calculated as provided in the retirement ordinance. The ALJ also
determined that, where the issue in dispute is a matter of contract interpretation, the matter must be
resolved by the parties’ agreed upon grievance procedure.

On exceptions by the charging parties, MERC concluded that the actuarial assumptions at issue were
never memorialized in the retirement ordinance or any of the collective-bargaining agreements
referring to the ordinance. MERC reasoned that, although the ordinance did not define the phrase
“actuarial equivalent,” the parties had amended their agreements by longstanding practice and tacitly
agreed to continue the use of the 100% female actuarial table. Consequently, MERC held that the
respondents’ unilateral change violated the duty to bargain.

In a split opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed MERC’s decision, concluding that actuarial
assumptions were mandatory subjects of bargaining, that the term actuarial equivalence did not
unambiguously mean equal in value and that the parties’ past practice of using the 100% female
actuarial table constituted a tacit agreement to continue using it absent collective bargaining.

In reversing the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court held that the collective-bargaining agreements
granted the respondents discretion to use actuarial tables to establish pension benefits and that the
Retirement Commission’s use of the 100% female actuarial table to calculate those benefits for
twenty-four years, by itself, did not constitute the clear and unmistakable evidence necessary to
overcome the collective-bargaining agreements’ coverage. The Court further held that the 2006
change in calculation method did not create a new term or condition of employment that would
trigger the need to bargain. On the contrary, the Court held that the remedy for this dispute lies in
the grievance and arbitration procedures that the parties chose to adopt.

In reaching its decision, the Court noted that 8§ 15(1) of PERA requires a public employer to engage
in collective bargaining with its employees with respect to mandatory subjects of bargaining and that
the calculation of retirement benefits is a mandatory subject of collective bargaining. While the
parties do not need to reach an agreement on a subject of mandatory collective bargaining, neither
party may take unilateral action on the subject absent an impasse in the negotiation. When the
parties reach a negotiated agreement for a provision in the collective-bargaining agreement that fixes
the parties’ rights, however, further mandatory bargaining is foreclosed because the matter is
covered by the agreement.
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In determining whether MERC may resolve an unfair labor practice charge involving a breach of
contract, the Court noted that MERC must initially determine whether the subject of the claim is
covered by the contract. If a collective-bargaining agreement covers the term or condition in
dispute, then the details and enforceability of the provision are left to arbitration. As a result, when
the parties have agreed to a separate grievance or arbitration process, MERC’s review of a
collective-bargaining agreement in the context of a refusal-to-bargain claim is limited to determining
whether the agreement covers the subject of the claim.

In this case, the Court found that UAW 412, Units 39, 46, 49, 55, and 75, UAW Local 889,
AFSCME Local 411, and the Michigan Nursing Association’s collective-bargaining agreements
incorporate the terms of the retirement ordinance in the definition of retirement benefits. As a result,
those charging parties’ claims challenging the change in the long-standing method used to calculate
pension benefits are covered by the collective-bargaining agreements and the grievance procedure is
the appropriate avenue for the charging parties’ claims. In addition, the Macomb County Road
Commission and AFSCME Local 893 collective-bargaining agreement implicitly incorporated the
retirement ordinance to the extent that the ordinance governs optional joint-and-survivor benefits and
the grievance procedure is the appropriate forum in which to challenge the calculation of those
pension benefits as well.

Although the charging parties alleged that the 24-year past practice of using the 100% female
actuarial table to calculate benefits became part of the contract, the Court disagreed and held that this
extended period of time was not sufficient to show tacit agreement to modify the contract. A
charging party may pursue an unfair labor practice complaint because of the changing of a term of
employment established by past practice despite the fact that the practice is contrary to the
collective-bargaining agreement, but only when the past practice amounts to an amendment of the
collective-bargaining agreement. Additionally, where a charging party claims that a respondent
unilaterally changed a past practice that is covered by and contrary to unambiguous language in the
collective-bargaining agreement, that party must present clear and unmistakable evidence
establishing the parties’ affirmative intent to revise the collective bargaining agreement to
incorporate the past practice. Furthermore, the charging party must show that the parties had a
meeting of the minds with regard to the past practice such that there was an agreement to modify the
contract.

In this case, the retirement ordinance expressly provided the retirement commission with discretion
to adopt actuarial calculations that apply to the retirement system. The commission’s decision to
alter a long-standing method used to calculate pension benefits, by itself, did not constitute a
unilateral change in a mandatory subject of bargaining as that method had not become part of the
parties’ agreement.

The Court further noted that doubt about whether a subject matter is covered by the collective-
bargaining agreement should be resolved in favor of having the parties arbitrate the dispute. The
arbitrator, not MERC, is best equipped to decide whether a past practice has matured into a term or
condition of employment.

Justice McCormack, joined by Justice Cavanagh, dissented and concluded that the parties’ twenty-
four-year intentional practice of using a very specific formula for achieving actuarial equivalence
amended the contract and required bargaining anew before a unilateral change could be made.
Although actuarial equivalence is an unambiguous term of art, the respondents’ application was
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contrary to its plain meaning. Consequently, this application prevented the respondents from relying
upon this plain meaning and obligated the respondents to bargain before making a change.

b. County of Wayne —and- Michigan AFSCME Council 25 and Its Affiliated
Locals 25, 101, 409, 1659, 1862, 2057, 2926, and 3317, Court of Appeals No.
312708, issued October 9, 2014; 28 MPER 23

MERC Case No. C09 J-211, issued September 17, 2012; 26 MPER 22

In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals reversed MERC’s finding that the respondent
breached its duty to bargain by eliminating the thirty-year past practice of providing health care
benefits to employees who retire on duty or non-duty disability pensions, without first bargaining
over the subject. The Court remanded the matter to arbitration.

For thirty years, Wayne County (“respondent”) consistently provided health care benefits to retirees
who were receiving a duty or nonduty disability pension regardless of whether they met age or years
of service criteria included in the collective bargaining agreement for eligibility for health care
benefits. Since at least 2000, the parties' collective bargaining agreements have limited health care
benefits to retirees who meet certain age and service requirements. On March 17, 2010, the
respondent announced its intent to discontinue payments for health insurance to future disability
retires who do not meet the age and service requirements. As a result, AFSCME (charging parties)
filed unfair labor practice charges. The charging parties alleged that the respondent unlawfully made
a unilateral change to terms and conditions of employment without giving notice and an opportunity
to bargain. The respondent, however, contended that its reservation of rights and zipper clauses in
the collective bargaining agreements gave it the authority to change the health insurance for disabled
retirees, and as such, did not violate its duty to bargain.

The ALJ concluded that the parties had tacitly agreed to amend the terms of the collective bargaining
agreements to allow disability retirees to receive health care benefits without regard to their age or
years of service, and that tacit agreement constituted a binding past practice that could not be altered
without bargaining. Finding respondent’s “decision to eliminate the practice of granting health care
benefits to disabled retirees . . . particularly egregious,” the ALJ recommended that the respondent
be ordered to pay costs and attorney fees. The MERC majority agreed that the past practice
amended the contract and could not be changed without notice and an opportunity to bargain, but
rejected the ALJ’s recommendation that the respondent be required to pay costs and attorney fees.

On appeal, the respondent challenged MERC’s decision that past practice supersedes the language of
collective bargaining agreements in determining that retirees receiving disability pensions are to
continue to receive health care benefits. The Court of Appeals agreed with respondent’s argument,
and reasoned that while the collective bargaining agreements and Health and Welfare Benefit Plans
did not specifically reference the right to health care benefits for disability retirees, those documents
provided that employees needed to meet age and years of service requirements to qualify for health
care benefits upon retirement. The Court held that MERC’s authority in a charge of refusal to
bargain where the parties have a binding procedure for dispute resolution is limited to determining
whether the contract covers the matter in dispute. Although the parties’ collective bargaining
agreements did not refer to the right to health care benefits for “disability retirees, the Court found
that the contracts were not silent on the subject, and noted that “[a] subject need not be explicitly
mentioned in an agreement in order for the subject to be ‘covered by’ the agreement.” Since the
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disputed issue was covered in the collective bargaining agreements, the Court remanded the matter
for arbitration to address the charging parties’ past practice claims. Furthermore, the Court stated
that on remand, the charging parties’ will have to employ the test from Macomb Co v AFSCME
Council 25, 494 Mich 65, 89 (2013), and demonstrate that there existed a “meeting of the minds with
respect to the new terms or conditions— [with respondent] intentionally choosing to reject the
negotiated contract and knowingly act in accordance with the past practice.”

2. Significant MERC Cases

a. Macomb County, Macomb County Road Commission, and 16" Judicial
Circuit Court-and—-AFSCME Council 25 and its Affiliated Locals 411 and 893,
International Union, UAW and its Locals 412 and 889 and Michigan Nurses
Association. Case Nos. C07 D-083, C07 D-086, C0O7 D-087 and CO7 E-115,
issued October 31, 2013

Topics: Duty to Bargain; Mandatory Subjects of Bargaining; Past Practice.

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found on Remand From Supreme Court; Collective Bargaining
Agreements Granted employer Discretion to Establish Actuarial Tables to Determine Joint and
Survivor Benefits; Retirement Commission’s Historical Use of Same Actuarial Table to Compute
Amount of Benefits Was Not Sufficient to Create a Past Practice Amending Agreements; Where the
Parties’ Dispute is Covered by their Contracts, the Dispute Must be Resolved Through the
Grievance Process in the Contract

This matter was before the Commission on remand from the Michigan Supreme Court. On January
25, 2010, the Commission issued a Decision and Order finding that the respondents violated 8
10(1)(e) of PERA by unilaterally modifying the mortality table used to calculate optional joint and
survivor pension benefits for retirees and denying charging parties’ demands to bargain over the
change and/or the effects of the change.

The collective bargaining agreements between the respondents and the charging parties incorporated
the terms of Macomb County’s Retirement System Ordinance, which provided that a joint and
survivor pension benefit is to be the “actuarial equivalent” of the retiree’s straight life allowance at
the time of his or her retirement. Since the Retirement Ordinance did not define the phrase
“actuarial equivalent”, the Commission concluded that the parties had resolved any ambiguity
associated with its meaning through their tacit agreement to the mortality table that had been used
for twenty-four years before the disputed change.

On September 20, 2011, the Court of Appeals majority affirmed the Commission’s decision, holding
that, even if the term *“actuarial equivalent” was unambiguous, the parties” conduct over twenty-four
years using the same calculation method constituted a binding past practice that may not be changed
unilaterally.

The Michigan Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals and found that the parties’ collective
bargaining agreements granted Macomb County’s Retirement Commission discretion to establish
actuarial tables to determine joint and survivor benefits. The Supreme Court further concluded that
the Retirement Commission’s historical use of the same actuarial table to compute the amount of
benefits was not sufficient to create a past practice amending the parties’ agreements. Consequently,
the Court held that the respondents’ change of the actuarial table was not a breach of the duty to
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bargain and remanded the matter to the Commission to dismiss the unfair labor practice charges.
Based on the Court’s decision, the Commission dismissed the charges.

D. Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining

a. loniaPublic Schools —and lonia Education Association, MEA/NEA, Case
Nos: C12 E-094 & CU12 C-013, issued December 18, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 103; Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining

Unfair Labor Practice Found: The Employer’s Refusal to Bargain Over Prohibited Topics Under
Act 103 Did Not Violate its Duty to Bargain; The Union Violated its Duty to Bargain by Insisting
that Provisions of the Parties’ Expired Contract that became Prohibited Subjects Under Act 103 be
Included in the Successor Agreement, Even After the Employer Notified the Union that it Would not
Bargain over Prohibited Subjects; The Union’s Insistence on Including Prohibited Subjects in the
Successor Contract Obstructed and Impeded the Bargaining Process and thereby Violated its Duty
to Bargain in Good Faith.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s Decision and Recommended Order finding that the union
obstructed and impeded the bargaining process by its insistence that prohibited topics be included in
the successor collective bargaining agreement and, by so doing, violated its duty to bargain. The
Commission agreed with the ALJ that the employer did not violate its duty to bargain by refusing to
include provisions regarding prohibited subjects of bargaining in the parties’ successor collective
bargaining agreement.

The parties’ collective bargaining agreement expired on August 25, 2011. While the bill that
became 2011 Public Act 103 (Act 103) was pending before the Legislature, the employer provided
the union with a list of various provisions from the expiring collective bargaining agreement that it
identified as being prohibited subjects of bargaining under that bill. When Act 103 was enacted, it
amended 8 15(3) of PERA by adding several provisions prohibiting collective bargaining between
public school employers and representatives of certain school employees over issues including:
teacher placement, layoff, and recall; and decisions regarding the employer’s performance evaluation
system, and merit pay.

After Act 103 was enacted, the employer restated its position regarding prohibited subjects of
bargaining and asked the union to inform it as to whether the union agreed with the employer's
identification of prohibited subjects of bargaining within the expiring collective bargaining
agreement. The union informed the employer that it would not bargain over prohibited topics and
asserted that the prohibited subjects covered in the expiring agreement would remain in the
successor contract since it would be an unfair labor practice to bargain over the removal or alteration
of those provisions.

The parties continued to bargain over other issues, and reached tentative agreements on some issues.
The employer submitted package proposals to the union and asked that the union respond with a
proposal of its own. The union declined to submit a written proposal, but informed the employer
that its proposal would be identical to the content of the expired contract plus the tentative
agreements reached during the course of bargaining. Although the employer repeatedly reiterated its
position that it could not bargain over prohibited subjects, it also repeatedly asked the union to
indicate whether the union agreed with its identification of provisions from the expired contract as
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prohibited subjects of bargaining. The union refused to bargain or discuss the prohibited subjects
with the employer, and insisted that the provisions in the expired contract were automatically part of
the successor agreement and could not be removed.

In its exceptions, the union contended that the ALJ erred by finding that the employer did not violate
PERA by conditioning its agreement to a successor contract on not including provisions from the
expired contract that the employer identified as prohibited subjects of bargaining under Act 103.
The union argued that it never agreed that the provisions identified by the employer affected
prohibited subjects of bargaining. However, the union failed to offer any basis for finding that the
provisions identified by the employer as prohibited subjects could be lawfully bargained. After the
enactment of Act 103, the provisions of the parties’ collective bargaining agreement that applied to
teacher placement, procedures for filling vacant teaching positions, and procedures relating to layoff
and recall of teachers became prohibited subjects of bargaining. Since the employer is precluded
from bargaining over the prohibited terms in the parties’ expired collective bargaining agreement,
the Commission agreed with the ALJ that the employer’s refusal to bargain over the prohibited
topics was not a violation of its duty to bargain.

The Commission also rejected the union’s argument that the employer violated PERA by insisting
on “removing” the provisions it identified as prohibited topics from the parties’ collective bargaining
agreement. The Commission explained that the union’s assertion that the provisions contained in an
expired collective bargaining agreement automatically carry over to the new contract was not
supported by the law or the facts. Even if the parties had a past practice of agreeing that provisions
of the expired contract that were not raised in negotiations would be carried over to the successor
agreement, it was clear that no such agreement applied with respect to the provisions identified by
the employer as prohibited subjects of bargaining.

The Commission explained that although the parties could not lawfully bargain over subjects
prohibited by Act 103, they could discuss them. The Commission observed that the employer
repeatedly asked the union to indicate whether the union agreed or disagreed with its identification
of provisions from the expired contract as prohibited subjects of bargaining. The Commission found
that the union’s repeated refusal to discuss that issue, as well as its baseless insistence that provisions
from the expired contract automatically carried over into the new contract, indicate that the union
was attempting to delay and obfuscate the bargaining process.

In its cross exceptions, the employer asserted that the ALJ erred by determining that the parties’
could lawfully bargain over the prohibited topics under Act 103 unless a party insists upon including
the prohibited subject as a condition of reaching a successor agreement. The Commission agreed
and explained that where, as here, the employer unambiguously indicates its refusal to bargain over
prohibited topics, it is a breach of the duty to bargain in good faith for the union to demand to
bargain over those subjects. The Commission agreed that the union’s insistence that provisions
regarding prohibited topics be included in the successor agreement obstructed and impeded the
bargaining process and thereby violated its duty to bargain in good faith.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.
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b. Pontiac Education Association, MEA/NEA-and-Pontiac School District,
Case No. CU12 J-047, issued December 18, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining; 2011 PA 103; Filing and Maintenance
of Lawsuit as an Unfair Labor Practice

Unfair Labor Practice not Found-Union did not Violate its Duty to Bargain by Filing and Pursuing
a Lawsuit to Enforce Contract Terms Made Unenforceable Under 815(3)(k) of PERA; Retaliatory
Motive and Lack of Reasonable Basis are Essential Prerequisites to a Finding that the Filing of
Lawsuit was an Unfair Labor Practice; Respondent's Lawsuit had a Reasonable Basis

The charging party and the respondent were parties to a 2007-2011 collective bargaining agreement
that expired on August 31, 2011.

In March 2012, the charging party announced the layoff of certain teachers, effective April 16, 2012.
As aresult, on May 2, 2012, the respondent union filed a Complaint for Injunctive Relief in Oakland
County Circuit Court alleging that the layoffs violated the expired contract. The union sought an
injunction requiring the employer to restore the status quo, but the Court refused to grant injunctive
relief. The union, however, continued with the suit and commenced conducting discovery.

The charging party responded by filing the instant unfair labor practice charge alleging that the
union’s filing and continued pursuit of the lawsuit constituted an unlawful attempt to enforce a
contract provision pertaining to a prohibited subject of bargaining in violation of the union’s duty to
bargain.

The ALJ rejected the charging party’s contention that the union violated its duty to bargain by filing
and pursuing a baseless lawsuit.

On exceptions, the charging party argued that the ALJ erred in concluding that it would be improper
to find the union guilty of pursuing a baseless lawsuit where the meaning of § 15(3)(k) had not yet
become established law. The charging party also argued that the ALJ erred in dismissing the charge
instead of finding a violation and ordering an appropriate remedy.

The Commission found no merit to the charging party’s exceptions. Initially, the Commission noted
that that the employer had no duty to bargain over the procedures used to lay off teachers in April
2012 as those procedures were prohibited subjects of bargaining under 8 15(3)(k) of PERA. The
Commission, however, further noted that a the charging party must prove that a lawsuit was filed
with a retaliatory motive and lacked a reasonable basis in order to establish that the filing of the
lawsuit was itself an unfair labor practice.

In this case, the Commission found that respondent's lawsuit had a reasonable basis because there
were no reported decisions by either the Commission or any of its ALJs on the meaning and scope of
815(3)(Kk) at the time the lawsuit was filed. The interpretation of the applicable law was therefore
uncertain at the time that the suit was filed and the suit could not be considered frivolous or plainly
foreclosed. The Commission further noted that the evidence was not sufficient to show that
respondent's motive, in filing suit, was specifically to retaliate against the charging party for its
exercise of protected rights. Under such circumstances, the Commission affirmed the ALJ'S
Decision and Recommended Order.
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c. Pontiac School District —and- Pontiac Education Association, Case No’s
C11 K-197 & CU12 D-019, issued October 16, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 103; Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining; Attorney Fees

Unfair Labor Practice Found: Employer Did Not Violate its Duty to Bargain With the Union
Because it is Precluded From Bargaining over Prohibited Topics under 8§ 15(3) of PERA; The
Union Violated its Duty to Bargain in Good Faith by Attempting to Use the Arbitration Process to
Enforce Teacher Placement Provisions of the Parties’ Expired Contract which are now Prohibited
Subjects of Bargaining; Commission Not Authorized to Grant Attorney Fees.

The Commission affirmed in part and reversed in part the ALJ’s Decision and Recommended Order
on Summary Disposition. The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s finding that the employer had no
duty to bargain over teacher placement because it constitutes a prohibited subject of bargaining
under § 15(3)(j) of PERA, and further agreed that the union violated its duty to bargain in good faith
by attempting to arbitrate a grievance over a prohibited subject of bargaining. The Commission
reversed the ALJ’s decision to award costs and attorney fees incurred as a result of the arbitration.

The union and the employer were parties to a collective bargaining agreement that provided that
involuntary teacher transfers were to be based on seniority and that the transferred teacher would be
given priority in filling the first vacancy for which he or she was certified and qualified. Following
the 2010-2011 school year, a union member, L, was laid off from her position as a high school
speech pathologist, and was not permitted to move to a vacant position at the middle school.
Instead, she was placed at an elementary school. The union filed a grievance regarding L's transfer
and subsequently advanced the grievance to arbitration. The union also filed the charge in Case No.
C11 K-197, contending, among other things, that L's transfer was an unlawful unilateral change in
terms and conditions of employment. Subsequently, the employer filed the charge in Case No.
CU12 D-019 asserting that the union violated its duty to bargain in good faith by advancing the
grievance to arbitration and by filing an unfair labor practice charge in Case No. C12 D-070
regarding the involuntary transfer of another teacher.

When 2011 PA 103 was enacted, the law amended § 15(3) of PERA to add provisions prohibiting
collective bargaining between public school employers and representatives of their employees over
several matters that had previously been mandatory subjects, including decisions regarding teacher
placement. Therefore, provisions of the parties’ expired collective bargaining agreement that had
once been binding, became unenforceable.

On exceptions, the union contended that L was not a certified teacher under the Teachers’ Tenure
Act and was, therefore, not covered by § 15(3)(j). The Commission noted that throughout the case,
the employer had repeatedly asserted L’s status as a “teacher” without any rebuttal by the union. It
was not until the union appealed to the Commission that the union first raised the issue of L’s status
as ateacher. The Commission found that by failing to raise the issue while the matter was before the
ALJ, the union waived the issue.

The union also excepted to the ALJ’s finding that the union violated its duty to bargain in good faith
by advancing the L grievance over a prohibited subject of bargaining to arbitration. The
Commission rejected the union’s argument that L’s reassignment was not a prohibited subject of
bargaining, pointing to its discussion of § 15(3)(j) in its decision in lonia Pub Sch, 27 MPER 55
(2014). Additionally, the Commission disagreed with the union’s contention that the ALJ erred by
finding that the union’s actions in advancing the L grievance to arbitration violated its duty to
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bargain. The Commission explained that while parties are free to discuss prohibited subjects of
bargaining, advancing the matter to arbitration was going beyond the discussion stage and was an
attempt to enforce provisions of an expired contract after those provisions had become unenforceable
pursuant to § 15(3)(j).

The Commission did agree, however, with the union’s exception that the ALJ exceeded his authority
when ordering the union to reimburse the employer for costs and attorney fees incurred as a result of
L’s grievance. The Commission explained that 8 16(b) of PERA, as interpreted by the Court of
Appeals in Goolsby v Detroit, 211 Mich App 214, 224 (1995), does not authorize the Commission to
award costs or attorney fees.

In a separate concurring opinion, Commissioner LaBrant noted that the ALJ recommended dismissal
of the portion of the employer’s charge that asserted that the union breached its duty to bargain by
filing an unfair labor practice regarding the involuntary transfer of a second teacher, in Case No. C12
D-070. Commissioner LaBrant disagreed with the ALJ’s reasoning that at the time Case No. C12 D-
070 was filed the issues involved in the case were not covered by “established law.” The
Commissioner explained that if the employer had filed exceptions on the dismissal of that part of the
employer’s unfair labor practice charge, he would have reversed the ALJ on that issue.

d. Calhoun Intermediate Education Association, MEA/NEA —and- Calhoun
Intermediate School District, Case No. CU12 B-009, issued September 15, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 103; Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining

Unfair Labor Practice Found: the Union Violated its Duty to Bargain in Good Faith by Repeatedly
Proposing that Prohibited Subjects Be Included in the Successor Collective Bargaining Agreement
after the Employer Refused to Bargain over Prohibited Subjects; Although the Parties Continued to
Make Some Progress on Certain Mandatory Subjects, Respondent’s Insistence on Including
Prohibited Subjects in the Contract Obstructed and Impeded the Bargaining Process and thereby
Violated the Duty to Bargain in Good Faith.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s decision finding that the union violated its duty to bargain in
good faith by insisting that prohibited subjects of bargaining be included in the parties’ successor
collective bargaining agreement in spite of repeated refusals by the employer to bargain over
prohibited subjects.

The parties’ contract covered 2009-2011 and expired June 30, 2011. Articles 4-7 of the 2009-2011
contract contained terms that gave first consideration to bargaining unit members when filling
vacancies; governed employee evaluation procedures; required that there be just cause for any
discharge, demotion, or other involuntary change in an employee's employment status; established
layoff and recall procedures, set out the order in which employees were to be laid off, and required
employees to be recalled in order of seniority. On July 19, 2011, 2011 PA 103 went into effect. It
amended § 15(3) of PERA by adding subsections 15(3)(j)-(p), which prohibited bargaining between
public school employers and the unions representing their employees over such matters as teacher
placement, employee evaluations, and decisions over layoff and recall etc. As such, Articles 4-7 of
the parties’ prior collective bargaining agreement became the subject of dispute in the parties’ efforts
to negotiate a successor agreement because much of the language in those provisions covered newly
prohibited subjects of bargaining.
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On August 15, 2011, the employer notified the union that it would not enter into any successor
collective bargaining agreement that contained provisions pertaining to any prohibited subjects of
bargaining. The union, however, continued to propose that language in Articles 4-7, which included
prohibited topics, be in the successor agreement. After receiving two proposals from the union
proposing that prohibited subjects of bargaining be included in the successor contract, the employer
cautioned the union that continued insistence on the inclusion of prohibited subjects of bargaining in
the contract would be viewed as a breach of the duty to bargain in good faith. Despite that warning,
the union persisted in demanding that provisions regarding prohibited subjects of bargaining that had
been in Articles 4 - 7 of the expired contract also be included in the successor agreement.

The Commission agreed with the ALJ that the union violated its duty to bargain in good faith by
continuing to insist that prohibited subjects be included in the parties’ successor collective
bargaining agreement after the employer notified the union that it would not bargain over prohibited
subjects and after the employer warned the union that it considered further demands for bargaining
over prohibited subjects to be a breach of the duty to bargain in good faith. Relying on Michigan
State AFL-CIO v MERC, 212 Mich App 472, 487 (1995), the Commission explained that the
Legislature intended to “make public school employers solely responsible for these subjects by
prohibiting them from being the subjects of enforceable contract provisions and by eliminating any
duty to bargain regarding them.” The Commission further found that in affirming the Court of
Appeals decision, the Michigan Supreme Court agreed that the Legislature removed the statutory
requirement that public school employers listen to their employees regarding these subjects and
instructed the employers not to collectively bargain with regard to these subjects. Michigan State
AFL-CIO v MERC, 453 Mich 362 (1996).

On exceptions, the union argued that it did not violate its duty to bargain because it did not insist on
inclusion of prohibited subjects to the point of impasse. The Commission rejected that argument and
explained that whether the union breached its duty to bargain in good faith depends on the totality of
the circumstances. As a result of the union’s continued insistence on including prohibited subjects in
its bargaining proposals, the employer was unable to assess whether the position the union took on
other issues was sincere or merely an attempt to urge the employer to bargain over the prohibited
topics. Additionally, the Commission agreed with the ALJ that regardless of whether or not the
union’s conduct created an impasse, the union’s conduct obstructed and impeded the bargaining
process and made resolution of the parties’ dispute more difficult than it otherwise would be.

The employer filed cross exceptions contending that the ALJ erred by not finding the union breached
its duty to bargain by submitting “package proposals.” The Commission agreed with the ALJ that by
submitting a package proposal, the union was not insisting as a condition of agreement that the
employer accept the entire package as submitted. The Commission explained that while submission
of a “package proposal” usually indicates that the party to whom the proposal is submitted must
either accept or reject the proposal in its entirety, the record in the present case establishes that,
notwithstanding the title of the proposals, the parties were able to reach tentative agreements on
several issues within the package without agreeing to the full package.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.
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e. Pontiac School District-and-Pontiac Education Association, MEA/NEA,
Case No. C13 B-033, issued May 21, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 103; Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining; 815(3)(j); Repudiation

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found-Employer Did Not Violate § 10(1)(a) or (e) when It Repudiated a
Grievance Settlement Agreement; Employer Has No Duty to Bargain over Decisions about Teacher
Placement, because such Decisions are Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining under 8§ 15(3)(j) of PERA;
Decisions Regarding Whether to Place Specific Individuals into Vacant Positions are Decisions
about Teacher Placement.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s Decision and Recommended Order finding that the employer
did not breach its duty to bargain when it repudiated a grievance settlement that acknowledged the
recall rights of several teachers.

Charging party represents a bargaining unit of teachers and instructional personnel. The parties
entered into a letter of agreement in June 2008 in which respondent agreed to make every effort to
hire only certified teachers to fill vacant positions and accepted limitations on its use of long-term
substitutes. In 2012, charging party filed a grievance contending that respondent was violating the
2008 letter of agreement. The parties' written settlement of the grievance acknowledged the recall
rights of certain named grievants. Several days after signing the agreement, respondent repudiated
it.

Charging party contended that respondent breached its duty to bargain when it unilaterally
repudiated the grievance settlement agreement. The respondent did not dispute that it had repudiated
the grievance settlement but contended that the agreement was unenforceable because it covered a
prohibited subject of bargaining.

Repudiation of a valid contract is unlawful and it makes no difference whether that contract is a full
collective bargaining agreement or a grievance settlement as in this case. However, the Commission
found that the grievance settlement agreement was unenforceable because it covered prohibited
subjects of bargaining. The agreement required respondent to recall laid off teachers and place them
in vacant positions. The Commission explained that such an agreement cannot lawfully be
bargained under § 15(3)(j) of PERA. Pursuant to 2011 PA 103, public school employers and the
unions representing their employees are prohibited from bargaining over decisions regarding teacher
placement, layoffs, and recalls. Section 15(3)(j) of PERA gives public school employers broad
discretion in making decisions regarding teacher placement and makes public school employers
solely responsible for such decisions. A contract on prohibited subjects of bargaining is
unenforceable. Therefore, respondent did not breach its duty to bargain by repudiating the unlawful
grievance settlement agreement

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.

f. Pontiac School District-and-Pontiac Education Association, Case No. C12
D-079, issued May 20, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 103; Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining; 8§ 15(3)(j) and (k);
Maintenance of Terms and Conditions after Contract Expiration; Summary Disposition.
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Unfair Labor Practice not found-Employer did not repudiate agreement or unilaterally change
terms of employment when it promulgated a new layoff and recall policy for teachers, issued layoff
notices to teachers based on teacher performance and involuntarily transferred displaced teachers;
Employer had no duty to bargain over procedures relating to the lay off or recall of teachers under
8 15(3)(k); Employer had no duty to adhere to past practices or bargain about practices regarding
decisions about teacher placement under § 15(3)(j).

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s decision finding that the respondent did not breach its duty to
bargain when it promulgated a new layoff and recall policy and laid off teachers without complying
with the terms of the parties’ expired collective bargaining agreement.

The collective bargaining agreement between the respondent, Pontiac School District and the
charging party, Pontiac Education Association expired on August 31, 2011, and required that the
respondent meet and confer with the union before laying off bargaining unit personnel. The
agreement also required the respondent to give notice of second semester layoffs by the preceding
December 1, and notice of layoffs for the next academic year by the preceding May 1. Other
sections of the agreement prescribed the order of layoffs based on reverse "continuous service" and
set forth specific procedures that were to be followed by the respondent in determining which
teachers would be laid off or recalled. Additionally, by past practice, a bargaining unit member
whose position was being eliminated was permitted to meet with an administrator before the
position’s elimination. Also, a bargaining unit member whose position was eliminated, but who had
sufficient seniority to avoid layoff, was allowed to choose any available vacant position.

On or about March 19, 2012, the respondent promulgated a new layoff and recall policy based on
§ 1248 of the Revised School Code, and included criteria for deciding which teachers would be laid
off based on teacher performance. The respondent also announced the layoff of certain teachers,
effective April 12, 2012, which failed to comply with time constraints of the expired contract. The
respondent took this action without a prior meeting with the charging party. Contrary to past
practice, teachers who were displaced but not laid off were involuntarily transferred by Respondent
to new positions. These teachers were not allowed to select from available vacancies as they would
have been under the parties' past practice. Subsequently, the charging party filed an unfair labor
practice charge against the respondent, contending that the respondent’s actions breached its duty to
bargain.

The Commission agreed with the ALJ that § 15(3)(k) unambiguously makes all procedures relating
to layoff and recall, including requirements that an employer meet with the union or employees
before laying them off and provisions for advance notice of layoff, prohibited subjects of bargaining.
Because layoff procedures were no longer mandatory subjects of bargaining, the Commission found
that Respondent had no obligation to adhere to past practices or procedures in the expired contract
when it laid off teachers in April 2012. The Commission also agreed with the ALJ that 8 15(3)(j)
makes decisions regarding teacher placement and the impact of those decisions prohibited subjects
of bargaining. Thus, the parties’ past practice of permitting teachers to choose their new
assignments after being displaced by a layoff was a prohibited subject of bargaining and Respondent
had no duty to adhere to that practice or to bargain over the matter.

On exceptions, the charging party argued that § 15(3)(k) only makes the selection of employees for
layoffs and recall prohibited subjects of bargaining. The Commission found that the unambiguous
language of § 15(3)(k) did not limit its applicability solely to decisions about the selection of
employees for layoff or recall. The Commission further concluded that the respondent had no duty

36



to adhere to past practices, or to bargain about practices, that affected decisions about teacher
placement, which were prohibited subjects of bargaining under § 15(3)(j) of PERA.

Relying on MCL 380.1248(2), the charging party maintained that, because the parties had a contract
in effect when Public Acts 102 and 103 were enacted, the contract language remained in effect. The
Commission explained that although MCL 380.1248(2) exempts public school employers from
complying with provisions of MCL 380.1248(1) that conflict with an existing collective bargaining
agreement, that exemption ends when the collective bargaining agreement expires. In the present
case, when the parties’ collective bargaining agreement expired on August 31, 2011, the employer
was no longer exempt from the requirements of MCL 380.1248(1).

The charging party argued that the respondent had a duty to continue to apply the terms of the
expired contract until the parties reached agreement or impasse. Charging Party also contended that
since the parties’ 2012 successor agreement incorporated provisions from the expired contract those
provisions continued to be binding. The Commission rejected both arguments explaining that, after
the enactment of 2011 PA 103, provisions of the parties’ expired collective bargaining agreement
and past practices that applied to the procedures relating to the lay off or recall of teachers or
decisions about teacher placement were no longer mandatory subjects of bargaining. At the point of
the contract's expiration, these provisions became prohibited subjects of bargaining and, therefore
did not survive the contract. Incorporating the provisions into the successor agreement did not
change the nature of the provisions; provisions regarding teacher placement layoff or recall are
prohibited subjects of bargaining in any agreement regarding such provisions is unenforceable. On
this basis, the Commission concluded that the respondent did not have a duty to continue to apply
these provisions.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.

g. lonia Public Schools-and-lonia Education Association, Case No. C12 G-
136, issued April 22, 2014,

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 103; Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining; 8§15(3)(j); Maintenance
of Terms and Conditions after Contract Expiration.

Unfair Labor Practice not found-Employer did not violate 8 10(1)(a) or (e) when it failed to hold a
"bid-bump" meeting or when it failed to post vacancies for teaching positions in accordance with the
parties’ expired collective bargaining agreement. Employer has no duty to bargain over decisions
about teacher placement as such decisions are prohibited subjects of bargaining under 815(3)(j) of
PERA. Decisions regarding whether to hold a bid-bump meeting and whether to post vacant
teaching positions are decisions about teacher placement; Parties are prohibited from bargaining
over these decisions

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s decision finding that the employer had not breached its duty to
bargain. The Commission agreed with the ALJ’s conclusion that the employer was not required,
under 8 15(3)(j) of PERA, to post vacant positions or to hold an assignment meeting, also known as
a "bid-bump meeting," at which teachers could bid on teaching assignments for the next school year.

The collective bargaining agreement between respondent and charging party expired on August 25,
2011. Their expired contract required a meeting at which teachers could bid on teaching
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assignments for the next school year. After the contract expired, respondent did not schedule a bid-
bump meeting although requested to do so by charging party in April, May, and June of 2012.

In its charge, the union asserted that respondent violated its duty to bargain and repudiated the
contract by failing to schedule the bid-bump meeting and by failing to post vacant positions.

The ALJ held that 8 15(3)(j) of PERA unambiguously gives an employer broad discretion to make
placement decisions without bargaining over these decisions or the effects thereof, and that any
limitation on that discretion would be contrary to the plain reading of the statute. The respondent
therefore did not violate PERA when it refused to hold a bid-bump meeting or when it failed to post
vacant positions.

On exceptions, charging party argued that 8 15(3)(j) of PERA did not apply to the bid-bump
procedure in the expired contract because § 15(3)(j) focuses only on bargaining over the placement
of an individual teacher in a specified position and Article X governs the general staffing procedures
to be applied to the bargaining unit as a whole. Charging party contended that 8 15(3)(j) does not
prohibit the parties from negotiating about the “development, content, standards, procedures,
adoption, and implementation of a district's policy for placement.”

In affirming the ALJ, the Commission noted that the language "[a]ny decision...regarding teacher
placement” contained in 8 15(3)(j) necessarily includes decisions about the development, content,
standards, procedures, adoption, and implementation of a public school employer's policy for
placement of teachers as well as any decision made by the public school employer pursuant to that
policy. Consequently, "[a]ny decision . . . regarding teacher placement” necessarily includes
decisions regarding the ability of teachers to bid on other positions, to bump into positions, or take
other action provided under Article X, Section 1 of the parties’ expired collective bargaining
agreement.

The Commission also disagreed with charging party’s contention that the use of the words
"decision,"” "individual," and "bargaining unit" in the final version of 8 15(3)(j), rather than plural
forms of those nouns, indicates that the Legislature intended to limit the applicability of § 15(3)(j) of
PERA to single decisions affecting individual teachers. The Commission reviewed the history of the
changes in the language of § 15(3)(j) and explained that those changes indicated that the Legislature
intended § 15(3)(j) to apply broadly to any decision affecting teacher placement.

Although charging party alleged that Article X of the expired contract continued to bind respondent
because an employer must maintain the status quo with respect to mandatory subjects of bargaining
after contract expiration, the Commission explained that, after the enactment of 2011 PA 103,
provisions of the parties’ expired collective bargaining agreement that applied to teacher placement
were no longer mandatory subjects of bargaining but were now prohibited subjects of bargaining.
Therefore, the employer is no longer required to comply with those terms of the expired contract
and, in fact, is prohibited from doing so.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.
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h. Pontiac School District-and-Pontiac Education Association, Case No. C12
D-070, issued March 17, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 103; 2011 PA 102; Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining;
Maintenance of Terms and Conditions after Contract Expiration

Unfair Labor Practice not found-the employer did not violate § 10(1)(a) or (e) when it distributed
guestionnaires to students asking for their opinions about their teachers without giving charging
party an opportunity to bargain over the questionnaire or when it transferred a bargaining unit
member for disciplinary reasons; employer has no duty to bargain over the use of questionnaires to
obtain student opinions about teacher performance under 8 15(3)(1) of PERA; involuntary transfer
of a teacher was a decision made by the employer about teacher placement and is a prohibited
subject of bargaining under8 15(3)(j) of PERA.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s decision finding that the employer had not breached its duty to
bargain. The Commission agreed with the ALJ’s conclusion that the employer’s decision to use
questionnaires to obtain student opinions about teacher performance is a prohibited subject of
bargaining under 8 15(3)(l) of PERA. The Commission also agreed with the ALJ’s finding that,
pursuant to 8 15(3)(j), the employer was not required to bargain over its unilateral decision to
transfer a teacher to a different school.

The collective bargaining agreement between respondent and charging party expired on August 31,
2011. In December 2011, charging party learned that respondent planned to distribute a
questionnaire to students to elicit students’ opinions about their teachers. The respondent, however,
informed charging party that the student questionnaire would not be used for evaluative purposes. In
January 2012, respondent transferred a teacher to a different school after the teacher was accused of
inappropriate conduct.

In its charge, the Pontiac Education Association asserted, among other things, that respondent
violated its duty to bargain when it distributed the questionnaires to students asking for their
opinions about their teachers without giving the union an opportunity to demand bargaining over the
questionnaire. Charging party further alleged that respondent breached its duty to bargain when it
unilaterally decided to transfer a bargaining unit member.

The ALJ held that respondent had no duty to bargain with charging party over either issue after the
passage of 2011 PA 103, which made public school employers’ decisions about employee
performance evaluations and teacher placement prohibited subjects of bargaining under § 15(3)(j)
and (l) of PERA.

On exceptions, charging party argued that the ALJ erred in finding that the respondent’s use of
student questionnaires and respondent’s involuntary transfer of the teacher were prohibited subjects
of bargaining.

Charging party relied upon MCL 380.1248(2), and maintained that, because the parties had a
contract in effect when Public Acts 102 and 103 were enacted, the contract language remained in
effect. The Commission noted that MCL 380.1248(2) exempts public school employers from
complying with provisions of MCL 380.1248(1) that conflict with a collective bargaining agreement,
but explained that the exemption ends when the collective bargaining agreement expires. Here, upon
the expiration of the parties’ collective bargaining agreement on August 31, 2011, the employer was
no longer exempt from the requirements of MCL 380.1248(1).
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Charging party argued that the provisions of the expired contract regarding mandatory subjects of
bargaining continued to apply until the parties reached agreement or impasse. The Commission
disagreed and held that, after the enactment of 2011 PA 103, provisions of the parties’ expired
collective bargaining agreement that applied to teacher placement or performance evaluations were
no longer mandatory subjects of bargaining but were now prohibited subjects of bargaining.
Therefore, respondent did not have a duty to continue to apply those provisions.

On exceptions, charging party asserted that because respondent informed it that the student
questionnaire would not be used for evaluative purposes, bargaining over the questionnaire was not
prohibited by § 15(3)(l). Charging party then contended that the use of the student questionnaire
expanded employee job duties, and therefore was a mandatory subject of bargaining. The
Commission, however, noted that this contention was not made when the matter was before the ALJ.
Since this issue was not raised before the ALJ, it was not properly before the Commission.

Charging party alleged that the ALJ erred by finding that it failed to show the student questionnaires
affected employees' wages, hours, or terms and conditions of employment. The Commission noted
that the only evidence that charging party relied upon for this issue, a sentence in an affidavit, was
insufficient to establish a significant change in employees’ duties. Moreover, charging party had
previously relied on the same sentence to support its argument on another issue raised in the charge.
The ALJ had offered to hold a hearing on the other issue as it raised factual questions with respect to
the alleged change in employees’ duties. Instead, charging party withdrew that portion of the charge
and waived the opportunity to present evidence on the factual issues related to their allegation that
there was a significant change in employees’ duties. As a result, the charging party failed to offer
sufficient evidence in support of its claim that use of the questionnaires significantly increased
employee duties.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.

E. Transfer of bargaining unit work and subcontracting
1. Appellate Decisions

a. Reese Public School District -and- Reese Professional Support Personnel
Association, MEA/NEA, Court of Appeals No. 316528; 28 MPER 51, issued
December 30, 2014

MERC Case No. C11 I-155, decision issued May 17, 2013

In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals majority affirmed MERC’s dismissal of the unfair
labor practice charge finding that the respondent was not required to bargain over the subcontracting
of secretarial services under 8 15(3)(f) of PERA because the secretaries provided non-instructional
support services.

Reese Professional Support Personnel Association (union) was the bargaining representative of the
bargaining unit that included secretaries for the Reese Public School District (employer). Without
bargaining with the union, the employer opted to privatize secretarial services and layoff six
secretaries from the bargaining unit. The employer contended that it could do so without bargaining
pursuant to 8 15(3)(f). The union contended that the secretaries did not perform noninstructional
support services and thus, did not fall under the provisions of § 15(3)(f). The union argued that the
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secretaries performed instructional support services because they provided support to employees
who provided instruction to students. Therefore, the union filed an unfair labor practice charge
alleging violation of § 10(1)(a) and (e) of PERA.

The ALJ disagreed with the union’s contention that the secretarial services provided were
instructional support services because the secretaries supported instructors. The Commission agreed
with the ALJ that the secretaries provided non-instructional support services because the secretaries’
duties were not instructional. The Commission further agreed with the ALJ’s finding that the
employer’s decision to subcontract the work was a prohibited subject of bargaining under § 15(3)(f)
of PERA, and as such, the employer had no duty to bargain with the union over that issue. Both the
ALJ and Commission ordered dismissal of the unfair labor practice charge.

On appeal, the union argued that by unilaterally subcontracting the secretaries work, the employer
violated § 10(1)(a) and (e) of PERA. Specifically, the union argued that the Commission erred in
finding that its secretarial members performed non-instructional support services under § 15(3)(f) of
PERA.

The Court of Appeals majority disagreed with the union and agreed with the Commissions’
conclusion that instructional support services are only those services in which the support services
provided are substantially instructional. The Court reasoned that the secretaries performed only
incidental and occasional duties relating to students and did not consult with teachers to develop
ways to enable students to perform better in the classroom, as would be the case with instructional
support. Further, the Court held that the Commission did not err by finding that the parties were not
required to bargain over the subcontracting of the secretaries’ services under 8 15(3)(f) of PERA and
agreed that the employer did not repudiate any applicable contractual language.

In dissent, Judge Borrello found that the Commission erred by finding that the secretaries provided
non-instructional support services. Judge Borrello reasoned that the Commission’s holding that
instructional support services were only those services in which the support services provided were
substantially instructional to be inconsistent with § 15(3)(f) of PERA. He added that the
Commission’s application of its “substantially instructive” test to the secretaries negated the word
“support” from the phrase “non-instructional support staff” as found in § 15(3)(f) of PERA, and
therefore, led to an erroneous legal conclusion. Judge Borrello concluded that the question of
whether the secretaries provided instructional support or noninstructional support is determined by,
whether the secretaries provide support for someone performing instructional services or
noninstructional services.

Application for leave to appeal was filed with the Michigan Supreme Court on February 9, 2015

b. Mount Pleasant Public Schools—and-Michigan AFSCME Council 25,
AFL-CIO and its affiliated Local 2310, and Lakeview Community Schools-
and-Lakeview Educational Support Personnel Association/MEA/NEA,
Court of Appeals Nos. 304326 and 304342, issued October 15, 2013

MERC Case Nos. C10 C-059 and C10 E-104; issued May 11, 2011; 25
MPER 37

The Court of Appeals affirmed MERC’s dismissal of unfair labor practice charges alleging that the
respondents violated their duty to bargain when they refused to bargain over procedures for bidding
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on the subcontracting of noninstructional support services pursuant to section 15(3)(f) of PERA,
MCL 423.215(3)(f).

On March 15, 2010, Mt. Pleasant Public Schools (Mt. Pleasant) issued a request for proposal (RFP)
for professional cleaning services for many of the locations within the district, including those
already staffed by AFSCME 2310 members. AFSCME demanded to negotiate over the bidding
procedure, but Mt. Pleasant denied its request. Consequently, AFSCME filed a charge against Mt.
Pleasant alleging that it violated its duty to bargain under PERA by denying AFSCME an equal
opportunity to bid on professional cleaning services.

On January 22, 2010, Lakeview Community Schools (Lakeview) provided prospective bidders with
an RFP to notify them that it was seeking bids for student transportation services. On January 25,
2010, LESPA submitted a demand to bargain on the bidding-process terms, which Lakeview
declined. LESPA then submitted a “renewed” demand to bargain over the bidding-process terms, as
well as a demand to bargain over the decision to subcontract and the effects of subcontracting
transportation. Lakeview also declined these requests. Consequently, LESPA filed a charge against
Lakeview alleging that Lakeview violated PERA in that it denied LESPA the opportunity to bidon a
transportation contract on an equal basis as other bidders, and refused to bargain.

The ALJ issued show cause orders in both cases. After holding a hearing in which both cases were
consolidated, the ALJ recommended dismissal of the charges. MERC affirmed the ALJ’s Decision
and Recommended Order on exceptions.

On appeal, the charging parties argued that MERC: (1) misinterpreted Section 15(3)(f); (2)
erroneously shifted the burden of proof to the charging parties to demonstrate that they were not
provided with an equal opportunity to bid; and (3) failed to support its findings with substantial
evidence. In addition, AFSCME argued that MERC erroneously denied its motion to reopen the
record.

The Court of Appeals found that the plain language of section 15(3)(f) prohibits collective
bargaining over four subjects: (1) the decision to contract, (2) the procedures for obtaining the
contract, (3) the identity of the third party, and (4) the impact of the contract. The Court, however,
further noted that if the bargaining unit is not allowed an opportunity to bid on an equal basis, then
those four subjects are no longer prohibited from collective bargaining. If, on the other hand, the
bargaining unit is given an opportunity to bid on an equal basis, then there can be no bargaining over
the four subjects.

The charging parties argued that MERC erroneously shifted the burden of proof to them to prove
that they were not provided with an opportunity to bid on an equal basis as the other bidders.
However, the Court disagreed, noting that it was not sufficient for the charging parties to merely
allege that they were not afforded an opportunity to bid on an equal basis. Indeed, the charging
parties were obligated to provide the factual allegations necessary to establish their claim.
Consequently, the Court held that MERC did not err by requiring the charging parties to establish
that they were denied an equal bidding opportunity.

The Court found that substantial evidence supported MERC’s findings that the statute does not
require a public school employer to provide an RFP “that is designed for response by a bargaining
unit or a labor organization” and that a bargaining unit will often have to “act in the manner of” a
third-party contractor when bidding pursuant to an RFP seeking bids for noninstructional support
services. Similarly, the Court found sufficient evidence to support MERC’s conclusion that charging
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parties could not complain that they were not provided with an opportunity to bid on equal basis
because neither charging party submitted a proper bid.

The Court also rejected AFSCME’s argument that MERC erroneously denied its motion to reopen
the record. The Court found that MERC’s decision regarding whether to reopen the record was
discretionary, and that MERC did not abuse its discretion in denying AFSCME’s motion.

The Michigan Supreme Court denied the charging parties’ applications for leave to appeal May 2,
2014 in a seven to two split decision because the Court was not persuaded that it should review the
questions presented.

2. Significant MERC Cases

a. Tri County Area Schools -and- Tri County Custodial/Maintenance
Association, MEA/NEA, Case No. C13 E-081, issued February 12, 2015

Topics: Discrimination; Subcontracting; Anti-Union Animus; 815(3)(f); Noninstructional Support
Services; Duty to Bargain; Direct Dealing.

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found — Charging Party Failed to Establish a Prima Facie Case of
Discrimination; Respondent had No Duty to Bargain Over Whether to Subcontract Bargaining Unit
Work; Charging Party Failed to Demonstrate a Precondition to Bargaining in Violation of
810(1)(e);A Precondition Implies That one Party Must do Something Before the Other Party Will
Bargain and Union Did Not Identify Such a Condition; Charging Party Failed to Demonstrate That
Anti-Union Animus was a Motivating or Substantial Factor in Respondent’s Decision to Subcontract
Bargaining Unit Work; Charging Party Failed to Show Unequal Opportunity To Bid on Bargaining
Unit Work; In Order to Bid on a Contract on an Equal Basis as Other Bidders, the Union Must
Submit a Bid That Complies With the Request for Proposals; No Direct Dealing is Present When
The Respondent’s Statements Were Not Made for the Purpose of Establishing or Changing Wages,
Hours and Terms and Conditions of Employment and are Not Made to Undercut the Union’s Role in

Bargaining.

In its decision, the Commission agreed with the ALJ that the charging party failed to establish a
prima facie case of discrimination or to prove anti-union animus. In addition, the charging party
failed to demonstrate that the respondent violated its duty to bargain in good faith or engaged in
direct dealing. The Commission also agreed that the charging party did not demonstrate that it was
denied an opportunity to bid on an equal basis as other bidders.

The charging party represented custodial and maintenance employees. Pursuant to the collective
bargaining agreement, there was an annual seniority-based bidding system for certain jobs. The
respondent wished to eliminate this system, in part, to cut costs. The respondent issued a Request for
Proposals for a contract to perform custodial and maintenance services. The charging party
submitted a bid but it was rejected because it did not meet the requirement that bidders include
estimated costs for services on a Proposal Pricing Form. The School Board selected another bidder
to perform the bargaining unit work.

During bargaining for a successor agreement, the respondent made a proposal that it would not
subcontract four of the seven bargaining unit positions if the union would agree to eliminate
seniority-based bidding for job assignments so the respondent could assign jobs based on each
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employee’s qualifications. The union rejected the offer. Three union members met separately with
their supervisor to review their performance evaluations. During each meeting, the supervisor stated
that “if they didn’t allow the District the ability to place them where we thought they could benefit
us, they could be outsourced.” When the respondent ultimately subcontracted the bargaining unit
work, all but one of the seven members was laid off.

In its exceptions, the charging party argued that the ALJ erred in finding that: the respondent’s
decision to subcontract was not motivated by anti-union animus, the respondent did not bargain in
bad faith, the respondent did not engage in direct dealing, and that it was afforded an equal
opportunity to bid on the subcontracting of bargaining unit work.

Section 15(3)(f) of PERA prohibits collective bargaining over the decision of whether or not to
contract with a third party so long as the bargaining unit is given an opportunity to bid on the
contract on an equal basis as other bidders. The Commission agreed with the ALJ that, because the
union’s bid stated that it was not bidding as a third party contractor, and that if its bid were accepted
the respondent would remain the employer, the bid did not comply with the RFP. The bid was also
non-compliant because it did not include estimated costs. The Commission found that the union was
given an opportunity to bid on an equal basis.

The union also claimed that the respondent set preconditions to bargaining by informing the union,
at the first bargaining session, that the Board had made the decision to subcontract unit work. The
union argued that this precondition demonstrated that the respondent had no desire to reach an
agreement. However, the Commission agreed with the ALJ that because the respondent had no duty
to bargain over whether to subcontract, it did not set a precondition to bargaining.

The charging party also took exception to the to the ALJ’s finding that the respondent’s decision to
subcontract was not motivated by anti-union animus. An employer’s decision to subcontract
noninstructional support services, even if not subject to a duty to bargain, may nevertheless be
unlawful if motivated by anti-union animus. However, the Commission agreed with the ALJ that the
union did not offer sufficient evidence from which to make a reasonable inference that
discrimination was a substantial or motivating factor in the respondent’s decision to subcontract.
The Commission found that the respondent’s desire to match employee skill sets with specific job
requirements, and its need to reduce costs, were legitimate business concerns and it was those
concerns that motivated the decision.

Finally, the Commission agreed that the respondent did not engage in direct dealing. It agreed with
the ALJ that the supervisor’s comments during performance evaluations were merely the supervisor
stating his opinion regarding the respondent’s business concerns. The comments did not indicate that
the supervisor was trying to circumvent negotiations or undercut the union’s role. Additionally, the
supervisor was not the decision maker; the decision to subcontract was made by the School Board.

b. Port Huron Area School District-and-Port Huron Education Association,
Case No. C10 J-255, issued November 19, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; Mandatory Subjects of Bargaining; Subcontracting; Information Request.

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found-Employer did not violate § 10(1)(e) when it used the St. Clair
County Reqgional Services Association (RESA) to perform bargaining unit work formerly performed
by school psychologists; Employer did not violate its duty to bargain by refusing to provide
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Charging Party with accurate and timely information about the alleged subcontracting of unit work
or violate PERA by working with the RESA to privatize instructional bargaining unit work.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s decision finding that the employer had not breached its duty to
bargain. The Commission agreed with the ALJ’s conclusion that the employer did not violate
810(1)(e) of PERA when it used the St. Clair County Regional Services Association (RESA) to
perform bargaining unit work formerly performed by school psychologists. The Commission also
agreed with the ALJ’s conclusion that the respondent did not violate 810(1)(e) by failing or refusing
to provide the charging party with the information it requested relating to the transfer of the
psychologists’ positions to the RESA.

The charging party and the respondent were parties to a 2007 collective bargaining agreement that
covered six school psychologists and expired on August 15, 2010. In late 2009, the respondent
began to look for ways of generating cost savings, including using the RESA to provide
psychological services to its students.

On April 29, 2010, after discovering that building position allocations for the following school year
did not include any school psychologists, the charging party’s executive director wrote to the
respondent to request information relating to the potential transfer of school psychologists. The
respondent’s finance director replied and indicated that there was no evidence to support the claim
that these positions were being transferred to another entity.

On May 18, 2010, the six school psychologists employed by the respondent received notice that they
would be laid off at the end of the 2009-2010 school year.

On June 16, 2010, the charging party again wrote the respondent to request information relating to
the transfer of school psychologists to the RESA. The respondent, however, again denied that it was
transferring school psychologists to the RESA but admitted that it was seeking to provide the
services in an alternative manner.

On August 9, 2010, the respondent’s School Board passed a resolution authorizing the respondent to
contract with the RESA to provide “psychological and evaluative” services to special education
students for the 2010-2011 school year.

On August 25, 2010, the charging party sent another request for information regarding the possible
transfer of psychologist duties. The respondent replied and admitted that it intended to use the
RESA to provide the psychological services but invited the charging party to bid on providing the
services itself.

On September 10, 2010, the respondent’s Board approved a “Service Agreement” between the
RESA and the respondent under which the RESA would hire outside contractors to provide
psychological evaluations and to test the respondent’s special education students.

As a result, the charging party filed the unfair labor practice charge involved in this dispute.

In recommending that the unfair labor practice charge be dismissed, the ALJ found that, under the
Michigan Supreme Court’s decision in Bay City Educ Ass'n v Bay City Public Sch, the respondent
did not have an obligation under PERA to bargain with the charging party over the decision to enter
into an arrangement with the RESA to provide psychological evaluations and testing for the
respondent’s special education students. The ALJ also held that the respondent did not violate
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PERA by refusing to provide the charging party with information about the subcontracting of unit
work.

On exceptions, the charging party argued that the ALJ erred by concluding that the respondent had
no PERA obligation to bargain with the charging party over the decision to enter into an
arrangement with the RESA and that the ALJ erred by concluding that the respondent did not violate
PERA by refusing to provide the charging party with information regarding the subcontracting of
unit work.

The Commission rejected the charging party’s exceptions. The Commission noted that, under §
1751 of the School Code, MCL § 380.1751(1), a local school district may either operate special
education programs directly, “contract” with its ISD for the delivery of special education programs
and services or utilize a combination of these alternatives. Consequently, once a local board
transfers responsibility to its ISD, the ISD controls the manner in which the work is performed. the
respondent’s decision to contract with RESA to provide psychological evaluations and testing for
special education students was therefore an educational policy decision as provided for by MCL
380.1751 and not subject to a duty to bargain.

The Commission also rejected the charging party’s argument that the respondent violated PERA
when it failed to provide the charging party with the specific information it requested by letters dated
April 29, 2010, June 16, 2010, and August 25, 2010. The Commission held that the duty to furnish
information is predicated on the duty to bargain. Consequently, where there is no duty to bargain,
there is no duty to furnish information.

Although the charging party further alleged that the respondent violated PERA when it purportedly
conspired with the RESA to evade the employment protections provided in §1742 of the School
Code, the Commission agreed with the ALJ’s conclusion that PERA does not provide a cause of
action for conspiracy or for conspiracy to violate another statute.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.

c. Reese Public School District-and-Reese Professional Support Personnel
Association, MEA/NEA, Case No. C11 1-155, issued May 17, 2013

Topics: Duty to Bargain; Prohibited Subjects of Bargaining; Section 15(3)(f); Noninstructional
Support Services

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found — Respondent had No Duty to Bargain over a Prohibited Subject
of Bargaining; Respondent’s Decision to use Outside Contractor to Perform Secretarial Services
Formerly Performed by Bargaining Unit Employees was a Prohibited Subject of Bargaining Under
8 15(3)(f); Work Contracted Out was Not Substantially Instructional and, therefore, Constituted
Noninstructional Support Services.

The Commission dismissed the charge because the charging party failed to establish that the
employer violated its duty to bargain.

Without bargaining with the charging party, the respondent decided to obtain secretarial services
from a private company and to lay off six bargaining unit secretaries. The secretaries performed
numerous clerical and other tasks including: maintaining and reporting student attendance and
enrollment records; ordering and maintaining an inventory of office and classroom supplies;
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administering first aid to students; proctoring exams; and supervising student detentions and in-
school suspensions. Subsequently, the charging party filed a charge alleging that the respondent
violated its duty to bargain under § 10(1)(e) of PERA by subcontracting the secretarial services
previously performed by members of the bargaining unit.

The ALJ disagreed, finding that the secretaries employed by the respondent provided
noninstructional support services within the meaning of § 15(3)(f) of PERA. Based on that finding,
the ALJ held that the respondent’s decision to subcontract the work was a prohibited subject of
bargaining, over which the respondent had no duty to bargain.

On exceptions, the charging party contended that the ALJ erred in refusing to recognize the
distinction between instructional services and instructional support services under 8§ 15(3)(f) and
further erred in concluding that the duties of the secretaries were not instructional in nature.
According to the charging party, whether support services were instructional or noninstructional
should be determined based on whether the professional staff members who receive secretarial
assistance provide instructional or noninstructional services. The Commission disagreed, noting that
the term “noninstructional” modifies “support services” in 8 15(3)(f) and that the terms
“noninstructional” and “instructional” in this context describe the kind of support services provided
not the kind of professional who is assisted by the support services. The Commission further noted
that instructional support services are only those services in which the support services provided are
substantially instructional. Consequently, the Commission agreed with the ALJ that the respondent
had not violated § 10(1)(e) of PERA when it decided to obtain secretarial services from a private
company and to lay off six bargaining unit secretaries without bargaining with the charging party.

In a split decision, issued December 30, 2014, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Commission’s
decision. ( See summary above under Appellate Decision.) This case is currently on appeal to the
Michigan Supreme Court.

F. Information requests

a. Wayne County —and- Michigan AFSCME Council 25 and its Affiliated
Local 25, Case No: C13 E-090, issued September 26, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; Information Request; Confidentiality

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found: ALJ Erred by Finding That Respondent Violated its Duty to
Bargain With Charging Party by Refusing to Supply an Unredacted Copy of a Color Photograph
Related to an Employee’s Discipline; Respondent was Justified in Attempting to Preserve
Complainant’s Privacy and the Confidentiality of Her Photo by Requesting that Charging Party
Sign a Non-Dissemination Agreement; Respondent’s Offer to Permit Release of the Redacted Photo
After Receiving a Signed Non-Dissemination Agreement Satisfied Charging Party’s Information
Request; PERA Does Not Require Employer to Provide Physical Copies of Information to Satisfy its
Duty to Bargain. Dissenting Commissioner: An Unredacted Color Copy of the Photograph Was
Essential to the Charging Party's Processing of the Grievance and Should Have Been Provided by

Respondent.
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In its Decision and Order, the Commission reversed the ALJ’s finding that the respondent breached
its duty to bargain by refusing to supply a copy of a photograph, related to an employee’s discipline,
to the charging party.

The charging party’s bargaining unit member, Myers, allegedly assaulted an employee (complainant)
of a pizza restaurant while he was conducting an inspection. A witness stated that Myers placed his
hands around the neck of the complainant, causing a red mark. The complainant provided the
respondent with a written statement and a color photograph that purportedly showed the red marks
around her neck. The respondent suspended Myers for twenty days. The charging party filed a
grievance over Myers’ discipline.

At the disciplinary hearing, the respondent showed the charging party a color photograph of the
marks on the complainant’s neck and written witness statements. The charging party requested the
information from the respondent in order to process its grievance. The respondent permitted the
charging party to view the original photograph and agreed only to supply a redacted photo
eliminating the complainant’s face to protect her privacy. Additionally, the respondent stated it
would only release the redacted photograph if the charging party signed a non-dissemination
agreement to limit viewing of the photo to union representatives, experts, witnesses or investigators.
The charging party refused to sign the non-dissemination agreement because it had never been
required to do so in the past.

The ALJ found that the respondent violated its duty to bargain by refusing to supply the charging
party with an unredacted copy of the photograph of Complainant’s injury.

On exceptions, the Commission Majority agreed with the respondent that by affording the charging
party multiple opportunities to view the original color photograph, and by agreeing to release the
redacted photograph upon receipt of a signed a non-dissemination agreement, it fulfilled its duty to
bargain. The Majority agreed with the respondent that the case should have been evaluated under
the analysis set forth in Detroit Edison Co v NLRB, 440 US 301 (1979), where the employer was
found to have no obligation to provide information to the union because it demonstrated the need for
confidentiality regarding employee tests and answer sheets to protect the integrity of the test. The
Commission determined that, based on the ruling in Detroit Edison, the respondent was justified in
trying to preserve the complainant’s privacy and the confidentiality of the photograph.

In determining that the respondent had a legitimate concern about the potential liability that could
result if the photograph ended up in the wrong hands, the Commission Majority found that the
respondent was also justified in insisting on the signing of a non-dissemination agreement. The
Commission found that the respondent’s actions in showing the charging party the photograph, and,
its offer to release a redacted version of the photo upon receipt of a signed non-dissemination
agreement, fulfilled its obligation to provide the information requested by the charging party, and
therefore, did not violate its duty to bargain.

Commission Chair, Edward Callaghan, dissented from the Majority, reasoning that the respondent
breached its duty to bargain by refusing to supply an unredacted copy of the photograph to the
charging party. Chair Callaghan stated that the color copy of the photograph was essential to the
processing of the charging party’s grievance since the marks on the complainant’s neck were the
basis for Myers’ discipline. Further, Chair Callaghan stated that since the charging party’s
representatives had already met with the Complainant, those representatives would have been
familiar with her appearance, so a redacted copy of the photograph was unwarranted. Moreover,
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there is no evidence that the complainant imposed conditions on the use or disclosure of the
photograph when she provided it to the respondent, and there are no any indications in the record
that she expressed concerns about her privacy. Therefore, Chair Callaghan noted that this case is
distinguishable from Detroit Edison because the evidence does not support the respondent's assertion
of an overriding, legitimate interest in the complainant's privacy which mandates withholding a copy
of the photograph or requiring a non-dissemination agreement. Lastly, Chair Callaghan concluded
that the respondent had no reason to believe that the charging party would have misused
complainant’s photograph.

b. County of Macomb —and- Michigan AFSCME, Council 25, AFL-CIO, and
its Affiliated Local 411, Case No. C11 L-215, issued September 26, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; Information request; Confidentiality; FOIA

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found: ALJ Erred by Finding Respondent Violated Duty to Bargain by
Failing to Provide Written Interview Questions Used for Promotional Position; Interview Questions
are Analogous to Test Questions, Which an Employer May Keep Confidential; Charging Party
Failed to Show that it was Necessary for It to Have Copies of the Interview Questions to Carry Out
Its Statutory Duties; Respondent Promptly Objected to the Request for Interview Questions from
Charging Party; PERA Does not Require Employer To Provide Physical Copies of the Interview
Questions; Respondent’s Offer Permitting Charging Party to See Questions Without Providing
Physical Copy Was Reasonable and Protected the Confidentiality of the Interview Questions.

The Commission reversed the ALJ’s finding that the respondent violated its duty to bargain by
refusing to provide the charging party with copies of employment interview questions.

The respondent’s Department of Facilities and Operations was seeking to fill the promotional
position of Custodian I. The respondent interviewed five individuals for the position, including
Green, a member of the bargaining unit represented by the charging party. Upon completion of the
interview process, Green was not selected for the Custodian | position. As a result of Green’s denial,
the charging party filed a grievance contending that pursuant to the terms of the parties’ collective
bargaining agreement, Green, who met the posted qualifications and had the highest seniority,
should have received the position. Arguing that the interview of Green was subjective, the charging
party requested a copy of the interview questions from respondent, as well as any written notes the
interviewers made during Green’s interview. Upon the respondent’s refusal to provide physical
copies of the interview questions and requested other documentation, the charging party filed its
unfair labor practice charge against the respondent.

The ALJ agreed with the charging party and found that the respondent was obligated to supply the
requested information in order for the charging party to move forward in processing its grievance
involving Green. The ALJ found that while the Michigan Freedom of Information Act (FOIA),
MCL 15.243 provides for some exceptions to the rules surrounding providing information to
parties’, it did not mean that a public employer may not be required to provide that information to
the union that represents its employees under PERA. The ALJ concluded that the respondent did not
assert a legitimate and substantial interest in keeping the information confidential, and violated it
duty to bargain to failing to provide the interview questions and notes to the union.
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In its exceptions, the respondent claimed that the ALJ erred by ordering it to disclose the written
interview questions to the charging party, and by failing to find respondent’s offer to permit the
charging party to review, but not photocopy, the interview questions to be sufficient. The
respondent maintained that the interview questions were confidential and that it was exempt from
providing them under § 13(1)(k), (1), and (m) of FOIA.

The Commission agreed with respondent, and found its exceptions to be meritorious. The
Commission disagreed with the ALJ’s rejection of respondent’s offer to compromise with the
charging party as untimely and insufficient, as the respondent promptly objected to the charging
party’s information request. The Commission concluded that respondent’s offer to permit the
charging party to physically see, but not photocopy, the interview questions was reasonable, and
reasoned that the offer both satisfied the charging party’s information request, and preserved the
confidentiality of the interview questions by ensuring they were not shared with bargaining unit
members outside of the union’s leadership. The Commission noted that under PERA, the respondent
was only required to offer the information for review, as it did. Moreover, the charging party failed
to explain why the physical copies of the questions or interview notes were necessary.

In supporting respondent’s position that the interview questions were exempt from disclosure under
FOIA, the Commission reasoned the ALJ’s conclusion that interview questions and “test questions,”
as provided under § 13(1)(k) of FOIA, were not related was unfounded. The Commission found that
interview questions were analogous to test questions that help the employer to discern an applicant’s
qualifications for the position. Further, the Commission found the interview questions to fall within
the phrase “...other examination instruments or data used to administer...public employment...” and
were further protected under FOIA because of their confidentiality. Therefore, in reversing the
ALJ’s ruling, the Commission found that the respondent did not violate its duty to bargain with the
charging party by failing to provide the written interview questions and notes as requested. The
unfair labor practice charge was dismissed.

G. Other Alleged Breaches of the Duty to Bargain.

1. Appellate Decision

a. Wayne County —and—- AFSCME Council 25, Court of Appeals No. 303672,
issued February 13, 2014

MERC Case No. C10 A-024, issued March 29, 2011, 24 MPER 25

In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed MERC’s finding that Wayne County
violated §10(1)(e) of PERA.

The parties’ collective bargaining agreement expired in 2008. Fact-finding proceedings had been
pending since September 1, 2009, and were pending as of January 22, 2010, when the County
informed employees that they would be laid off for one day each week. On summary disposition,
the ALJ found that the County violated its duty to bargain by unilaterally reducing, from five to four,
the number of days in the workweek. On exceptions by the County, MERC found no merit to the
County’s arguments that the ALJ had been biased and made procedural errors. MERC affirmed the
ALJ’s decision.

On appeal, the County argued that MERC erred in finding that its one day per week “lay off” of
employees was a breach of its duty to bargain. The County contended that the matter involved a
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good faith dispute over contract interpretation, not an unfair labor practice. It argued that the
employer possesses the exclusive right to manage the affairs of the County, which includes the right
to select the manner in which employees are laid off. Therefore, the County argued, these layoffs
were not a mandatory subject of bargaining. However, the Court majority agreed with MERC that
the County did not lay off employees; the County merely shortened their workweek.

The parties’ collective bargaining agreement defines “layoff” as “a separation from employment as
the result of lack of work or lack of funds.” The County claimed that a budget crisis allowed it to lay
off employees under this definition. MERC concluded that a “separation from employment”
requires the termination of the contractual relationship. Here, there was no true separation from
employment. Employees retained their positions but their hours were reduced. Although the
County’s management retained the ability to implement layoffs, it lacked the authority to cut
employees’ hours in violation of the collective bargaining agreement.

After a collective bargaining agreement expires, neither party may unilaterally alter terms or
conditions of employment, unless the parties have reached an impasse in their negotiations for a new
contract and have not begun the fact-finding process. An employer that takes unilateral action on a
mandatory subject of bargaining prior to impasse or while in fact finding commits an unfair labor
practice. In this case, the parties had reached impasse, but had agreed to commence fact finding
before the County took action to reduce the workweek. Thus, the Court majority held that MERC
did not err in finding that the County committed an unfair labor practice.

On appeal, the County contended that the ALJ had improperly required it to affirmatively prove that
it had not committed an unfair labor practice. After reviewing the pleadings, the ALJ concluded that
the undisputed material facts supported the union’s contention that the County committed an unfair
labor practice. The ALJ issued a show cause order requiring the County to assert facts and legal
arguments supporting its contention that it had not breached its duty to bargain when it reduced the
workweek from five days to four. The ALJ cautioned the County that if its response to the order did
not assert and factually support-a valid defense, a decision recommending partial summary
disposition would be issued without a hearing or other proceedings. The Court held that this did not
shift the burden of proof — the show cause order merely advised the County that the union had
satisfied its burden of proof and invited the County to put forth a contradictory view.

The County also argued that it was not given the opportunity to present oral argument on the issue of
summary disposition. MERC’s rules provide that parties must request oral argument. The County
did not request oral argument, and it was not precluded from requesting oral argument. MERC did
not deny the County the opportunity for oral argument. Thus, there was no procedural error.

The County further claimed error resulted from the ALJ’s failure to decide its motion for
disqualification. The Court majority found that MERC correctly determined that it would not have
been necessary for the ALJ to recuse himself. The County’s argument that the ALJ was biased is,
essentially, that the ALJ made procedural errors and reached the incorrect conclusion. This is not
enough to establish bias. Even erroneous adverse rulings against a party do not establish bias.

The opinion by the concurring member of the Court focused on the specific language of the
collective bargaining agreement that stated that the workweek consists of five eight-hour days. That
provision was not the issue at impasse, and the union did not make a clear and unmistakable waiver
of the provision. Although a broader provision allowed the County to manage the affairs of the
employer, the County’s action was in clear violation of the more specific provision that
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unambiguously provided the standard for a workweek. The wording in the narrower provision in the
collective bargaining agreement precludes the County’s reliance on the broader provision in support
of its action of reducing the workweek. The concurring member of the Court noted that even as a
matter of contract interpretation, the County could not have laid off the employees for one day each
week without breaching the contract.

2. Significant MERC Cases

a. City of Lowell —and- International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers
(IBEW), Local Union 876, Case No. C13 C-050, issued January 28, 2015

Topics: Due Process; Duty to Bargain; Coercion; Discrimination; Retaliation; Jurisdiction

Unfair Labor Practice Found: Respondent did not bargain in good faith and failed to timely provide
relevant information to the Union; Respondent coerced and retaliated against individuals engaged
in protected, concerted activity by denying one-time pay adjustment to all full time employees except
those who joined the Union; Respondent interfered with protected rights by prohibiting bargaining
unit members from making public statements concerning wages and conditions of employment;
Commission not authorized to police private contracts.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s finding that the respondent interfered with and coerced union
members in their exercise of PERA protected rights in violation of § 10(1)(a), retaliated against
union members for engaging in protected activity in violation of § 10(1)(c), refused to bargain in
good faith, and failed to timely provide relevant information upon request, in violation of § 10(1)(e).
The Commission reversed the ALJ’s finding that the respondent violated PERA by failing to provide
certification based pay increases.

In late 2011, the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (union) was certified to represent a
unit of the City of Lowell’s (respondent) employees, and the parties were in the process of
negotiating their first contract. Before joining the union, respondent’s water department employees,
including P, regularly received a wage increase upon completion of a new level of State licensure,
pursuant to signed agreements between individual employees, their supervisor and the former City
Manager. After joining the union, P did not receive a pay increase when he advanced to an F-4
license.

In addition to the certification based wage increase, all full-time city employees, except the Police
Chief and City Manager, received a one-time pay adjustment of $1,000.00. The employees who
joined the union were denied the pay adjustment. When approached by P and union steward B, the
City Manager contended that because the parties were engaged in bargaining, and because wages
were a mandatory subject of bargaining, the respondent was precluded from issuing any pay
increases. B asked to speak to City Council regarding wages and the City Manager prohibited him
from speaking to City Council. In addition, the union requested information relating to the
authorization for the pay adjustments and the respondent failed to timely provide the information.

During contract negotiations, the City Manager insisted that he be the final decision maker on all
grievances, rather than a neutral arbitrator. He also insisted that all union employees be at-will, that
the respondent be allowed to replace union employees with part-time non-union employees, and that
the respondent have the right to subcontract bargaining unit work without limitation. The ALJ found
that the City Manager’s conduct demonstrated bad faith bargaining by the respondent. The
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Commission agreed, and found that the City Manager’s proposals at the bargaining table
demonstrated a failure to actively engage in the bargaining process with an open mind and a sincere
desire to reach an agreement. The Commission also agreed with the ALJ that the City Manager’s
proposals were far outside the norm in public sector labor law and were intended to avoid reaching a
contract because “a contract based on such terms would be tantamount to no contract at all.” The
ALJ determined that the respondent violated 8 10(1)(a) of PERA when it attempted to prevent union
members from speaking to the City Council. The Commission agreed, finding that prohibiting union
members from speaking to the City Council, or from making other public comments intended to seek
public support for the union’s position, was an attempt to restrain protected, concerted activity.

The Commission also affirmed the ALJ’s finding that the respondent violated § 10(1)(a) & (c) of
PERA when it failed to provide the $1,000.00 pay adjustment to the employees who joined the
union. The Commission held that while the respondent had no duty to grant the adjustment to any
employees, once it chose to, it could not lawfully deny the adjustment to union employees, and then
blame the union for that denial. The ALJ found that the refusal to give the pay adjustment to union
members was motivated by the respondent’s desire to retaliate against them for joining the union and
for engaging in protected activity. She also found that it was intended to deter future protected
activity. The Commission agreed.

The Commission agreed with the ALJ that by failing to timely respond to the union’s request for
information relating to the pay adjustments, the respondent violated § 10(1)(e) of PERA.

The respondent contended that the ALJ violated its right to due process by making a finding on
whether it was lawful to prohibit union members from speaking at City Council meetings because
that allegation was not included in the charge. The Commission disagreed, finding that deciding the
issue was not prejudicial because the ALJ heard testimony and received evidence directly pertaining
to the issue.

The Commission disagreed with the ALJ’s finding concerning the licensure based hourly pay raises.
It agreed with the respondent that those raises were based on individual contracts between the
respondent and each employee and held that it does not police private contracts or remedy breaches
thereof.

b. Maud Preston Palenske Memorial Library-and-AFSCME Council 25,
Local 2757.09 and Local 2757.10, Case No. C12 K-223, issued April 10, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; Repudiation; Unilateral Change; Grievance Arbitration; Arbitrability

Unfair Labor Practice Found- Respondent Repudiated Contract by Refusing to Process Grievance;
Charging Party’s Notice of Intent to Negotiate was too Ambiquous to Terminate Contract;
Therefore, Grievance Arbitration Provision of Contract is still Binding

The union asserted that the employer violated 8 10 of PERA by repudiating the terms of its contract
with charging party. The contract had an expiration date of April 30, 2012 and would renew
automatically “unless either party hereto gives the other party at least sixty (60) days’ written notice
... before the end of the term of this Agreement.” A letter given to respondent by charging party’s
representative on March 20, 2012 stated, in pertinent part, that “... we hereby serve notice that the
Local union wishes to engage in negotiations with the employer or its authorized representatives.”
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After the parties began negotiating, charging party drafted, and both parties signed, a document
entitled “Ground Rules.” That document stated, in pertinent part: “The union is here to negotiate
with the employer in good faith to reach an agreement which is acceptable to both. The Current
Agreement will terminate in April 2012 and the parties are here by mutual agreement to seek the
modification of, or changes to, the Collective Bargaining Agreement.” The Ground Rules also stated
that “[i]f either party wishes to terminate the Agreement after the expiration date they shall provide
thirty (30) days written notice.”

The ALJ found that neither the letter nor the Ground Rules were clear and explicit notices of intent
to terminate the collective bargaining agreement. Because the agreement remained in effect,
respondent violated its duty to bargain in good faith when it refused to process and arbitrate a
grievance filed by charging party.

The Commission found no merit to respondent’s exceptions, which argued that the ALJ erred in
finding that the collective bargaining agreement did not terminate on April 30, 2012. the respondent
also argued that the case relied upon by the ALJ, 36" District Court v AFSCME Council 25, Local
917, 295 Mich App 502 (2012), was distinguishable. The Commission rejected that argument,
finding that the Court’s holding, that a notice to terminate must be clear and explicit, was applicable
to the facts of this case.

c. City of Detroit -and- Police Officers Association of Michigan, Case No. C10
F-146, issued April 25, 2013

Topics: Duty to Bargain; Unilateral Change; Credibility Determination; Burden of Proof

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found — Charging Party Failed to Establish Employer Refused to
Bargain or Otherwise Violated Section 10(1)(e) of PERA; Credibility Determination of ALJ not to be
Disturbed Absent Clear Evidence to the Contrary; Charging Party Failed to Establish Unilateral
Change; Burden of Proof.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s recommendation that the charge against the employer be
dismissed.

Since June 1, 2009, the charging party has represented a bargaining unit of emergency medical
service employees (EMs) employed in the respondent’s fire department. Prior to June 1, 2009,
another labor organization represented these employees. Both the charging party and the respondent
agreed that the collective bargaining agreement between the respondent and the former bargaining
agent would remain in effect while they attempted to negotiate an initial contract.

As part of their job responsibilities, EMs are required to lift and carry individuals who are ill or
injured. Consequently, EMs must demonstrate that they are able to lift at least 100 pounds as a
condition of hire. Subsequent to hire but prior to performing job duties, EMs are required to
complete training. EMs are also required to complete retraining when returning to work after a leave
of absence of more than 30 days. Before the charging party replaced it, the bargaining unit’s former
representative had agreed that a test of lifting ability would be included in the retraining program.

On May 1, 2010, respondent assigned an emergency medical service employee to light duty because
she was unable to complete the test of lifting ability after returning from a leave of absence of more
than 30 days. As a result, charging party took the position that the respondent changed the
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conditions of employment when it required a test of lifting ability of employees undergoing
retraining. On May 7, 2010, the charging party wrote the respondent and demanded bargaining over
this issue.

Subsequently, the charging party filed a charge alleging that the respondent violated its duty to
bargain under § 10(1)(e) by unilaterally requiring bargaining unit members to complete a fitness
evaluation, including a test of lifting capabilities, when undergoing retraining following a leave of
absence.

The ALJ disagreed, finding that the lifting test requirement was not a new requirement because the
bargaining unit’s former representative had agreed to the requirement. The ALJ further found that
the charge did not assert that the respondent failed to bargain over the issue after charging party’s
May 7, 2010 letter.

On exceptions, the charging party contended that the ALJ erred in finding that the former bargaining
agent agreed that the respondent could include a lifting requirement during retraining and erred by
determining that the charge did not assert a refusal to bargain over the lifting requirement. The
Commission found no error by the ALJ, noting that, at the hearing before the ALJ, the evidence
established that some employees were required to perform lifts when returning from an extended
leave while other employees were not. On this basis, the ALJ made a credibility determination and
concluded that the evidence established the inconsistent application of a policy of significant
duration. The Commission further noted that it would not disturb an ALJ’s credibility
determinations in the absence of clear evidence to the contrary and that the ALJ permissibly credited
testimony that the bargaining unit’s former representative had agreed to the lifting requirement in
fitness evaluations. On this basis, the Commission held that the respondent did not make a unilateral
change to the requirements for retraining and therefore did not violate its bargaining obligation.

With respect to the ALJ’s determination that the charge did not assert a refusal to bargain over the
lifting requirement, the Commission held that, even if the charge asserted a refusal to bargain, the
charging party failed to meet its burden of establishing a refusal to bargain. The record established
that the charging party made a demand to bargain over the impact and effect of the lifting
requirement. However, the record contained no evidence regarding the respondent’s response, if
any, to the demand and contained no evidence that the charging party made any effort to pursue its
demand despite the fact that the parties were engaged in contract negotiations. Consequently, the
Commission agreed with the ALJ that the respondent had not violated § 10(1)(e) of PERA and
dismissed the charge.

M1, Unfair Labor Practice Charges Regarding Interference with or
Discrimination for Protected Concerted Activity

A. Alleged Interference with or Discrimination for Protected Concerted Activity

a. Keego Harbor —and- Police Officers Labor Council, Case No. C10 A-008,
issued September 11, 2014

Topics: Discrimination; Protected Concerted Activity; Coercion; Retaliation; Anti-Union Animus

Unfair Labor Practice Found: Employer Violated §10(1)(a)and (c) of PERA When it Threatened,
Suspended for Thirty Days, Laid Off Indefinitely, and Terminated Police Officer in Retaliation for
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Protected Concerted Activity and for Filing Unfair Labor Practice Charge; Employer Violated
§10(1)(e) by Failing to Timely Provide Information to Charging Party Upon Request; Employer
Violated 8§ 10(1)(c) by Placing Restrictions on Police Officer's Off-Duty Practice of Law Three
Weeks After Officer Filed Unfair Labor Practice Charge; Employer did not Violate §10(1)(c) by
Issuing a Five-Day Suspension Before Police Officer Engaged in Protected Concerted Activity, or
When it's City Council Enacted an Ordinance Prohibiting all Police Officers From Off-Duty
Practice of Law.

The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s findings that the respondent violated §10(1)(a) and (c) of
PERA by threatening, suspending, laying off, and eventually terminating a union member for
engaging in protected concerted activity. The Commission also affirmed the ALJ’s finding that the
respondent violated §10(1)(e) of PERA by failing to provide requested information to the charging
party. The Commission reversed the ALJ’s finding that the respondent violated 810(1)(a) and (c) of
PERA by issuing a five-day suspension to the charging party and reversed the ALJ’s finding that the
respondent violated §10(1)(c) of PERA by enacting an ordinance precluding police officers from
practicing law.

The Police Officers Labor Council (charging party) was the exclusive representative of the police
officers in Keego Harbor (respondent). Union member A worked for the respondent as a police
officer. When off-duty, A maintained a private law practice. When hired, A was granted permission
from the Chief of Police to practice law while off-duty and agreed that he would not accept any case
adverse to the interests of the respondent. Several years later H was appointed as the Acting Chief of
Police.

Despite having never been disciplined prior to H’s appointment, A was disciplined by H on four
separate occasions. He received a five day suspension, a thirty day suspension, an indefinite
suspension, and an indefinite layoff.

For one pay period, A’s work schedule was changed and he believed he was entitled to overtime pay.
H met with A and advised him that if he attempted to claim overtime pay, H would initiate discipline
and charge him with fraud. A later met with H and recorded the meeting. During that meeting, H
instructed A’s union representative that he could not participate in any way and repeatedly
threatened A with increased discipline if he filed grievances. Shortly thereafter, H supplied A with a
memorandum setting forth four misconduct charges: the request for overtime, surveillance of a bar,
disobeying a direct order and consulting with the Oakland County Sheriff’s Department regarding H.
H suspended A for five days and A filed a grievance.

The charging party filed an unfair labor practice charge concerning H’s threats and the suspension.
Subsequently, H restricted A’s off-duty employment as an attorney and A filed another grievance.
Sometime later, H received a complaint regarding A’s legal representation of an individual and
ordered A to submit a list of all of his cases within 72 hours. H informed him that if he did not
comply, he would be terminated. H later suspended A for 30 days for failure to submit a complete
list of his clients. After A filed a grievance, H refused to hear the grievance and recommended to the
City Manager that A be fired immediately. The charging party filed an amended unfair labor
practice charge. Consequently, the respondent’s City Council passed an ordinance restricting all
police officers from the off-duty practice of law. A was the only police officer licensed as an
attorney. He ended his law practice and filed another grievance.
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The day before A was to return to work from his 30 day suspension, he was told by H that he was
indefinitely suspended for alleged misuse of his badge. Despite A being cleared of any wrong doing
by the Auburn Hills Police Department for the badge incident, H failed to end the suspension and
return A to work. He later admitted that his actions were partially in response to the charging party
filing grievances and unfair labor practice charges. After grieving the 30 day suspension, A was
placed on an indefinite layoff.

Prior to laying off A, H hired four part-time police officers and retained all four after A’s position
was eliminated. This violated the collective bargaining agreement which stated that the work of a
full-time employee cannot be filled by a part-time employee. When H refused to produce
information regarding the work hours of the part-time officers, the charging party filed a third
amended unfair labor practice charge. In its decision, the Commission agreed with the ALJ that by
failing to provide the requested information, which was relevant to the charging party’s duty to
police the contract, the respondent violated §10(1)(e) of PERA.

The ALJ found that Hurst was motivated by anti-union animus when he threatened A with increased
discipline if he grieved the five day suspension. The Commission agreed with the ALJ that H’s
threats to impose increased discipline constituted unlawful interference and coercion in violation of
810(1)(a) of PERA.

According to the Commission, the thirty day suspension, the indefinite suspension and the layoff
were all in retaliation for A’s protected concerted activity, i.e., the filing of grievances and unfair
labor practice charges. H’s repeated threats to discipline, or to impose more serious discipline if
grievances were filed were found to be evidence of anti-union animus.

The Commission disagreed with the ALJ’s finding that the five day suspension was motivated by
anti-union animus because at the time the suspension was issued, A had not filed a grievance or
engaged in any protected concerted activity. The Commission also disagreed with the ALJ’s finding
that the respondent violated 810(1)(c) of PERA when the City Council enacted an ordinance
prohibiting all police officers from the off-duty practice of law. The Commission found that the
respondent had a reasonable concern over potential liability if its police officers were practicing law,
and determined that passing the ordinance was not done in retaliation for protected concerted
activity.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.

b. Macomb County (Juvenile Justice Center) —and- Christina Peltier, Case
No. CO7 F-122, issued June 11, 2014

Topics: Duty of Fair Representation; Collateral Estoppel; Anti-Union Animus; Retaliation;
Discrimination

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found: Respondent did not Violate PERA by Terminating Charging
Party Due to Her Excessive and Unexcused Absenteeism; Commission Bound by Factual and Legal
Findings Made by Federal Judge Due to Doctrine of Collateral Estoppel; Federal Judge Found that
Respondent had Legitimate, Non-Discriminatory Reasons for Reprimanding and Terminating
Charging Party; Charging Party Failed to Set Forth Facts to Establish Anti-Union Animus.
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The Commission affirmed the ALJ’s finding that the respondent did not violate § 10(1)(a), (c) or (d)
of PERA by terminating the charging party due to her excessive and unexcused absenteeism.

The charging party was employed by the respondent as a Youth Specialist, and was also a member
of the Army National Guard. She was required to attend two weeks of military training every year.
During her employment, the charging party served as a union steward and participated in contract
negotiations. In April 2007, the charging party notified the respondent that her young son was ill
and was granted intermittent FMLA leave until October 20, 2007.

The respondent’s minimum staffing needs, established by the State and the collective bargaining
agreement, required employees to call in when they wished to utilize FMLA time. On many days,
the charging party either called in and reported she would be absent for reasons unrelated to her
FMLA leave, or failed to call in at all. The record indicated that the charging party did not call in to
report absences on thirteen days between May and August 2007. She also called in claiming that
she, and not her son, was ill on ten days between May and September 2007, and called in claiming to
be on military duty on twenty-four days between May and October 2007. The testimony of the
charging party’s commanding officer was that the charging party did not attend military training on
any of those dates. The respondent concluded that the charging party had falsely reported absences
for military service and scheduled a Loudermill hearing.

The charging party received a verbal reprimand for excessive absenteeism after the respondent noted
ten additional days on which she failed to provide medical documentation concerning her son’s
illness. InJanuary 2008, the respondent suspended the charging party without pay for fifteen days.
The charging party did not return to work on January 31, 2008. She was absent without excuse on
fifteen days in February and March 2008. The respondent scheduled another Loudermill hearing to
discuss the charging party’s absenteeism. After the charging party waived her right to the hearing,
the respondent terminated her for excessive and unexcused absenteeism. Her union filed grievances
over the suspension and the discharge; both were denied by an arbitrator.

the charging party filed a complaint in federal court alleging that she was disciplined and terminated
in retaliation for exercising her rights under the Family and Medical Leave Act, 29 U.S.C. §8 2601-
2654 (FMLA) and the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, 38 U.S.C.
88 4301-4334 (USERRA). Judge Gerald Rosen issued an Opinion and Order dismissing her
complaint. The judge ruled that the absences relied upon by the respondent in disciplining and
terminating the charging party were unexcused absences under both FMLA and USERRA. He also
held that the excessive number of absences the charging party accumulated due to reasons unrelated
to either her FMLA leave or her military service constituted a legitimate, non-pretextual and non-
discriminatory reason for her discipline and termination.

The ALJ found that the Commission was bound by Judge Rosen’s findings of fact under the doctrine
of collateral estoppel. The ALJ also found that the discipline and termination were not based on anti-
union animus and were not discriminatory but were based on the charging party’s excessive and
unexcused absenteeism.

In her exceptions, the charging party alleged that the ALJ erred by refusing to admit the testimony of
several Macomb County Commissioners and by failing to consider the entire record in reaching her
decision. the charging party further contended that the ALJ erred by determining that collateral
estoppel applied, and by placing documents from the federal case into the record, arguing that the
ALJ lacked the authority to sua sponte admit evidence.
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The Commission found the charging party’s exceptions to be without merit, and agreed with the ALJ
that the respondent did not violate 8 10(1)(a), (c) or (d) of PERA by terminating the charging party
due to her excessive and unexcused absenteeism. The ALJ found that while the charging party
contacted some Macomb County Commissioners regarding her absences and the discipline imposed
by the respondent, the commissioners played no role in the management of county personnel and
their testimony was irrelevant. The Commission agreed.

Additionally, the Commission affirmed the ALJ’s finding that it was bound by collateral estoppel to
accept the findings of fact made by Judge Rosen, who found that the respondent had a legitimate,
non-pretextual and non-discriminatory reason for the charging party’s progressive discipline and
termination.

The Commission also agreed with the ALJ that the respondent did not demonstrate anti-union
animus when it instructed the charging party that she could not act as union chairperson while on
FMLA leave. Like the ALJ, the Commission also found a lack of anti-union animus by the
respondent when it deducted wages for time the charging party spent on union activities. Neither the
ALJ nor the Commission accepted the charging party’s argument that the respondent failed to
conduct a thorough investigation of the charging party’s harassment claims. Further, the
Commission agreed with the ALJ that a reasonable employee would not interpret comments made
by the respondent at the Loudermill hearing to be coercive or to interfere with the charging party’s
exercise of the rights guaranteed by § 9 of PERA.

c. Grandvue Medical Care Facility-and-Janet Renkiewicz and Tamara Wood,
Case No. C10 C-084, issued December 16, 2013

Topics: Concerted Activity; Discrimination; Interference; § 10(1)(a); Burden of Proof

Unfair labor practice not found- Employer did not violate § 10(1)(a) or (c) when it discharged
Charging Parties; Charging Parties failed to present evidence establishing that Employer
discriminated against either of them for engaging in protected concerted activity; “No Discussion
Order’” issued by Employer was drafted narrowly both in scope and in time and did not restrain or
interfere with protected concerted activity

The employer operates a medical care facility, which includes a unit that focuses on the care of
residents with dementia. The non-supervisory workforce at the facility is in a bargaining unit
represented by the Service Employees International Union (SEIU). Neither of the charging parties,
Renkiewicz and Wood, were in that bargaining unit and were considered at-will employees by the
respondent.

On December 25, 2009, a facility resident alleged that an employee had raped her. She also claimed
that another man who was visiting the facility previously raped her. On January 1, 2010, the same
resident made a similar claim about another employee. Although Renkiewicz and Wood were each
aware of these allegations, neither of them timely reported the resident’s claims.

On January 5, 2010, Facility Administrator Evans became aware of the resident’s December 25,
2009 allegations of abuse and met with Renkiewicz and Wood, as well as two other employees who
were aware of the allegations but did not report them. Evans believed that the facility’s written
policies required an immediate reporting to the state, regardless of the implausibility of the
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allegation. The four employees, however, all asserted that the facility’s written policies only
required the reporting of credible claims of suspected abuse.

Evans then discovered the January 1 allegations made by the same resident against another male
staff member and realized that these allegations also went unreported. As a result, Evans called
Renkiewicz and Wood into his office and advised them that they would be off work until the
investigation was concluded. After Evans took written statements from the charging parties, he
instructed them not to talk to anyone, including each other, about the investigation while they were
off work pending the outcome.

On January 7, 2010, after concluding its investigation, the employer imposed discipline on the four
employees who failed to immediately report the resident’s allegations. Wood and another employee
each received a three-day disciplinary suspension for not following facility procedures. A third
employee was terminated for the same rule violation, with the more severe penalty based on his prior
disciplinary record. Renkiewicz was terminated for her failure to meet work performance standards.

During the investigation of this matter, the employer also attempted to review the email files of the
involved employees and discovered that Wood’s email had more than two thousand non-work
related emails. In view of this discovery, on February 10, 2010, Wood was terminated for her failure
to follow policy and for doing personal business on employer time.

The ALJ found that the charging parties failed to present evidence establishing that the respondent
discriminated against either of them for engaging in protected concerted activity. The ALJ
concluded that the respondent’s decision to discharge both charging parties was based on its
dissatisfaction with their work performance. The ALJ also determined that the “No Discussion
Order” issued by the respondent did not violate § 10 as it was drafted narrowly both in scope and
time and did not interfere with or restrain charging parties from exercising their rights under § 9 of
PERA.

On exceptions, charging parties argued that the ALJ erred in finding that the “No Discussion Order”
was appropriate. Charging parties further argued that the ALJ erred when he concluded that they
failed to present evidence establishing that the respondent discriminated against either of them for
engaging in protected concerted activity.

The Commission disagreed, noting that a review of the record established that there was no evidence
that Renkiewicz engaged in protected concerted activity for which she was subject to discrimination
or retaliation in violation of PERA. Additionally, even if Renkiewicz engaged in protected activity,
the decision by the employer to terminate her was based on its belief that her performance as a
manager was, and had been for some time, deficient.

The Commission also noted that there was no evidence that Wood engaged in protected activity for
which she was subject to discipline. To the contrary, the Commission found that substantial
evidence supported the ALJ’s conclusion that Wood was suspended and later terminated based on
the employer’s belief that she had engaged in workplace misconduct in dereliction of her duty.

The Commission also held that the “No Discussion Order” issued by Facility Administrator Evans
did not violate §10. Although the Commission noted that a broad no-discussion order could have an
unlawful chilling effect on the exercise by employees of their 89 rights, the particular “No
Discussion Order” involved in the present case was narrowly tailored in a manner that would not
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unlawfully chill employees in the exercise of 89 rights. The respondent’s order, therefore, did not
violate §10 of PERA.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Commission’s decision in an unpublished decision issued March
17, 2015.

B. Duty of Fair Representation

a. Taylor School District -and- Taylor Federation of Teachers, AFT, Local
1085 -and- Nancy Rhatigan, Rebecca Metz and Angela Steffke, Case Nos. C13
G-133 & CU13 G-029, issued February 13, 2015

Topics: Standing; Duty of Fair Representation; 2012 PA 349; Contract Duration; Coercion;
Discrimination

Unfair Labor Practice Found: Employer coerced and discriminated against bargaining unit
members by entering into a ten-year Union Security Agreement; Union violated the duty of fair
representation by entering into the ten-year agreement. The agreement compels bargaining unit
members to either join or to financially support the Union

The Commission reversed the ALJ’s finding that the employer did not violate § 10(1)(a) and (c) of
PERA by entering into a ten-year Union Security Agreement. The Commission held that the
agreement coerced charging parties to financially support the union and discriminated against them
in an attempt to encourage membership in a labor organization. The Commission also reversed the
ALJ’s holding that respondent union did not violate § 10(2)(a) and (c) of PERA by entering into the
agreement. The Commission found that the union coerced charging parties in violation of the rights
protected by § 9 of PERA, i.e. the right to refrain from financially supporting a labor organization.
The Commission also determined that the union caused the employer to discriminate against the
charging parties.

The respondents Taylor School District (employer) and Taylor Federation of Teachers (union) were
parties to two separate agreements. The first agreement, dated January 31, 2013 and set to expire
October 1, 2017, contained most of the terms and conditions of employment for the bargaining unit.
The second contract, dated February 7, 2013 and set to expire July 1, 2023, consisted of a Union
Security Agreement requiring bargaining unit members to pay either union dues or union service
fees. Nancy Rhatigan, Rebecca Metz and Angela Steffke (charging parties), members of the
bargaining unit, challenged the Union Security Agreement because they were unwilling to pay dues
or service fees to the union.

The ALJ determined that the agreement was backed by adequate consideration and that the school
district could lawfully set policy for future school boards. In addition, she found that it is not the
Commission’s role to alter a contract or render it invalid. In their exceptions, charging parties
alleged that the ALJ erred by finding that they lacked standing to challenge the consideration for the
contract. They argued that because they were third-party beneficiaries of the contract, they could
challenge it for lack of consideration. They also argued that the ALJ incorrectly determined that a
school board can use a contract to set public policy which future school boards would be obligated to
follow. Charging Parties also contended that the ALJ erred by determining that the union did not
breach its duty of fair representation
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The Commission found that the individual charging parties had standing to challenge all aspects of
the contract except consideration. It also held that the ten-year duration of the Union Security
Agreement was excessive and unreasonable. The Commission agreed with charging parties that the
length of the Union Security Agreement compels bargaining unit members to either financially
support or to remain members of the union. The Commission also determined that respondents
motive in approving the Union Security Agreement was to delay the application of 2012 PA 349 (the
“Freedom to Work” statute) for ten years past its effective date of March 28, 2013. The Commission
noted, however, that the Union Security Agreement was ratified before Act 349 became effective.

The Commission agreed with the ALJ that it is not within its authority to inquire into the adequacy
of consideration for a contractual promise. It also agreed that the fact that the two agreements have
different expiration dates is insufficient, by itself, to render the Union Security Agreement unlawful.

The Commission disagreed with the ALJ’s finding that charging parties did not state a claim for
discrimination. The employer discriminated against them, the Commission determined, because the
Union Security Agreement would impact their wages, as they would be unwillingly forced to pay
agency fees to the union. The employer demonstrated hostility toward charging parties’ protected
rights because the Union Security Agreement coerced them into supporting the union. The
Commission also determined that by imposing a lengthy financial burden on bargaining unit
members in order to avoid the application of Act 349, respondent union acted arbitrarily and
recklessly, in violation of the duty of fair representation.

In dissent, Commissioner Yaw stated that she would hold that individual bargaining unit members
lack standing to challenge the validity of labor contracts and, by granting individual employees
standing, the Commission was overturning long standing precedent and opening the floodgates of
litigation. She cited several prior Commission cases which limited individual employee standing to
bring charges under PERA.

Commissioner Yaw agreed with the majority that the Commission lacked the authority to determine
whether there was adequate consideration for the contract. However, she went on to state that she
found the consideration offered by the union to be adequate. In addition, Commissioner Yaw
believed that the ten-year duration of the contract was neither excessive nor unreasonable. She noted
that in two prior cases, the Commission had found ten-year pension moratorium clauses lawful. She
added that the Commission is not authorized by PERA to police the contents of collective bargaining
agreements or to modify those agreements. Commissioner Yaw agreed with the ALJ that respondent
union did not violate its duty of fair representation by ratifying the Union Security Agreement. She
stated that the union acted in a manner that it believed to be in the best interests of the entire unit.
The fact that three individual charging parties were dissatisfied with the Union Security Agreement,
she stated, does not demonstrate hostility or discrimination by the union.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.

b. Service Employees International Union (SEIU), Local 517M-and-Paula J.
Diem, Case No. CU12 1-041, issued February 13, 2014

Topics: Duty of Fair Representation; Union Dues; Agency Fee; Failure to Appear; Statute of
Limitations; Remedy
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Unfair Labor Practice Found: Respondent Collected Full Dues from Charging Party’s Pay after She
Elected Conversion to Agency Fee Payer Status; Charge Timely Filed; Evidence Supported
Charging Party’s Claim That She Filed Charge within Six Months of Learning of Unlawful
Deductions from Her Pay. Respondent Received Proper Notice of Hearing; Notice of Hearing Was
Sent to Respondent in Same Envelope with Cover Letter Indicating Notice of Hearing Was Enclosed
and Charge, to Which Respondent Filed an Answer; ALJ Exceeded His Authority When He
Recommended Commission Order Respondent to Reimburse Charging Party For Costs Incurred as
a Result of Having to Attend Hearing

In October 2008, charging party submitted an authorization form to the respondent asking for agency
fees to be deducted from her pay instead of full union dues. The respondent acknowledged receipt
of charging party’s request and acknowledged her agency fee payer status in late October 2008.
Subsequently, the respondent sent charging party annual service fee deduction statements indicating
the percentage of union dues charged to agency fee payers. In May 2012, charging party received a
ballot to vote in a union election. She then checked with her employer's payroll department to
confirm that the correct amount for agency fees was being deducted from her wages. She learned
that full union dues continued to be deducted from her pay, instead of the reduced agency fee rate.

The ALJ concluded that the respondent committed an unfair labor practice by deducting full union
dues after charging party had converted to agency fee payer status and found that that the
respondent should repay charging party the full amount of the overpayment. Of the opinion that the
respondent could have resolved the matter prior to the hearing, the ALJ also determined that the
respondent should reimburse charging party for the wages she would have earned had she not missed
work to attend the hearing.

Although the respondent filed an answer to the charge, it did not appear at the hearing. On
exceptions, the respondent asserted that it was not sent notice of the hearing and that its right to due
process was violated. However, the Commission observed that the respondent filed an answer to the
charge, which had been mailed in the same envelope with the notice of hearing and a cover letter
from the ALJ. The ALJ’s letter, dated September 27, 2012, stated that the notice of hearing was
enclosed. The Commission concluded that the September 27 letter notified the respondent that the
hearing had been scheduled. Therefore, the Commission found that even if the notice of hearing was
not enclosed with the letter and the charge, the respondent should have taken steps to inform the ALJ
that it had not received the notice of hearing. Given the respondent’s failure to notify the ALJ that it
had not received notice of the hearing, its right to due process was not violated.

On exceptions, the respondent also argued that charging party reasonably should have known the
amount of the payments being withdrawn from her pay over the preceding four years, and therefore,
the charge was not timely. The Commission found the evidence in the record, including annual
service fee deduction statements from respondent, established that charging party was unaware that
the wrong amount was being withdrawn from her pay until she contacted her employer's payroll
department in 2012. Since charging party filed the charge within six months of learning of the unfair
labor practice that gave rise to the charge, the Commission found the charge was timely. Thus, the
Commission ordered the respondent to pay charging party the amount unlawfully deducted from her
pay for the full four-year period.

Noting that 8 16(b) of PERA does not authorize the Commission to award costs, the Commission
found the ALJ erred by deciding to award charging party the sum of $185.00 in lost wages incurred
as a result of her having to attend the hearing.
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c. AFSCME Council 25, Local 1583-and-James Yunkman, Glen Ford and
Fred Zelanka, Case Nos. CU10 G-032, CU10 G-033, and CU10 F-034, issued
February 12, 2014.

Topics: Commission Jurisdiction; Duty of Fair Representation; Failure to State a Claim; Summary
Disposition; Internal Union Matter

Unfair Labor Practice not Found - Failure to State a Claim; Charging Parties Failed to Allege
Facts that would Establish Union’s Conduct was Arbitrary, Capricious or Characterized by Bad
Faith; Union’s Suspension of Charging Parties, Imposition of a Fine and Failure to Provide
Charging Parties with Information are Internal Union Matters Outside the Scope of PERA;
Commission Lacks Jurisdiction over Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act Claims and Labor Management
Reporting and Disclosure Act

In its decision, the Commission agreed with the ALJ’s recommendation to dismiss the charges for
failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

The charges alleged that the union violated its duty of fair representation when it suspended charging
parties from union membership, denied them union privileges, prohibited them from participating in
union activities, and fined them for violating the union constitution by assisting, or intending to
assist, a competing union. Charging parties also alleged that the union failed to provide them with
financial records upon request.

The Commission agreed with the ALJ that charging parties failed to support their claims that the
union acted arbitrarily, discriminatorily, or in bad faith. It also agreed that the cases involved internal
union matters over which the Commission lacks jurisdiction. The ALJ noted that a union may
suspend or expel members and prohibit them from participating in internal union activities so long as
the union’s actions do not have a direct effect on the terms and conditions of employment. Charging
parties were neither terminated from employment nor threatened with termination or discipline.
Accordingly, the ALJ found, and the Commission agreed, that the union did not engage in conduct
that had an impact on the employment relationship.

In their exceptions, charging parties alleged religious discrimination, citing the Michigan Elliott-
Larsen Civil Rights Act (ELCRA). They also alleged a violation of the federal Labor Management
Reporting and Disclosure Act (LMRDA) due to the union’s alleged refusal to provide them with
financial records. The Commission rejected those allegations, noting that it lacked jurisdiction over
both the ELCRA and the LMRDA.

d. Government Employees Labor Council-and-Richard J. Smith, Case No.
CU10 G-036, issued September 12, 2013

Topics: Duty of Fair Representation; Union Dues; Agency Fee; Beck Rights; Dues Deduction

Unfair Labor Practice Not Found: Union Did Not Violate Duty Of Fair Representation When It
Failed To Furnish Nonmember With Information Regarding Calculation Of Service Fee Because
Nonmember Was Not Being Compelled to Pay Dues At The Time; Union Did Not Violate Duty of
Fair Representation When It Required Objector To Have Challenges In Successive Years Heard By
The Same Arbitrator.
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On April 10, 2007, charging party Smith objected to the expenditures used to determine his 2007
agency fee. Smith and the union then agreed to use Arbitrator David Tanzman to arbitrate the
dispute. In April 2008, Tanzman issued an award in which he found that the respondent had
provided Smith with adequate notice of how his agency fee was calculated.

On February 8, 2010, Smith sent the respondent a check representing his agency fees from July 2009
through January 2010. In an attached letter, Smith pointed out that, under the respondent’s agency
fee policy, audited expense statements should be sent to him each year in January without him
having to request them.

On March 22, 2010, the respondent sent Smith a copy of an audited statement of its expenditures for
the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009 and notified Smith that, based on this statement, his agency fee
for calendar year 2010 would be the equivalent of ninety-four percent of the dues assessed to
members.

On March 29, 2010, Smith sent the respondent a letter challenging the audited statement. Smith also
asked the respondent to put the “proper amount” in an escrow account until a hearing could be held
to address his challenges.

On April 22, the respondent sent Smith a letter stating that the entire amount of his 2010 agency fee
would be escrowed pending a ruling by an arbitrator on Smith’s challenges. It also told Smith that it
intended to forward his challenges regarding the agency fees to Arbitrator Tanzman, along with
copies of the statements of expenses for the years ending on June 30, 2008 and 2009. The
respondent informed Smith that Tanzman would then make a determination of the appropriate
agency fees for 2010. The respondent copied Tanzman on this letter and sent him a copy of its
agency fee procedure. Smith then wrote the respondent and objected to Tanzman’s appointment.
Smith pointed out that the respondent’s agency fee policy required it to file for a hearing of the
dispute with the American Arbitration Association (AAA).

OnJune 15, 2010, the respondent sent Tanzman a letter asking him, over Smith’s objections, to issue
a decision on the appropriate amount of the fee and to do so without a new hearing. Within a few
days after receiving the respondent’s letter, Tanzman issued a decision in the form of a letter
concluding that the respondent had correctly calculated the amount of the chargeable fee.

In July 2010, the respondent amended its agency fee policy to require nonmembers to make a
formal request to receive information about the amount of their service fee and how it was calculated
and to provide for the unilateral selection of an arbitrator by the respondent from a list maintained
by the Commission.

After reviewing the charge, the ALJ found that the respondent afforded the charging party adequate
procedural safeguards for the protection of his rights prior to his being required to pay his 2010
agency fee, and recommended that the Commission dismiss that portion of his charge. The ALJ,
however, determined that the respondent violated its duty of fair representation under 8 10(3)(a)(i) of
PERA by amending its agency fee policy in July 2010. The changes to the policy required
nonmembers to make a formal request to receive information about their service fee and provided for
the unilateral selection of an arbitrator by the respondent from a list maintained by the Commission.

On exceptions, the charging party argued that the ALJ erred in finding he was provided with
adequate procedural safeguards for the protection of his rights prior to his being required to pay his
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2010 agency fee. He asserted that he, therefore, was deprived of property (agency fees) without due
process of law.

The Commission disagreed, noting that the requirement that a union provide information about the
calculation of its fee within a reasonable period after the commencement of the fee period must
assume that the nonmember is being compelled to pay the fee at least until he or she makes an
objection. Inthis case, no agency fees were being deducted from Smith’s paycheck. Moreover, the
respondent did not attempt to enforce the agency shop provision in the contract or to otherwise force
Smith to pay any portion of his fee. Consequently, Smith was not required to contribute to the
support of an ideological cause he may oppose as a condition of holding a job. In fact, there was no
potential impact on Smith’s employment. The Commission agreed therefore that the respondent did
not violate its duty of fair representation toward Smith.

Additionally, the Commission noted that the respondent did not violate its duty of fair representation
by asking Arbitrator Tanzman to decide Smith’s challenges to the amount of his fee in 2010.
Although a procedure that allows the union to unilaterally select an arbitrator is not proper, the
respondent did not unilaterally select Arbitrator Tanzman to hear Smith’s dispute in 2010. The
respondent and Smith had mutually agreed to Tanzman’s selection in 2007. Furthermore, the
Commission held that there is no basis for concluding that requiring objectors to have their
challenges in successive years heard by the same arbitrator violates the union’s duty of fair
representation, if the initial selection of that arbitrator does not represent the union’s unrestricted
choice.

Although Smith also alleged that the respondent breached its duty of fair representation because he
was not given a hearing before Tanzman rendered his decision regarding the 2010 agency fee, the
Commission held that a fee challenge did not require a full administrative hearing, with evidentiary
safeguards.

IVV. Procedural Issues
A. Justiciability

a. Michigan Quality Community Care Council -&- SEIU Healthcare
Michigan -&- Haynes & Glossop, Court of Appeals No. 318557, issued
September 18, 2014

MERC Case No’s: C12 1-183, CU12 1-042, C12 1-184 & CU12 |-043, issued
April 11, 2013; 26 MPER 49

In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals dismissed the Charging Parties” appeal as moot.

In 2005, respondents Michigan Quality Community Care Council -&- SEIU Healthcare Michigan
agreed to a consent election covering a bargaining unit of home help providers. The majority of the
bargaining unit members voting in the election chose SEIU Healthcare Michigan as their bargaining
representative.

In their unfair labor practice charge, filed with MERC in 2012, charging parties, Haynes and
Glossop, sought to have the 2005 Consent Election set aside. They alleged that they and similarly
situated home help providers were not and never had been public employees subject to PERA in
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their capacity as home help providers. Charging parties also sought the return of union dues and
agency fees paid by them and similarly situated home help providers to SEIU Healthcare Michigan.

The Commission concluded that if the charging parties were home help providers in 2005, but home
help providers were not public employees at that time, respondents’ relationship with charging
Parties was not subject to PERA, so no valid PERA claim accrued in 2005. If a valid claim had
accrued in 2005, it is barred by the statute of limitations. If charging parties were public employees
when these charges were filed in 2012, they failed to allege facts that were sufficient to establish
their contention that respondents violated PERA by agreeing to a contract extension in 2012. If
charging parties were not public employees when these charges were filed, they had no rights that
were protected under PERA, and therefore, the charges do not assert a PERA violation.

At some point between the dismissal of the charge by the Michigan Employment Relations
Commission and the Court of Appeals decision, Appellee, SEIU Healthcare Michigan gave funds to
Haynes and Glossop in excess of the amounts they sought to be refunded for the union dues and/or
agency fees they each paid.

The Court of Appeals determined that since Haynes and Glossop had been paid more than the
amounts to which they each individually claimed to be entitled, the matter is moot. The case did not
involve circumstances that were likely to recur yet evade judicial review. The Court refused to allow
the appellants to proceed with the appeal in an effort to vindicate possible interests of the unnamed
home help providers that appellants claimed to be similarly situated. The Court found that allowing
appellants to attempt to vindicate the interests of third parties would involve litigating abstract
questions of law in which Haynes and Glossop are no longer interested parties.

b. Detroit Public Schools —and- Teamsters Local 214 —and- Denice Greer and
194 Members of Teamsters Local 214, Court of Appeals No. 311218, issued
October 15, 2013

MERC Case Nos. C07 K-252; Decision issued April 17, 2012, 25 MPER 77
Order Denying Reconsideration issued June 25, 2012, 26 MPER 12

In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed MERC’s denial of the Appellants’ motion
to intervene and file exceptions to an ALJ’s Decision and Recommended Order on an unfair labor
practice charge filed by Teamsters Local 214 (union) against Detroit Public Schools (employer).
The motion and proposed exceptions were filed by an individual, Denice Greer, on behalf of herself
and other members of the bargaining unit represented by the union. MERC concluded that Greer
had no right to intervene because the duty to bargain in good faith is between the union and the
employer, not the employer and the individual employees.

The unfair labor practice charge by Teamsters Local 214 alleged that the employer violated PERA
by making a unilateral change to terms and conditions of employment, when, in July of 2007, it
failed to pay wages at the rates required by the parties’ collective bargaining agreement. In May
2005, the union and the employer had agreed to a 5.71 percent wage reduction, which was to expire
on June 30, 2007. They agreed to negotiate further on the issue of wages for the period beginning
July 1, 2007and also agreed that wages would be restored to their pre-concession level effective July
1, 2007 if they did not reach an agreement regarding concessions by June 30, 2007.
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The parties failed to reach a new agreement by June 30, but the employer continued to apply the 5.71
percent wage concessions after that date. Subsequently, the union filed the unfair labor charge with
MERC alleging that the employer’s unilateral decision to continue the wage concessions after July 1,
2007 violated PERA. The employer ended the 5.71 wage concession as of January 15, 2008. On
February 15, 2008, the employer made a proposal that incorporated a 1.2 percent wage concession
that had previously been proposed by the union. When the union failed to respond to that proposal,
the employer declared that they were at impasse and implemented the 1.2 percent wage concession.

The ALJ found that the employer’s failure to restore the proper wage rate on July 1, 2007, was both
a unilateral change in wages and a repudiation of an undisputed provision of the collective
bargaining agreement in violation of the duty to bargain. However, the ALJ also concluded that the
employer acted properly when it declared an impasse and implemented the 1.2 percent wage
concession. Neither party filed exceptions to the proposed order.

On June 13, 2011, Denise Greer on behalf of herself and 194 members of the union filed a motion
with MERC seeking to intervene in the matter between the union and the employer and to file
exceptions to the ALJ’s Decision and Recommended Order. Greer claimed that the union breached
its duty of fair representation by agreeing to extend the 5.71 percent wage concession through June
30, 2007 without properly obtaining ratification by the union’s members.

Subsequently, MERC denied the motion to intervene and, in the absence of exceptions by the
parties, adopted the ALJ’s Recommended Order. MERC concluded that Greer lacked standing to
pursue a charge against the employer because the duty to bargain is between the union and the
employer. MERC further noted that to pursue a claim against the union, Greer must file a separate
action against the union for breach of the duty of fair representation.

On appeal to the Court of Appeals, Greer argued that MERC abused its discretion by denying the
motion to intervene. The Court explained that intervention in a matter before MERC is controlled by
Commission Rules, which limit intervention to “persons having such an interest in the subject of the
action that their presence in the action is essential to permit the commission to render complete
relief.” The Court observed that the duty to bargain runs exclusively between the employer and the
union. An individual employee cannot assert the claims of his or her union. Since the union
represented Greer and the other union members before MERC, their presence was not essential for
MERC to render relief. Thus, the Court agreed that Greer had no right to pursue an unfair labor
practice charge against the employer. The Court further agreed with MERC’s finding that Greer’s
claim that the union violated its duty of fair representation should have been pursued in a separate
action.

c. Traverse Bay Intermediate School District-and-Traverse Bay Area
Intermediate School District Educational Support Personnel Association,
MEA/NEA, Case No. C12 G-130, issued December 18, 2014

Topics: Duty to Bargain; 2011 PA 152; Past Practice; Mootness

See summary above under Il. Unfair Labor Practice Charges Regarding the Duty to Bargain; B. The
Publicly Funded Health Insurance Contribution Act - 2011 PA 152; 2.Significant MERC Cases
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B. Failure to State a Claim

a. AFSCME Council 25, Local 1583-and-James Yunkman, Glen Ford and
Fred Zelanka, Case Nos. CU10 G-032, CU10 G-033 and CU10 G-034, issued
February 12, 2014

Topics: Commission Jurisdiction; Duty of Fair Representation; Failure to State a Claim; Summary
Disposition; Internal Union Matter

Unfair Labor Practice not Found - Failure to State a Claim; Charging Parties Failed to Allege
Facts that would Establish Union’s Conduct was Arbitrary, Capricious or Characterized by Bad
Faith; Union’s Suspension of Charging Parties, Imposition of a Fine and Failure to Provide
Charging Parties with Information are Internal Union Matters Outside the Scope of PERA;
Commission Lacks Jurisdiction over Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act Claims and Labor Management
Reporting and Disclosure Act

In its decision, the Commission agreed with the ALJ’s recommendation to dismiss the charges for
failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

The charges alleged that the union violated its duty of fair representation when it suspended charging
parties from union membership, denied them union privileges, prohibited them from participating in
union activities, and fined them for violating the union constitution by assisting, or intending to
assist, a competing union. Charging parties also alleged that the union failed to provide them with
financial records upon request.

The Commission agreed with the ALJ that charging parties failed to support their claims that the
union acted arbitrarily, discriminatorily, or in bad faith. It also agreed that the cases involved internal
union matters over which the Commission lacks jurisdiction. The ALJ noted that a union may
suspend or expel members and prohibit them from participating in internal union activities so long as
the union’s actions do not have a direct effect on the terms and conditions of employment. Charging
parties were neither terminated from employment nor threatened with termination or discipline.
Accordingly, the ALJ found, and the Commission agreed, that the union did not engage in conduct
that had an impact on the employment relationship.

In their exceptions, charging parties alleged religious discrimination, citing the Michigan Elliott-
Larsen Civil Rights Act (ELCRA). They also alleged a violation of the federal Labor Management
Reporting and Disclosure Act (LMRDA) due to the union’s alleged refusal to provide them with
financial records. The Commission rejected those allegations, noting that it lacked jurisdiction over
both the ELCRA and the LMRDA.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.

b. Michigan Quality Community Care Council -and- SEIU Healthcare
Michigan —and- Patricia Haynes —and- Steven Glossop, Case Nos. C12 1-183,
C121-184, CU12 1-042 and CU12 1-043, issued April 11, 2013

Topics: Failure to State a Claim; Public Employee Status; Home Help Providers Employer
Domination or Support of Union; Restraint; Statute of Limitations; Union Dues; Agency Fees
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Unfair Labor Practice Not Found — Failure to State a Claim; Charging Party Failed to Allege Facts
that could Establish that Employer’s Actions Dominated or Interfered with the Formation or
Administration of Union; Charging Party Failed to Allege Facts to Establish that Union Restrained
or Coerced Employees in the Exercise of § 9 Rights; Charging Party Failed to Establish a Basis for
Setting Aside 2005 Election; Charging Party Failed to Timely Protest Election; No basis for Request
that Union Return Union Dues and Agency Fees.

In its decision, the Commission dismissed the charges against the employer and union upon finding
that the charging parties failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

Charging parties are home help providers and members of a bargaining unit represented by the
respondent, SEIU Healthcare Michigan, which was certified in 2005 as the exclusive representative
of home help providers employed by the respondent, Michigan Quality Community Care Council.
Charging parties filed unfair labor practice charges asserting that they and other similarly situated
home help providers are not and never have been public employees. The charging parties further
asked the Commission to rule that the 2005 consent election and subsequent certification of SEIU
Healthcare Michigan were therefore improper and that subsequent collective bargaining agreements
between the respondents were void ab initio. Finally, the charging parties sought the return of union
dues and agency fees paid by them and similarly situated home help providers to the union. Neither
charge expressly alleged a violation of § 10 of PERA.

In view of the potential jurisdictional issues raised by the charges, the Commission ordered the
charging parties to show cause why the charges should not be dismissed. Charging parties
responded by asserting that the employer violated 8 10(1)(b) by assisting in the creation of a public
sector bargaining unit where none was appropriate and by agreeing to extend a collective bargaining
agreement with the union. Charging parties further alleged that the union violated 8 10(3)(a)(i) by
agreeing to a contract extension with the employer. Charging parties continued to maintain that
home help providers are not public employees and have never been public employees.

The Commission explained that neither an employer’s agreement to the composition of an
appropriate bargaining unit nor an employer’s agreement to extend a collective bargaining
agreement with the bargaining unit’s duly certified representative are within the scope of activities
prohibited by § 10(1)(b). Other than their contention that home help providers are not public
employees, charging parties alleged no facts to support their claim that the bargaining unit was not
an appropriate unit. Moreover, charging parties offered no legal authority to support their contention
that an employer’s agreement to extend a collective bargaining agreement with the union that was
elected by the majority of the voting bargaining unit members is a violation of § 10(1)(b) or
8 10(3)(a)(i). The Commission further found that charging parties alleged no facts to support their
assertion that the respondents’ extension of the collective bargaining agreement abridged public
employees’ 8§ 9 rights to “bargain collectively with their public employers through representatives of
their own free choice.” Moreover, if, as charging parties claim, home help providers are not public
employees, they are not protected by PERA, and the charge does not state a claim under 8 10(1)(b)
or § 10(3)(a)(i).

Therefore, the Commission found that the charging parties failed to allege any facts establishing that
the respondents committed an unfair labor practice that would have voided the 2005 election.
Moreover, even if the charges alleged facts sufficient to serve as a basis to void the 2005 election,
the charges would be untimely. The Commission noted that it has long rejected the doctrine of a
continuing violation where the inception of the violation occurred more than six months prior to the
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filing of the charge and that the six month statute of limitations under § 16(a) of PERA is
jurisdictional and cannot be waived. On that basis, the Commission found that the charges were
untimely to the extent they related to actions occurring in 2005. Also noting that there was no
challenge to the Commission’s jurisdiction, to the election, or to the status of the home help
providers as public employees in 2005, the Commission held that it is too late to reconsider action
that occurred more than seven years ago.

Although charging parties, in their brief, claimed that the employer accepted $12,000 from the union
in January 2012, and that this created a conflict of interest, they failed to provide any legal authority
or point to anything in PERA that would make a public employer’s receipt of funds from a union an
unfair labor practice.

Similarly, the Commission found that it did not have the authority to grant the charging parties’
request that it order the union to return union dues and agency fees paid by them because there was
no basis for finding that the collective bargaining agreement was void.

In sum, the Commission noted that if the charging parties were not public employees in 2005, PERA
would not have applied to them and no valid PERA claim could have accrued. If, however, a valid
claim accrued in 2005, it is now barred by the statute of limitations. Additionally, if the charging
parties were public employees when the charge was filed on September 20, 2012, they failed to
allege sufficient facts to establish a violation of PERA. If, however, the charging parties were not
public employees when the charge was filed, they have no rights under PERA and the charge does
not assert a PERA violation.

The Michigan Court of Appeals dismissed the charging parties appeal as moot, September 18, 2014.

C. Other Procedural Issues;

a. Wayne County —and-AFSCME, Council 25, AFL-CIO, Case No. C10 A-
024-A, issued October 17, 2014

Topics: Motion for Reconsideration; Withdrawal of Charge; Publication of Decision

Commission Granted In Part and Denied in Part Respondent’s Motion for Reconsideration; the
Commission Granted Respondent's Request to Not Publish the Appendices to the ALJ's Decision, but
Denied Respondent's Request that ALJ's Decision Not be Published; Commission Practice is to
Publish ALJ Decisions When Allowing Charge to be Withdrawn Unless Both Parties Agree that
Decision Should Not be Published; Publication of ALJ's Decisions is Important to Commission's
Mission to Educate the Public and Encourages Earlier Settlements; Commission Agreed Appendices
Did Not Benefit Public and Need Not Be Published.

After receiving a letter from the respondent indicating that the parties had agreed to withdrawal of
the underlying charge, the Commission issued its June 11, 2014 Decision and Order allowing
withdrawal of charge. Inaccordance with its usual practice in improving withdrawals of charges, the
Commission ordered publication of the ALJ's Decision and Recommended Order along with the
Commission's Decision and Order. Subsequently, the respondent requested reconsideration and
asked that the ALJ's Decision and Recommended Order and its two appendices not be published or,
in the alternative that the two appendices not be published.
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Publication of ALJ decisions is important to the Commission's mission to educate the public.
Publishing ALJ decisions provides information to Commission constituents on how the ALJ ruled on
the issues in the case and how ALJs are likely to rule on similar issues in the future. The
Commission's practice of publishing ALJ decisions encourages settlement at the earliest possible
dates and avoids unnecessary expenditures of public funds.

Where parties have settled their case, and at the time of seeking leave to withdraw the charge have
jointly requested that the ALJ's decision not be published, the Commission has permitted an
exception to its practice of publishing the ALJ’s decision. However, in this case, when the
respondent submitted the parties’ stipulation to withdraw the charge, the respondent did not object to
the Commission’s publication of the ALJ’s Decision and Recommended Order. Moreover, the
charging party did not concur in respondent’s request that the ALJ’s Decision not be published.

The Commission reasoned that since the appendices had no bearing on the underlying merits of the
ALJ's Decision, their publication would not benefit the public. Publication of the ALJ’s Decision,
on the other hand, furthers the Commission's mission of educating the public. The Commission,
therefore, granted respondent's request that the appendices not be published but denied respondent’s
request that the ALJ‘s Decision and Recommended Order not be published.

b. Service Employees International Union (SEIU), Local 517M-and-Paula J.
Diem, Case No. CU12 1-041, issued February 13, 2014

Topics: Duty of Fair Representation; Union Dues; Agency Fee; Failure to Appear; Statute of
Limitations; Remedy

Although the respondent filed an answer to the charge, it did not appear at the hearing. On
exceptions, the respondent asserted that it was not sent notice of the hearing and that its right to due
process was violated. However, the Commission observed that the respondent filed an answer to the
charge, which had been mailed in the same envelope with the notice of hearing and a cover letter
from the ALJ. The ALJ’s letter, dated September 27, 2012, stated that the notice of hearing was
enclosed. The Commission concluded that the September 27 letter notified the respondent that the
hearing had been scheduled. Therefore, the Commission found that even if the notice of hearing was
not enclosed with the letter and the charge, the respondent should have taken steps to inform the ALJ
that it had not received the notice of hearing. Given the respondent’s failure to notify the ALJ that it
had not received notice of the hearing, its right to due process was not violated.

On exceptions, the respondent also argued that charging party reasonably should have known the
amount of the payments being withdrawn from her pay over the preceding four years, and therefore,
the charge was not timely. The Commission found the evidence in the record, including annual
service fee deduction statements from respondent, established that charging party was unaware that
the wrong amount was being withdrawn from her pay until she contacted her employer's payroll
department in 2012. Since charging party filed the charge within six months of learning of the unfair
labor practice that gave rise to the charge, the Commission found the charge was timely. Thus, the
Commission ordered the respondent to pay charging party the amount unlawfully deducted from her
pay for the full four-year period.

See full summary above under I11. Unfair Labor Practice Charges Regarding Interference with or
Discrimination for Protected Concerted Activity; B. Duty of Fair Representation
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V. Representation and Unit Placement

A. Supervisor Status

a. Faust Public Library-and-Michigan AFSCME Council 25, AFL-CIO, Case
No. R09 D-053, issued September 16, 2013

Topics: Representation; Supervisor Status

Challenged Ballot to be Counted - Librarian/Head of Children’s Services Not a Supervisor;
Librarian Lacked Authority to Hire, Fire, Discipline, or Otherwise Effectively Impact the
Employment Status of Other Employees; Librarian’s Position Should be Included in Bargaining Unit
and Challenged Ballot Should be Counted with Election Results.

The Commission issued a decision directing a challenged ballot to be opened and counted with the
election results.

In April of 2009, Michigan AFSCME Council 25, AFL-CIO filed an election petition seeking to
represent a unit of approximately thirty-nine employees of the Faust Public Library. An election was
conducted on August 27, 2009 and a majority of the employees rejected AFSCME. AFSCME then
filed an unfair labor practice charge alleging improper employer interference with the election. In
settlement of this charge, AFSCME and the employer agreed that a new election would be held in
which the employer promised to remain neutral. The settlement agreement further provided that
certain named employees would vote on challenged ballots with the understanding that “MERC shall
determine their eligibility to vote, if necessary.” A second election was then conducted on May 23,
2012, with thirteen eligible voters selecting AFSCME and thirteen eligible voters casting votes
against representation by AFSCME. The employer challenged the ballots of three employees,
asserting that each employee was a supervisor who should be excluded from the unit. AFSCME did
not dispute that two of these employees were supervisors. Consequently, the only position whose
supervisory status remained in dispute was that of H, a librarian and head of children’s services.

The Commission explained that a “supervisor" is an employee whose principal work is substantially
different from that of his or her subordinates and who has authority, in the interest of the employer,
to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, direct, reward, or discipline employees,
to adjust their grievances, or to effectively recommend any of those actions, if the exercise of that
authority is not of a merely routine or clerical nature, but requires the consistent use of independent
judgment. In the present case, the Commission concluded that the evidence did not establish that H,
as head of children’s services, performed duties that made her a supervisor. She was not involved in
hiring and never played a role in discipline or wage setting. Similarly, her involvement in scheduling
was no more than routine and was consistent with that of a team leader. Although H had additional
authority as the only professional librarian in her department, her function was primarily planning
programs and content in her professional capacity, rather than having any significant human
resources or labor relations function. Consequently, the Commission found that H’s assigned duties
did not rise above the level of crew leader and that her position was properly included in the unit.
On this basis, the Commission directed that the challenged ballot cast by H be opened and counted
with the election results.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.
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B. Objections to Elections
1. Appellate Decision

a. Pontiac School District —and- Pontiac Educational Support Personnel
Association, MEA/NEA —and- Michigan Association of Police, Court of
Appeals No. 317991, issued December 23, 2014; 28 MPER 50

MERC Case Nos. R0O8 H-108 & C08 G-141, issued August 15, 2013; 27 MPER 16

In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed MERC’s dismissal of Pontiac Educational
Support Personnel Association’s untimely objections to a 2008 representation election.

Pontiac Educational Support Personnel Association (“PESPA”) represents a bargaining unit that includes
several classifications of support employees, including the security officers. In June 2008, the Pontiac
School District (“employer”) decided to lay off the 37 security officers and replace them with 24 police
authority officers. In August 2008, the Michigan Association of Police (“MAP”) filed a petition seeking
to represent a unit consisting of the 24 police authority officers. In July 2008, PESPA filed an unfair
labor practice charge alleging that the employer violated PERA by unilaterally eliminating the security
officer classification. In October 2008, an election was held on MAP’s petition to represent the police
authority officers. PESPA was not given formal notice or an opportunity to participate in the election. ,
MAP prevailed in the election and was certified as the exclusive bargaining representative. In December
2009, PESPA amended its unfair labor practice charge against the employer adding allegations that the
employer improperly recognized MAP instead of PESPA as the bargaining representative for the police
authority officers. PESPA had notice of the election as of a December 2009 hearing on the amended
charge. In August 2011, PESPA filed a motion to set aside the October 2008 election. The Commission
dismissed both the unfair labor charge and the motion.

The Commission determined that PESPA failed to timely file its objections to the election within five
days of its first knowledge of the election, per Commission Rule 149b, and provided no adequate
explanation for its 18-month delay in bringing those objections. The Commission rejected PESPA’s
contention that its delay was excusable because it was trying to negotiate a settlement with the employer.
Case law has long held that participation in settlement negotiations does not toll the limitations period.
Further, the Commission reasoned that because PESPA’s unfair labor practice charge was based on its
contention that the election of MAP was unlawful, those claims were untimely and without merit.

On appeal, PESPA argued that the Commission erred in dismissing the motion to set aside the election
results without holding a hearing because there were genuine issues of material fact regarding whether
PESPA delayed filing its motion. The Court of Appeals found the argument to be patently without merit.
The Court agreed with the Commission that PESPA failed to provide a plausible explanation for its
failure to file an objection within five days of learning about the election results.

PESPA further contended that the Commission’s reasoning for dismissal of its unfair labor practice
charge was faulty. The Court disagreed, and found the Commission’s determination that the unfair labor
practice charge was without merit to be fully supported by the record. PESPA’s contention that the
employer breached its duty to bargain is without merit. The employer had no duty to bargain over its
reorganization decision, because decisions are not mandatory subjects of bargaining. The employer
would have had a duty to bargain over the impact of the reorganization if PESPA had made an adequate
bargaining demand. Further, the Court determined that PESPA’s demand to bargain was “extremely
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general” and insufficient to trigger a demand to bargain over the impact of the employer’s reorganization
decision.

2. Significant MERC Cases

a. Three Rivers Community Schools —and- Theresa Sussdorf —and- Michigan
Education Association, Case No. R14 G-048, issued February 12, 2015

Topics: Objections to Election; Eligibility to Vote

Challenge to Tabulation of Election Results: Commission found that because employee was an
eligible voter, his ballot should be included with the tabulation of election results that originated
from a decertification petition filed by Theresa Sussdorf against the Incumbent Labor Organization.

In its Decision and Order on Challenge to Tabulation of Election Results, the Commission found that
the objections filed by the incumbent labor organization did not warrant the decertification election
results to be set aside, but rather, warranted the opening and inclusion of an inadvertently omitted
employee’s vote.

The Incumbent Labor Organization (union) was the exclusive bargaining representative for the
support personnel at Three Rivers Community Schools (employer). In July, 2014, Theresa Sussdorf
filed a decertification petition seeking to remove the union. Subsequently, the parties agreed to a
consent election to be conducted by mail ballot. The Commission’s Elections Officer notified the
employer that it was required to submit a list of employees and their classifications to each party
seven business days prior to the mailing of the ballots. On August 7, 2014 the ballots were mailed to
the eligible voters as identified on the list submitted by the employer, and were due back to the
Commission by August 21, 2014.

On August 14, 2014, C, a member of the bargaining unit, notified the MEA that he had not received
a ballot. A representative of the MEA notified the Elections Officer, and upon her return to the
office on August 18, 2014, mailed a challenged ballot to C. C received his ballot on August 20,
2014 and mailed it back on that same date. The Elections Officer and a representative of the MEA
opened the ballots on August 22, 2014, and tallied 11 votes for the MEA and 11 votes for
decertification. The Commission received C’s ballot on August 24, 2014, and it was not counted in
the tabulation.

The MEA contended that because C was an eligible voter and did not receive his ballot until the day
before it was due to the Commission, his vote should either be tallied or the election should be set
aside. There was no explanation provided by either party as to why C’s name was omitted from the
list of eligible voters. The omission went unnoticed until C himself contacted the MEA a week after
the ballots were mailed out.

The Commission explained that where a bargaining unit member does not receive a mail ballot, but
has notice of the election, it is up to the member to take action to secure a ballot prior to the
tabulation of results. Here, the Commission determined that the method in which C notified the
Commission that he did not receive a ballot, either through the MEA or by contacting the
Commission himself, was immaterial since C’s actions resulted in timely notice to the Commission
that he had not received a ballot. The Commission held that because employees are afforded the
right under 8 9 of PERA to cast a vote for a representative of their choosing, C’s ballot should be
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opened and included with the tabulation of the election results, so an appropriate certification may be
issued.

b. Pontiac School District-and-Pontiac Educational Support Personnel
Association MEA/NEA-and-Michigan Association of Police, Case Nos. R08 H-
108 and C08 G-141, issued August 15, 2013

Topics: Representation; Objections to Election; Timeliness

Obijections to Representation Election Dismissed; Objections not Timely Filed; Time Limits not
Tolled by Settlement Discussions.

The Commission issued a decision dismissing the objections filed by an incumbent labor
organization to an election. On August 30, 2011, the Pontiac Educational Support Personnel
Association (PESPA), MEA/NEA, filed a motion to set aside the results of an election held on
October 8, 2008. PESPA alleged that it was the incumbent union for the employees involved in the
election and, as such, it should have been listed on the ballot. Further, PESPA claimed that the
employer misrepresented the status of the employees involved in the election to the Election Agent
and thereby prejudiced PESPA. PESPA also asserted that it was further prejudiced by its failure to
receive any notice of the election and by the employer’s failure to furnish it with a list of eligible
voters.

In this case, PESPA was the exclusive bargaining representative for all full-time employees of the
Pontiac School District working as Clerical Assistants, Parent Coordinators, Teacher Assistants,
Research Assistants, VVocational Assistants and Service Officers. In early July 2008, the School
District eliminated the classification of Service Officer and laid off thirty-seven employees who were
working within the classification. According to PESPA, Pontiac then hired twenty-four Police
Authority Officers to perform the duties formerly performed by Service Officers. As a result,
PESPA filed an unfair labor practice charge.

On August 19, 2008, the Michigan Association of Police (MAP) filed a petition seeking to represent
a unit consisting of the twenty-four Police Authority Officers then recently hired by the Pontiac
School District. The representation election was held without formal notice to PESPA and MAP
was certified as the exclusive bargaining representative. PESPA was not given notice of the results
of the election.

On December 8, 2009, a hearing was conducted on the unfair labor practice charge previously filed
by PESPA over the school district’s elimination of the service officer classification. During the
course of this hearing, PESPA was informed of the prior representation election and of MAP’s
certification. On August 30, 2011, PESPA filed the instant objections to the results of the election.

In dismissing these objections, the Commission noted that, notwithstanding the substantial defects in
the election process asserted by PESPA, the timeliness of the filing of the objections in this case was
controlling. Under Rule 423.149b, objections to elections must be filed within 5 days. PESPA
argued that its failure to timely protest the election should be excused because it engaged in
settlement discussions with the School District in lieu of filing a motion. However, the Commission
noted that it has long been recognized that a statute of limitations is not tolled by attempts to engage
in settlement discussions or to seek a remedy elsewhere. In view of PESPA’s multi-year delay in
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raising objections to the October 8, 2008 election, the Commission concluded that the objections
must be dismissed in their entirety.

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.

c. Woodhaven-Brownstown School District-and-Michigan Education
Association-and-Michigan AFSCME Council 25 and its affiliated Local 3552,
Case No. R13 A-004, issued July 11, 2013

Topics: Representation, Contract Bar; Objections to Election; Employer Neutrality

Petition for Representation Election Granted; Direction of Election — All Non-instructional
Employees; Petition Not Barred by Contract; Validity of A Showing of Interest is an Administrative
Matter not Subject to Attack; Employee Solicitation on Behalf of Rival Union Did Not Interfere With
Free Election.

The Commission issued a decision directing an election in a unit of non-instructional employees
currently represented by AFSCME Council 25 and its affiliated Local 3552. The incumbent
objected to an election being conducted for several reasons. Initially, it asserted that the election was
barred by the extension of its current collective bargaining agreement with the employer. The
incumbent also argued that the authorization cards submitted in support of the petition were tainted.
The incumbent claimed that, as the result of employee use of the employer’s email system to
circulate information regarding the election petition ,the employer provided unlawful assistance and
support to the petitioner in violation of §10(1)(b) of PERA and prevented the holding of a free and
fair election.

In this case, AFSCME reached a three-year collective bargaining agreement with the Woodhaven-
Brownstown School District, effective July 1, 2008. This agreement was extended for one year on
June 28, 2011 and for another year on June 18, 2012. On January 18, 2013, the Michigan Education
Association (MEA) filed the instant petition for a representation election, seeking to replace
AFSCME as the unit’s representative.

AFSCME argued that 8 14 of PERA barred the petition filed by the MEA. The Commission noted
that, under Rule 141(3) of its General Rules, when a petition covers employees of a public school
district and the expiration date of the relevant collective bargaining agreement falls between June 1
and September 30, the petition may be filed between January 2 and March 31 of the year in which
the collective bargaining agreement expires. The Commission further noted that in both 2011 and
2012 the employer and the incumbent executed agreements extending their 2008-2011 collective
bargaining agreement for another year and that the instant petition was filed within the open window
period for the most recent extension. Although the last extension agreement, like the one preceding
it, contained an automatic renewal clause, the existence of an automatic renewal clause in a
collective bargaining agreement does not affect the timeliness of a petition otherwise properly filed.
On this basis, the Commission found that the petition filed by the MEA in this case was timely filed.

AFSCME alleged that the AFSCME Local President utilized trickery and deceit to obtain signatures
on the authorization cards submitted in support of the petition and, therefore, the cards were tainted.
The Commission noted that it has consistently held that the validity of a showing of interest is an
administrative matter that, once established, is not subject to attack. The Commission further noted
that the authorization cards submitted with the petition in the instant case were reviewed by the
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Bureau of Employment Relations’ election staff and determined to be valid. Moreover, the
incumbent failed to present any substantive evidence to the Bureau Director that the Local president
affirmatively misrepresented to employees that their signatures on authorization cards would not be
considered evidence of their interest in being represented by the petitioner.

AFSCME also alleged that the employer permitted the Local president to use its email system to
circulate a petition on behalf of the petitioner during work hours and thereby violated its duty to
remain neutral. AFSCME contended that this prevented the conduct of a fair election. After
reviewing the evidence, however, the Commission found that the employer did not permit the Local
president to use its email system to circulate a petition on behalf of petitioner. Further, the emails the
Local president sent through the employer’s email system did not communicate to unit employees
that the employer would prefer that petitioner represent them. Consequently, the Commission found
no basis for concluding that a free and fair election could not be conducted and directed that an
election be held.

d. Rochester Community Schools-and-Michigan Education Association -and-
Michigan AFSCME Council 25 and its affiliated Local 202, Case No. R12 J-
068, issued March 15, 2013

Subject matter: Representation Election; Contract Bar; Employer Neutrality after Petition Filed

Petition for Representation Election Granted; Direction of Election — All Full-Time and Reqular
Part-Time Paraeducator Employees; Petition Not Barred by Tentative Agreement Where Tentative
Agreement Not Approved By Governing Body Or Membership Within 30 Days; Employer’s Duty to
Remain Neutral When Valid Petition for Representation Filed by Outside Union Requires it to Stop
Contract Negotiations with Incumbent Union During Pendency of Valid Petition; Employee
Solicitation on Behalf of Rival Union Did Not Interfere With Free Election Where There Was
Insufficient Evidence of Employer Knowledge or Approval of Solicitation.

The Commission issued a decision directing an election in a unit of paraprofessional employees.

In this case, AFSCME reached a tentative collective bargaining agreement with Rochester
Community Schools on October 24, 2012, after the prior agreement expired on June 30, 2012. The
Michigan Education Association (MEA) filed a petition for a representation election on October 31,
2012, seeking to replace AFSCME as the unit’s representative. The petition sought an electionina
bargaining unit consisting of all “full-time and part-time paraeducators (paraprofessionals).”
Subsequently, the petition was amended to describe the unit as it was described in the recognition
clause of the most recent contract between the employer and AFSCME, which included all
permanent full-time paraeducator employees working ten or more hours per week. AFSCME
alleged that the unit should include all “full-time and part-time” without the requirement that they
work ten or more hours per week, in accordance with its interpretation of the recognition clause.
However, since casual and irregular part-time employees whose employment is minimal, sporadic,
or temporary are excluded from bargaining units, the Commission determined that the appropriate
description of the unit should be “all full-time and regular part-time employees,” with the
understanding that all paraeducators employed as of the date of the election were either full time or
regular part-time. The Commission further noted that, if a dispute arises in the future over whether a
particular paraeducator is a “regular” or “irregular” part-time employee, a unit clarification petition
may be filed to resolve the issue.
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AFSCME initially sought dismissal of the representation petition based on its contention that it was
filed prematurely. According to AFSCME, parties to a tentative agreement have thirty days to
“perfect that agreement and have it ratified.” In view of the fact that the instant petition was filed
within thirty days of the date on which the parties reached a tentative agreement, AFSCME argued
that it should be dismissed. In rejecting AFSCME’s argument, the Commission held that the
tentative agreement did not become a valid collective bargaining agreement under § 14 of PERA
and, therefore, did not serve as a bar to an election because neither the employer’s governing body
nor the members of the bargaining unit approved it within thirty days. The Commission noted that
the purpose of the thirty -day rule is to afford the parties an opportunity to finalize an agreement not
to afford the parties an opportunity to negotiate a different and more acceptable agreement.

AFSCME further argued that the employer violated its obligation to remain neutral by refusing to
bargain with AFSCME after its membership rejected the tentative agreement on November 1, 2012.
Inasmuch as the record established that the employer did refuse to bargain with AFSCME, the
Commission noted that, since the representation petition filed on October 31 was valid, the
employer’s obligation to remain neutral prohibited it from returning to the bargaining table during
the pendency of the petition.

AFSCME also took the position that the employer violated its obligation to remain neutral by failing
to take action to stop paraeducators in the unit from distributing authorization cards supporting the
MEA on the employer’s premises in violation of the employer’s no-solicitation policy. After
reviewing the evidence, however, the Commission concluded that the solicitation of signatures
within school buildings by unit employees over a relatively brief period, without the active
assistance of administrators, would not have led the paraeducators to conclude that the employer had
condoned or approved this activity and would not prevent the holding of a free and fair election.

AFSCME also argued that the employer violated its obligation to remain neutral by refusing to allow
AFSCME to reply to an e-mail sent by a paraeducator to other paraeducators that accused AFSCME
of making false statements. AFSCME suggested that the employer did not adequately distance itself
from the content of the e-mail. The Commission, however, found that the employer promptly
notified employees that using its e-mail system to comment on the petition or to influence the vote
was improper. Furthermore, the Commission found that the employer’s refusal to allow AFSCME
to reply to the e-mail was consistent with its obligation to remain neutral.

In view of the foregoing, the Commission found no basis for concluding that a free and fair election
could not be conducted and directed that an election be held.

C. Other Issues Regarding Representation and Unit Placement.

a. University of Michigan —and- Graduate Employees Organization/AFT,
Case No. R11 D-034, issued June 19, 2014

Topics: Representation; Public Employee Status; Students; Motion for Reconsideration

Petition for Representation Election Dismissed on Reconsideration - Graduate Student Research
Assistants (GSRAS) at the University of Michigan are not Public Employees Under PERA 8§ 1(e);
Even Though the Work of the GSRAs Benefits the University; Their Work Is Designed to Assist Them
in Completing Their Dissertation and Achieving Their Personal Academic Goals; The Benefit to the
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University of the GSRAs' Research Work Cannot Be Effectively Separated from the Role of This
Work in the Attainment of Their Academic Goals; The GSRAs Are Students, Not Employees.

On reconsideration, the Commission dismissed the Graduate Employees Organization’s (petitioner
or union) petition for representation election upon finding that graduate student research assistants
(GSRAS) at the University of Michigan (the University) are not employees under PERA.

In April 2011, the union filed a petition for representation election, which MERC dismissed based on
its finding in Regents of the University of Michigan, 1981 MERC Lab Op 777 that the GSRAs are
not employees. The Commission dismissed the petition despite the University's agreement to a
consent election. After considering the petitioner's motion for reconsideration, the Commission
referred the matter to an administrative law judge (ALJ) for an evidentiary hearing. The
Commission instructed the ALJ to give the petitioner the opportunity to prove a material change of
circumstances, since the Commission's 1981 decision in Regents of the University of Michigan, that
would warrant a finding that some or all of the GSRAs are employees.

After reviewing the record developed by the ALJ, the Commission noted there have been some
changes in the circumstances of GSRAs since its 1981 decision. The University now acknowledges
the GSRASs to be employees and treats them as such. The University establishes a minimum wage
for GSRAs. GSRA stipends are subject to federal tax because the stipends are considered
compensation for services rendered to the University. GSRAs with full-time appointments also
receive employer-paid health and life insurance, dental insurance, travel accident insurance, paid
tuition, and up to three weeks of sick leave within a twelve month period. The GSRASs are also
subject to many University rules applicable only to employees.

However, the Commission explained that although the University considers the GSRAS to be
employees, that is not determinative of whether the GSRAs are employees under PERA. Despite the
changes since the Commission's 1981 decision, the work of the GSRAs remains primarily for the
advancement of the GSRAS’ educational goals. A GSRA appointment closely tracks a student’s
own specific academic goals. Projects sought by GSRAs generally serve as the basis for their
dissertations, GSRAs develop a one-on-one relationship with a dissertation or thesis advisor, and
GSRAs hope to publish papers and complete a dissertation that makes a real contribution to his or
her area. Although GSRAs often switch projects, that simply underscores the importance of the
student finding the right project. There was no evidence that GSRASs are ever randomly assigned to
work on projects that have no academic relevance to their specific area of interest. The Commission
noted that while 80% of the money paid to GSRAs for their work on research projects comes from
externally funded grants, GSRAs generally use information, methodology or data from those
research projects on their dissertations. While the University provides the granting entities with the
product of the research in exchange for the grant funds, significant byproducts of the research are
GSRASs’ dissertations. Moreover, once the research project is completed, the GSRA receives a grade
for his or her research work on the same basis as receiving a grade for a class.

In summary, it is the relationship between the GSRASs’ research work and their academic goals that
led to the Commission to conclude that they are not employees under PERA — not whether their
work benefited the University. GSRAs are required to maintain a close faculty relationship in order
to find a dissertation topic, bring their dissertation to fruition, and build an academic reputation.
Although an individual can be both an employee and a student at the same educational institution,
the GSRASs’ research work cannot be effectively separated from the role of this work in the
attainment of the GSRASs’ academic goals.
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b. Tuscola County Road Commission-and-Teamsters Local 214, Case No.
UC13 H-012, issued April 22, 2014

Topics: Unit Clarification; Bargaining History; Summary Disposition

Unit Clarification Petition Dismissed-Unit Clarification is Not Appropriate to Move Established
Positions in or out of Bargaining Units Contrary to Bargaining History; the Position in Question
was Historically Excluded From Petitioner’s Unit; Unit Clarification is used to Resolve Ambiguities
Concerning Unit Placement of Newly Created or Recently Substantially Changed Classifications;
Petitioner Failed to Allege that the Position had been Recently Substantially Changed.

The Commission found that the unit clarification petition was inappropriate because the parties’
bargaining history had excluded the position from petitioner’s unit and petitioner did not allege that
the position had recently been substantially changed.

The state highway foreman position was historically excluded from petitioner’s unit. The
recognition clause of the most recent collective bargaining agreement between the parties
specifically excludes supervisors and working foreman positions from the unit. At the request of the
Michigan Department of Transportation, the employer changed the name of the state highway
foreman position to highway maintenance foreman. After the name was changed, petitioner filed the
unit clarification petition in this matter contending that the position should now be in its unit.

Petitioner represents a bargaining unit of nonsupervisory employees. Petitioner contended that the
position is not a supervisor as the Commission has defined that term and that the position shares a
community of interest with positions in its bargaining unit. The employer opposed the petition
claiming that the highway maintenance foreman position had been historically excluded from
petitioner’s bargaining unit, and has not undergone any recent substantial changes. Inasmuch as
petitioner failed to allege that the position had undergone any recent substantial changes, the
Commission summarily dismissed the petition.

c. Kalamazoo Public School District-and-Kalamazoo County Education
Association, MEA/NEA, MERC Case No. UC12 K-021, issued December 17,
2013

Topics: Unit Clarification; Community of Interest

Unit Clarification Granted: When newly created positions share a community of interest with a unit
which seeks to include them, it is appropriate to accrete them to that unit rather than permit them to
remain with a residual group of excluded employees. Although there are differences between the
full-time District Data Specialist position and the positions in Petitioner’s office and
paraprofessional support unit, the duties, skills, and educational requirements of the position are
sufficiently similar to establish a community of interest with Petitioner’s unit. Inclusion of the newly
created position in the unit is therefore appropriate.

The Commission granted a petition to clarify the bargaining unit to include the newly created
position of full-time district data specialist.

In 2012, the employer implemented a new software system, DataWise, to help assess students’
educational progress. The full-time district data specialist position was created to assist with this
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implementation, which included training all the employer’s teachers, administrators and other
educational professionals to use the system. On November 1, 2012, the union petitioned for the
inclusion of the newly created position in its unit of Office and Paraprofessional Support Employees.

The union argued that that the full-time district data specialist should be placed in its unit of
paraprofessional and office personnel because it is a newly created position which shares a
community of interest with these employees based on similarities in job duties, skills, educational
background, working conditions, and supervisory hierarchy. The employer opposed inclusion of the
position because it believed that the district data specialist does not share a community of interest
with this unit. Instead, according to the employer, the district data specialist is part of a historically
unrepresented residual group of supervisory and technical employees.

In granting the petition, the Commission noted that, when designating bargaining units as
appropriate for purposes of collective bargaining, it is required to find appropriate the single largest
unit in which the employees share a community of interest and that bargaining units consisting of all
nonsupervisory and nonprofessional support employees of a school district are presumptively
appropriate. The Commission further noted that, when newly created positions share a community
of interest with a unit that seeks to include them, it is appropriate to accrete them to that unit rather
than permit them to remain with a residual group of excluded employees.

Although the Commission recognized that there are differences between the district data specialist
position and the positions in the office and paraprofessional support unit, the Commission found that
the duties, skills, and educational requirements of the position were sufficiently similar to establish a
community of interest with the unit. The Commission concluded, therefore, that inclusion of the
newly created position in the unit was appropriate.

d. Port Huron Area School District-and—Port Huron Association of
Educational Secretaries, MEA/NEA, Case No. UC11 K-024, issued November
21, 2013

Topics: Unit Clarification; Newly Created Position; Representation; Accretion; Community of
Interest

Petition for Unit Clarification Granted. In Making Unit Placement Determination, the Commission
Is Not Required to Find the ““Most”” Appropriate Unit but Only a Unit Appropriate for Collective
Bargaining; an Appropriate Unit Is One with which the Position at Issue Shares a Community of
Interest; Newly Established Technology Services Assistant Position Shares Community of Interest
with Clerical Bargaining Unit Where Qualifications for Position Were Similar to Those Required of
Other Positions in Unit and Where There Was Overlap in Duties; Whenever Possible, the
Commission Seeks to Avoid Leaving Isolated Positions Unrepresented.

The Commission granted a petition to clarify the bargaining unit to include the newly created
position of technology services assistant (TSA).

Immediately following the posting of the new TSA position, the union sought voluntary inclusion of
the position in their unit. The employer declined and a timely petition was filed two months later.
The new position is primarily responsible for the maintenance of the District’s web page, phone
system, and copiers. The TSA also performs password re-sets for employees, and addresses any
difficulties the staff may have with using the ‘SchoolDude’ computer program.
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The union argued that the newly created and otherwise unrepresented non-supervisory support
position should be placed in its clerical bargaining unit. The employer asserted that the position lacks
a community of interest with the unit and contended that the new position should remain in a
residual group of unrepresented technology department employees. The employer further noted that
the current incumbent on the position does not desire to be placed in the clerical unit.

In granting the petition, the Commission noted that the position in question does not require an
advanced degree in computer science; rather, the minimum requirement is an associate’s degree.
Additionally, the job posting did not require any computer certifications, and, in fact, required only
that the person be “skilled in the use of computers and office equipment,” a qualification similar to
that required for the unit position of executive secretary. The Commission also observed that, in the
July 2011 request to create the position, which was written before the legal dispute over unit
placement arose, the District’s technology department head described the position qualifications for
the proposed new position as “same as Executive Secretary.” Additionally, the Commission found
that there was some direct overlap in duties with employees in the clerical unit sharing the
responsibility with the TSA for maintaining the several internet webpages maintained by the District.
Although the TSA position would readily fit in an organized unit including the rest of the technology
department employees, the Commission pointed out that such a unit does not exist. Given the
realities of the situation, the Commission found no statutory basis for excluding the newly created
technology services assistant position from the only existing and appropriate bargaining unit.

e. Delhi Charter Township—and-Delhi Township Fire Fighters, IAFF Local
5359, MERC Case No. UC11 J-018, issued October 31, 2013

Topics: Unit Clarification; Community of Interest; Fire fighter (MCL 423.213)

Bargaining Unit Clarified to include Newly Created Position of Recruitment and Retention
Coordinator; Position has a Community of Interest with Petitioner’s Fire Fighter Bargaining Unit;
Fire Fighter who is Subordinate to Fire Chief Cannot be Excluded from Bargaining Unit Based on
Claims of Supervisory Duties; Placement of a Position within a Bargaining Unit Cannot be Affected
by Decision by Employee to Join or Not Join Labor Organization; Potential Conflict Between Union
Policy and Duties of Position is Not Relevant to Unit Placement.

The Commission granted a petition to clarify the bargaining unit to include the newly created
position of recruitment and retention coordinator.

In July 2011, the Township received funding for a new full-time position of “recruitment and
retention coordinator.” The new position’s primary function is the recruitment and training of part-
time paid on-call volunteer fire fighters. In October 2011, the union petitioned for the inclusion of
the newly created position in its unit of full-time fire fighters.

The union argued that the position shares a community of interest with the other full-time fire fighter
positions and there is no other unit that seeks to include the position. The employer opposed
inclusion of the position in the bargaining unit and contended that successful performance of the
position’s duties regarding the recruitment and training of part-time on-call fire fighters would be
hindered by the union’s opposition to the employment of part-time on-call fire fighters. The
employer contended that the position should be excluded from the bargaining unit as a member of
management. MERC rejected that argument because MCL 423.213 prohibits MERC from
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designating a public employee as a supervisor where, as here, that employee is engaged in fire
fighting and is subordinate to a fire commission, fire commissioner, safety director, or other similar
administrative agency or administrator. Moreover, MERC also found that the position does not fall
within the confidential or executive exclusions and declined to expand the definitions of those
exclusions.

In granting the petition, the Commission noted that the placement of a position within a bargaining
unit cannot be affected by a subsequent decision by an employee to join or not join a labor
organization. The current policies of the labor organization, though they may be opposed to the
purpose of the position, are not relevant to the placement of the position in the bargaining unit.
Finally, the Commission noted that it is the employer’s prerogative to set job duties to be carried out
by its employees in the workplace and that it is the obligation of employees, while on the job, to
carry out their job duties, notwithstanding any possible personal disagreement as to the propriety of
such duties.

The Commission issued an order denying the employer’s request for reconsideration on February 14,
2014

This case is currently on appeal to the Michigan Court of Appeals.
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